Intimate Partner and/or Sexual Gender-based Violence and Smoking in Ohio Appalachia

Dissertation

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy in the Graduate School of The Ohio State University

Ву

Julianna Maria Nemeth, M.A.

Graduate Program in Public Health

The Ohio State University

2015

Dissertation Committee

Mary Ellen Wewers, Advisor

Amy Bonomi

Richard Lomax

Bo Lu

Copyright by

Julianna Maria Nemeth

Abstract

Background: Gender-based violence exposure is associated with smoking. Both genderbased violence and smoking are independent risk factors in the development of cervical cancer. Women living in Ohio Appalachia experience cervical cancer at disproportionately high rates. Smoking rates among women living in Ohio Appalachia are higher than among women living in other regions of Ohio. However, little is known about 1) women's exposure to gender-based violence, throughout the life course, in Ohio Appalachia, or 2) the association between gender-based violence exposures, contextual factors, and smoking behaviors among women in the region.

Objective: This dissertation examined the relationship between sexual and intimate partner gender-based violence exposures and smoking, among women in Ohio Appalachia, within a socio-contextual health disparities framework. The goal of this investigation was: 1) to understand if disparate smoking rates of women in Ohio Appalachia, compared to other parts of Ohio, are associated with gender-based violence in the region, and 2) to examine the context of smoking behavior among women exposed to intimate partner and/or sexual gender-based violence in Ohio Appalachia. In addition, a set of gender-based violence constructs for use in effective abuse assessment among this underserved population were identified.

Method: A two-phase address-based sampling approach was used to recruit a random sample of women, 18 years of age or older, from 1 of 3 selected Ohio Appalachian counties, to participate in an observational, interview administered, cross-sectional survey from August 2012 through October 2013. The analytic sample for this analysis comprised 398 participants, of the 408 women completing interviews, who provided complete gender-based violence exposure histories. All analyses were conducted in SAS or LISREL, including correlation, regression, and confirmatory factor analysis. Results: Intimate partner and sexual gender-based violence is a notable public health

concern in Ohio Appalachia--impacting nearly 6 out of 10 women in the region. Cumulative gender-based violence exposure was associated with smoking among women in Ohio Appalachia, controlling for other known risk factors. Significant differences existed between current and past smokers with gender-based violence exposure histories regarding: perceived stress, exposure to fear invoking control (a type of intimate partner violence), perception of social status, discrimination, adult socioeconomic position, perception of number of smokers in the social environment, and home smoking restrictions. In addition, an eight mechanistic factor model of intimate partner and sexual gender-based violence exposure was validated. **Conclusions:** Among this population, where abuse exposure is high and where access to health services are scarce, assessment for eight types of gender-based violence may

iii

open opportunities for more targeted intervention and referral. Due to the unique safety concerns for this population, the social context of a gender-based violence survivor's smoking behaviors and cessation attempts must be considered when adapting cessation programs to this population. Findings from this study suggest that it may be factors within a survivor's environment causing stress—a culture tolerant of gender-based violence, discrimination, social economic standing, and smoking bans within the home—which must be addressed in concert with intrapersonal factors, like self-control and affect regulation, to help women exposed to gender-based violence succeed in smoking cessation.

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my parents, Mary and Julius Nemeth, who always fostered my love for learning and pursuit of a higher good.

To my husband, Aaron Saling, who has been a source of unending support, and to my children, Emerson, Jonas, and Ashton--may you grow in knowledge and seek justice for all on earth. I love you.

And to survivors of sexual and intimate partner violence everywhere-may your testament be heard and may you find peace and healing.

Acknowledgments

I hold deep gratitude for Mary Ellen Wewers, advisor, who not only encouraged my pursuit of this study but has offered consistent guidance in my development as a research scholar—without you, and your generosity and mentorship, this would not have been possible. I appreciate Amy Bonomi for fostering a sense of purpose in the pursuit of gender-based violence focused research—your relentless determination to stay the course has been an inspiration. I would like to thank Bo Lu and Richard Lomax for your support through all analysis contained herein. I would also like to sincerely thank the women who participated in this study, the field staff who collected the data, Juan Peng for her assistance with data management, Tiffany Thomson who served as Program Manager on the study, and the entire CARE II faculty and staff.

I have received pre-doctoral fellowship funding through the Behavioral Cooperative Oncology Group Center for Symptom Management and the Walther Cancer Foundation. This analysis is an extension of a Center for Population Health & Health Disparities NIH P50 Grant # 5P50CA105632-06 to conduct research on cervical cancer disparity in Appalachia. In addition, this analysis is supported by a National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences NIH Grant #UL1TR000090.

Vita

2001	
1998	B.A., Religion, Wittenberg University
2015	Board of Trustees Student Recognition Award, Recipient
	The Ohio State University
2013-present.	Program Manager, College of Public Health
	The Ohio State University
	NIH/NCI Grant 5R01CA129771
	Tobacco cessation interventions with Ohio Appalachian smokers
2010-2012	Research Associate, Comprehensive Cancer Center
	The Ohio State University Medical Center
	NIH P50 Grant 5P50CA105632-06
	Reducing Cervical Cancer in Appalachia
2010-present.	Phi Kappa Phi, Member
	The Ohio State University Chapter
2005-2011	Co-founder, Ohio Alliance to End Sexual Violence
2005-2010	Prevention Director (Sexual Assault Response Network & Prevention)
	HelpLine of Delaware and Morrow Counties, Inc.
2004-2005	Prevention and Education Coordinator
	Sexual Assault Response Network of Central Ohio (SARNCO), OhioHealth
2003-2005	Sexual Assault Response Network Volunteer
	Advocate HelpLine of Delaware and Morrow Counties, Inc.

2001-2004	School Based Study Research Coordinator (2003-2004)
	Delaware County School Based Coordiantor(2002-2003)
	School Based Mentoring Program Coordinator (2001-2002)
	Big Brothers Big Sisters of Central Ohio
1999-2001	Teaching Associate, Department of Women's Studies
	The Ohio State University
1998-1999	Domestic Violence Victim Advocate
	Columbus City Attorney's Office
1998-present	
	Wittenberg University Chapter

Publications

Liu ST, **Nemeth JM**, Klein EG, Ferketich AK, Kwan MP, Wewers ME. Risk perceptions of smokeless tobacco among adolescent and adult users and nonusers. Journal of Health Communication. 2015; In Press.

Bonomi AE, **Nemeth JM**, Altenburger LE, Anderson ML, Snyder A, Dotto I. Fiction or not? Fifty Shades is associated with health risks in adolescent and young adult females. Journal of Women's Health. 2014; 23(9): 720-8.

Kurta ML, Krok JL, Hade EM, Williams J, **Nemeth J**, Paskett ED. The association between sexual abuse and adherence to risk-appropriate cervical cancer screening guidelines: a study of women in Appalachian Ohio. Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention, 2014; 23(3): 568-569.

Liu ST, **Nemeth JM**, Klein EG, Ferketich AK, Kwan MP, Wewers ME. Adolescent and adult perceptions of traditional and novel smokeless tobacco products and packaging in rural Ohio. Tobacco control. 2014; 23(3): 209-14.

Bonomi AE, Anderson ML, **Nemeth J**, Rivara FP, Buettner C. History of dating violence and the association with late adolescent health. BMC Public Health. 2013; 13(1):821-32.

Krivoshey MS, Adkins R, Hayes R, **Nemeth JM**, Klein E. Sexual assault reporting procedures at Ohio colleges. Journal of American College Health. 2013; 61(3):142-7.

Nemeth JM, Liu ST, Klein EG, Ferketich AK, Kwan MP, Wewers ME. Factors influencing smokeless tobacco use in rural Ohio Appalachia. Journal of Community Health. 2012; 37(6): 1208-17.

Bonomi AE, Anderson ML, **Nemeth J**, Buettner C, Bartle-Haring S, Schipper D. Dating violence victimization across the teen years: Abuse frequency, number of abusive partners, and age at first occurrence. BMC Public Health 2012; 12(1):637.

Nemeth JM, Bonomi AE, Lee M, Ludwin J. Sexual infidelity as trigger for intimate partner violence. Journal of Women's Health 2012; 21(9):942-9.

Fields of Study

Major Field: Public Health

Table of Contents

Abstractii
Dedicationv
Acknowledgmentsvi
Vitavii
List of Tablesxii
List of Figuresxiii
Chapter 1: Background & Significance1
Chapter 2: Overview of Research Design & Methods
Chapter 3: Aim 1 Manuscript An update on risk factors for smoking in rural women: the role of gender-based sexual and intimate partner violence
Chapter 4: Aim 2 Manuscript The social context of smoking behavior among women exposed to sexual and intimate partner gender-based violence77
Chapter 5: Aim 3 Manuscript Measuring sexual and intimate partner gender-based violence in health settings: transcending the three construct model predominant in public health research and practice
Chapter 6: Conclusions131
References142
Appendix A: CARE II Project 2 Research and Distress Protocol

Appendix B: Tobacco Control Variables	.165
Appendix C: The social context of smoking behaviors among women exposed	
to intimate partner and sexual gender-based violence and hypothesized	
mediating mechanisms and modifying factors to address in a tailored smoking	4.60
cessation intervention	.168

List of Tables

Table 1. Prevalence of Invasive Cervical Cancer according to Violence Against Women ExposureStatus and Ever Smoking status, N=47329
Table 2: Characterization of the Adult Population in Participating Counties 35
Table 3. Interviewer Procedure for CARE II Project 2 Interview 39
Table 4. Distribution of Sample Demographic Characteristics and by Current Smoking Status 64
Table 5. Distribution of Gender-based Violence and ACE Exposure by Current Smoking StatuS . 67
Table 6. Univariate Odds Ratios and 95% Confidence Intervals of Current Smoking69
Table 7. Maximum Likelihood Estimates from Multivariate Logistic Regression Model70
Table 8. Association between Gender-based Violence Exposure (GBV Exposure Index) and Contextual smoking variables 93
Table 9. Association between Gender-based Violence Exposure and Socio-contextual Variables
Table 10. Socio-contextual Differences between Current and Past Smokers with Gender-basedViolence Exposure Histories
Table 11. Participant Demographics and by Gender-based Violence Exposure Status

List of Figures

Figure 1. Map of Ohio Appalachian Counties7
Figure 2. Percentage of Never, Past and Current Smokers by Gender-based Violence Exposure Index Score65
Figure 3. Percentage of Current Smokers by Gender Based Violence Exposure Index Category at Depression Symptom Status
Figure 4. Percentage of Non-Smokers and Current Smokers by Gender-based Violence Exposure Index (GBV Exposure Index) Score91
Figure 5. Modeling Psychological Gender-based Intimate Partner Violence (Standardized factor loadings)
Figure 6. Modeling Physical Gender-based Intimate Partner Violence (Standardized factor loadings)
Figure 7. Modeling Sexual Gender-based Violence (Standardized factor loadings)

Chapter 1: Background & Significance

Intimate Partner and Gender-based Sexual Violence: A Public Health Concern Gender-based violence against women contributes to increased morbidity and mortality among women worldwide and has been named by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention as a significant public health issue facing the United States.^{1,2} In 2010, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention launched a national survey to document prevalence of intimate partner violence, dating violence, sexual violence and stalking exposure, all forms of gender-based violence, among adults living in the United States; The National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey 2010 Summary Report details the prevalence of sexual and intimate partner violence, and its impact on physical and mental health.² Rape impacts nearly 1 in 5 American women in their lifetime, defined to include completed or attempted forced penetration, or penetration facilitated by alcohol or drugs.^{2,3} Nearly 4 in 5 female victims of completed rape experienced their first rape before age 25, with slightly over 2 in 5 experiencing the first rape before age 18.² This is similar to a finding that Child Sexual Abuse (CSA) impacts one in four girls by the age of eighteen.⁴ Over the course of their lifetime, 35.6% to 44% of women will experience Intimate Partner Violence, defined to include rape, physical violence and/or stalking by an intimate partner.^{2,5}

Smoking: Still a Formidable Public Health Epidemic

The dramatic decreases in adult per capita cigarette consumption and the significant reduction in smoking prevalence are championed as one of the greatest public health achievements in second half of the 20th century.⁶ Beginning with the 1st Surgeon General's Report in 1964, and supported by effective policy intervention aimed at taxation and smoke-free indoor air restrictions, adult smoking prevalence in the United States has dropped to 19.0% in 2011 from a high of over twice that in 1964.⁶⁻⁸ Despite this, tobacco use remains the single most preventable cause of disease and premature death in the United States today.⁸⁻¹²

Of important consideration for tobacco control efforts moving forward, the prevalence of smoking among adults living in the United States, given the current policy and smoking cessation intervention environment, is not expected to dip below 17% prevalence until 2020 and will not reach a leveling off of 13.5% until mid-21st century (based on the United States 2008 smoking initiation rate of 21.6% and cessation rate of 2.41%).⁶ This is well off the Healthy People 2020 goal of a reduction in smoking prevalence among adults in the United States to 12.0%.¹³ Despite the fact that 70% of adults in the United States who smoke say they want to quit, with roughly 30% making a serious quit attempt annually, less than 10% are actually successful in their attempt to stay abstinent. Warner suggests this is, in part, due to the fact that today's smokers, when compared to smokers of the past, are more likely to be members of populations

marginalized from the mainstream, including those with the equivalent or less education than a high school degree, those living in poverty, those living with disabilities, including mental illness, and those abusing other substances, for instance.^{6,7,14} These marginalized populations are not quitting smoking at the same rate as their counterparts within the more mainstream populations. Warner suggests that tobacco control efforts need to be cognizant of these differences and tailor policy and cessations treatment interventions to center on maximum effectiveness within these marginalized populations.^{6,14}

Smoking among Survivors of Gender-based Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence

A stigmatized population that is often absent from tobacco control conversations, including those focused on health disparities among marginalized populations, are those exposed to gender-based sexual and intimate partner violence. Intimate partner and sexual gender-based violence exposure across the life course has been associated with past and current smoking behavior in numerous studies. Child sexual abuse exposure, in particular, has been linked to smoking persistence, and also with nicotine dependence, cigarettes smoked per day, earlier age of regular smoking onset, and more severe withdrawal symptoms among smokers who attempt to quit.¹⁵⁻²⁴ Anda's landmark study published in *JAMA* in 1999 documenting a strong and graded relationship between a number of adverse childhood experience (ACE) exposures,

including child sexual abuse (CSA), with smoking behavior was subsequently confirmed in two population based studies.^{15,19,22} In an exploratory study, women with child sexual abuse histories were 3.8 times more likely to be current smokers and 2.1 times more likely to have initiated smoking before the age of 14 when compared to non-abused women.¹⁷ In a nationally representative sample in the United States, adolescent girls who reported a history of both physical and sexual abuse had odds of regular smoking 5.90 the odds of regular smoking among girls not exposed.¹⁸ A prospective study suggested that multiple sexual violence exposures (including child sexual abuse, physical assault, and witnessing violence) was a robust positive predictor of cigarette smoking later.¹⁶ Despite the increased use of tobacco by child sexual abuse victims, women exposed to child sexual abuse are less likely to have received substance abuse treatment over the course of their lifetime when compared to never exposed women.²⁵ Adult sexual victimization is also associated with smoking behavior.²⁶

When considering smoking among intimate partner violence exposed women, the data is substantial and significant. In studies looking at intimate partner violence exposed women in India and Japan, nearly 70% of women with intimate partner violence exposure smoke.^{27,28} In the United States, current or past intimate partner violence exposure elevates odds for smoking,^{24,29-37} with current smoking odds ratios of 2.1 for intimate partner violence exposed women when compared to non-exposed women.^{33,36} Alarmingly, gender-based violence is associated with women's inability to quit smoking during pregnancy, as well. A study of 104 southern Appalachian pregnant

women revealed that 81% of the participants reported some form of intimate partner violence exposure during the current pregnancy, with 28% reporting physical abuse and 20% reporting sexual violence; more than half of the sample currently smoked, and psychological abuse during pregnancy was associated with a significantly decreased likelihood of quitting or reducing smoking during pregnancy.²⁹ A second study, conducted in Amsterdam, found a combination of physical and sexual violence to be significantly associated with continued smoking in pregnancy.³⁸

Although associations have been demonstrated between gender-based violence exposure through the life course and tobacco use, little is known about the mediating and modifying factors associated with tobacco use and non-use among gender-based violence victims. Recently, population based studies in the United States and Canada have tried to tease out the relationship between childhood abuse exposure and smoking behavior. A Canadian population based study confirmed that the odds of smoking were 1.52 times the odds of not smoking among child sexual abuse survivors when compared to those never victimized, with mental health problems serving as a partial mediator of the relationship between childhood abuse and adult health.³⁹ A population based study in the United States found that childhood physical and sexual abuse were directly associated with smoking dependence; whereas childhood emotional abuse was indirectly associated with nicotine dependence through current serious mental illness.⁴⁰ The same study also found that all three forms of childhood abuse were associated with

more severe nicotine withdrawal symptoms, for those with recent quit attempts, and the withdrawn symptoms were partially mediated by current serious mental illness.⁴⁰

Whereas mental health has been found to mediate the relationship between abuse and smoking, supportive members of one's social network have been found to buffer the relationship, protecting those with abuse exposure from smoking. Using data from the Nurses' Health Study II, Jun et al. not only confirmed earlier findings that young women exposed to both childhood physical and sexual abuse were two times more likely to initiate smoking by age 14 when compared to those not abused, familial emotional support was found to protect against smoking among those who were abused, reducing the impact of abuse by 40% among those receiving high emotional support versus those without.⁴¹ These studies highlight the need to more fully examine the ways in which social contextual factors may be key factors in mediating and moderating the relationship between abuse and smoking.

Cervical Cancer in Ohio Appalachia: The Role of Gender-based Violence and Smoking

The Ohio Appalachian Region

Thirty-two of Ohio's eighty-eight counties are designated Appalachian, containing 17.4% of the state's population.⁴² Poverty impacts the region with half of Ohio's Appalachian counties classified by the United States government as distressed or at-risk, ranking them in the bottom quartile of counties, economically, in the United States.⁴³ In addition, economically disadvantaged counties have the lowest college graduation rates

in the US.⁴⁴ The Center for Population Health & Health Disparities at The Ohio State University is focused on generating evidence to support practice aimed at reducing the health disparity of this understudied population.



FIGURE 1. MAP OF OHIO APPALACHIAN COUNTIES

Cervical cancer in Ohio Appalachia and current research addressing this disparity

Cervical cancer is a known cause of morbidity and mortality in women

worldwide.⁴⁵ In the United States, regional differences impact cervical cancer prevalence and outcome. For instance, women living in Appalachian regions of the United States are shown to have disproportionately high rates of cervical cancer incidence and mortality. From 2000-2004, Ohio Appalachian women experienced invasive cervical cancer at an average annual age-adjusted rate of 9.7 per 100,000 females in comparison to non-Appalachian Ohio females who experienced cervical cancer at a rate of 7.8 per 100,000 females.⁴⁶ Women in Ohio Appalachia not only contract cervical cancer at rates 24.4% higher than women in non-Appalachian regions of the state, they are more likely to die from cervical cancer; from 2000-2004, the average annual age-adjusted mortality rate among Ohio Appalachian women was 3.4 per 100,000 females compared with a rate of 2.4 per 100,000 females in non-Appalachian regions of the state—a rate 41.7% higher among women in Ohio Appalachia.⁴⁶ A team of researchers at The Ohio State University have been funded through the Center for Population Health & Health Disparities, NIH P50 Grant # 5P50CA105632-06, to conduct research on reasons for and possible ways to prevent future cervical cancer disparity in Appalachia. This dissertation research is an extension of that work.

Cervical Cancer Risk Factors

Human Papillomavirus (HPV), a common sexually transmitted infection, is the primary, and a necessary, cause of cervical cancer.^{46,47} Of the 100 known HPV viruses that have been identified, two-thirds of all cervical cancers are caused by HPV-16 or HPV-18.^{45,48} Most people who contract HPV, however, do not develop cervical cancer. There are other risk factors which increase the likelihood that a girl or woman exposed to HPV will eventually develop cervical cancer. These factors include: smoking, HIV infection or other immune suppression condition, risky sexual behavior, oral contraceptive use for five or more years, numerous pregnancies carried to term, not having regular Pap screening tests, and lower socioeconomic status.^{45,49}

Violence against women: a recently proposed risk factor for cervical cancer

Through a cross-sectional analysis of the 2006-2007 Kentucky Women's Health Registry, Coker et al. demonstrated an association between violence against women (including intimate partner violence, child sexual abuse, and forced sex in adulthood) and ever having cervical cancer.⁵⁰ Among the 4732 participants in Coker's study, 41.1% reported lifetime exposure to violence against women (8.4% to child sexual abuse, 9.7% to forced sex by a non-intimate in adulthood, and 35.9% to intimate partner violence).

Of the sample, 2.2% reported ever having cervical cancer. Adjusted for age, education, pack-years smoked, ever having used an illegal drug, and current marital status, women with a history of violence against women had 2.6 times the odds of ever having cervical

cancer in comparison to women with no violence against women exposure (95%CI: 1.7-

3.9). For women experiencing all three types of violence against women, their adjusted

odds for ever having cervical cancer were 6.4 times the odds among women never

experiencing violence against women (95%CI: 2.7-14.9).⁵⁰

TABLE 1. PREVALENCE OF INVASIVE CERVICAL CANCER ACCORDING TO VIOLENCEAGAINST WOMEN EXPOSURE STATUS AND EVER SMOKING STATUS, N=4732

	Ever had cervical cancer (n=103)			
	N in strata	N ever had cervical cancer in strata (%)	<i>Adjusted odds</i> <i>ratio</i> of strata compared to referent (95% CI)	
Ever experienced violence against women and ever smoker	980	45 (4.6%)	4.9 (2.6-8.9)	
Ever experienced violence against women and never smoker	965	23 (2.4%)	2.7 (1.4-5.1)	
Never experienced violence against women and smoker	834	18 (2.2%)	2.3 (1.1-4.7)	
Never experienced violence against women and never smoker (referent)	1923	17 (0.9%)	1.0 referent	

The interactive effect of violence against women and smoking on cervical cancer Coker also reported that the effect of ever smoking interacted with the effect of ever having violence against women exposure when considering cervical cancer history (see **Table 1**—data presented in table format contained in the text of Coker's article).⁵⁰ These findings point to the need to study women smokers who report violence against women exposure as a group particularly vulnerable to cervical cancer development.

What is known about Gender-based Violence and Women Smokers in Ohio Appalachia

Gender-based intimate partner and/or sexual violence in Ohio Appalachia

Although it is known that rape and intimate partner violence disproportionately impact racial and ethnic minorities in the United States, little is known about regional differences which may impact gender-based violence exposure and associated health related outcomes.² The National Intimate and Sexual Violence Survey methodology allowed for state level prevalence estimates, but not for regional estimates within states. According to the 2010 survey findings, in Ohio, 16.2% of women experience rape and 35.6% of women experience intimate partner violence at some point in their life.²

In Ohio, physical intimate partner violence exposure has been assessed intermittently through the iterations of what is now known as the Ohio Medicaid Assessment Survey, formerly called the Ohio Family Health Survey. The methodology for this series of population-based surveys allows for regional prevalence estimates.⁵¹ In Ohio Appalachia, in 2010, 18.8% of women reported physical violence exposure by an intimate partner at some point in their lifetime, compared to a statewide lifetime prevalence of 17.8%.⁵² Stable population estimates for the Appalachian region of Ohio for the full breadth of gender-based intimate and/or sexual violence exposure do not exist.

Smoking in Ohio Appalachia

In 2012, 25.5% of Ohio adults aged 19 and older smoked every day or some davs.⁵³ In Ohio Appalachia, in 2012, smoking prevalence among the same population was 32.7%--substantially higher when compared to a smoking prevalence of 24.6% in Ohio metropolitan regions, 23.7% in Ohio rural, non-Appalachian regions, and 23.1% in Ohio suburban regions.⁵³ Regional differences in smoking prevalence persist when considering women in Ohio. In Ohio Appalachia, in 2012, 32.1% (95%CI: 29.4-34.8) of women aged 19 and older smoked every day or some days—compared with 22.7% (95%CI: 21.3-24.1) in metropolitan regions, 24.4% (21.5-27.4) in rural non-Appalachian regions, and 23.3% (95%CI: 20.6-26.1) in suburban regions of the state.⁵⁴ Risk factors for smoking among women in the region have been identified and include low socioeconomic position in adulthood (OR 3.05, 95% CI: 1.74-5.34), Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression (CES-D) scale score \geq 16 (OR 1.99, 95% CI: 1.31-3.05), first pregnancy before age 20 (OR 1.74, 95% CI: 1.14-2.66), and younger categorical age when compared to those over age 50 (age 31-50, OR 2.30, 95% CI: 1.22-4.33; age 18-30, OR 3.29, 95% CI: 1.72-5.34).⁵⁵ In Ohio Appalachia, the odds of smoking among women

with a lifetime history of physical intimate partner violence are 3.47 times the odds of smoking among women with no intimate partner violence lifetime exposure.⁵²

And what is not known about Gender-based Violence and Women Smokers in Ohio Appalachia: contributions of this current investigation

This investigation will add to what is already known by providing a full spectrum of gender-based prevalence estimates, by type of violence, for women in Ohio Appalachia. Once population estimates are established, analysis will be conducted to determine if gender-based violence cumulative exposure is associated with current smoking among women in the region, taking into account other known risk factors. In addition, social contextual factors associated with smoking behaviors among women exposed to intimate partner and/or sexual gender-based violence will be examined. This type of research will contribute to understanding smoking behaviors among Ohio Appalachian women exposed to gender-based violence, and will provide evidence needed to support both smoking prevention efforts among gender-based survivors in the region and will lay the groundwork for understanding the contextual factors which might need to be addressed in order to tailor cessation interventions for this marginalized and stigmatized population.^{13,56}

Theoretical and Conceptual Frameworks Guiding Investigation

The Social Ecological Model

Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Systems Theory

The origins of the Social Ecological Model, a framework employed in contemporary public health practice, reside in Ecological Systems Theory in which Bronfenbrenner posited that individuals develop within concentric spheres of influence, namely: 1) the microsystem, including institutions and groups that individual comes into contact with frequently, like the family, peers, school, and religious organizations; 2) the mesosystem, which is the product of the interactions between members of the individual's microsystem; 3) the exosystem, which is the product of the interactions between members of the individual's microsystem, and those not known to the individual, but rather known to people within the individual's microsystem; 4) the macrosystem, or larger culture; and 5) the chronosystem, understanding that a person's entire ecological system changes through time.⁵⁷⁻⁶¹ Bronfenbrenner's Ecological System Theory did not, at first, explicitly include a life course development perspective; yet, positing the "chronosystem" later in theory development, Bronfenbrenner tied the concepts of Systems Theory to a lifecourse perspective.^{60,61}

The Social Ecologic Model in Public Health

The ecological perspective has been adopted in public health circles to represent how individual health behaviors, or exposures contributing to poorer health outcomes, may be a result of ecologic influence, as opposed to relying solely on individual explanations. McLaren and Hawe provide an overview of how ecologic theory has made its way into health behavior and health promotion research and practice, starting in the late 1990's.⁶² By the first decade of the 21st century, both the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the primary organization charged with ensuring the public's health in the United States, and the World Health Organization, the lead agency in addressing public health globally, both adopted a Social Ecologic perspective to frame our understanding of a spectrum of gender-based violence exposures, and their prevention.⁶³⁻⁶⁶

The Social Ecologic Model and Gender-based Sexual and Intimate Partner Violence

Although it took more than 20 years for public health agencies to officially adopt the social ecologic framework in relation to gender-based violence, violence specific researchers have utilized social ecologic theory since the 1980's. In 1980, Belsky was the first to apply Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Systems Theory to the study of violence in an article explicating the integrated etiology of child maltreatment, integrating prior theories which focused either on individual characteristics of the child or on characteristics of the child's environment as causes for the maltreatment.⁶⁷ Utilizing the framework laid down by Belsky, Heise, in 1998, offered a conceptual model for the factors, in research, associated with violence against women at various levels of the social ecology.⁶⁸ Heise proposed witnessing marital violence as a child, being abused as a child and having an absent or rejecting father as personal history factors, at the center of the expanding layers of social influence.⁶⁸ The next layer of the ecological depiction, the microsystem, included factors of male dominance and control of wealth in the family, alcohol use, and verbal & marital conflict.⁶⁸ The exosystem was comprised of factors including unemployment and low socioeconomic status, isolation of women and

family, and delinquent peer associations.⁶⁸ The outer most layer of Heise's ecological depiction, the macrosystem, included male entitlement and a sense of ownership of women, aggressive and dominant forms of masculinity, strict gender roles, and acceptance of both interpersonal violence and physical discipline.⁶⁸ The same year Heise published this depiction, White & Kowalski also highlighted the sociocultural contributions to the phenomena of male violence against women.⁶⁹

There is some precedence in research also laying the groundwork for an understanding of how social ecologic influence contributes to re-victimization and health sequelae after prior exposure to sexual violence, in particular. These researchers are interested in highlighting the complex relationships between personal, interpersonal, and social cultural factors in understanding later exposure and mental health outcomes. Liz Grauerholz, in 2000, published an article proposing an ecologic framework of hypothesized factors related to sexual re-victimization in women that were first sexually assaulted in childhood.⁷⁰ Rebecca Campbell, and a group of researchers at Michigan State, have recently published an article highlighting the ecologic factors influencing negative psychological sequelae among those exposed to sexual assault.⁷¹ *This dissertation is an extension of social ecologic work relating to gender-based violence, in that it explores a health behavior (smoking) from an ecologic, as opposed to an individualistic perspective, among women exposed to sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence in their lifetime.*

Health disparities framework

Eliminating Health Disparities in the United States

Despite the overarching Health People 2010 goal of eliminating health disparities among different groups within the United States population, the first decade of the 21st century was marred by increasing health disparate outcomes between socially disadvantaged and socially privileged populations.^{72,73} In an effort to rectify this situation, a subcommittee of the Health and Human Services' Advisory Committee (SAC) for Healthy People 2020 was formed to define health disparity and health equity, in order to specify what needed to be attended to, moving forward, to actually reduce health disparities between subpopulations in the United States.⁷³ In order to define health disparities and health equity, the subcommittee first agreed upon a definition for social disadvantage: "social disadvantage refers to the unfavorable social, economic, or political conditions that some groups of people systematically experience based on their relative position in social hierarchies."⁷² The subcommittee went on to define health disparities:

Health disparities are health differences that adversely affect socially disadvantaged groups. Health disparities are systematic, plausibility avoidable health differences according to race/ethnicity, skin color, religion, or nationality; socioeconomic resources or position...; gender, sexual orientation, gender identity; age, geography, disability, illness, political or other affiliation; or other characteristics associated with discrimination or marginalization. These categories reflect social advantage or disadvantage when they determine an individual's or group's position in a social hierarchy. Health disparities....are a specific set of health differences of particular relevance to social justice because they may arise from intentional or unintentional discrimination or marginalization and, in any case, are likely to reinforce social disadvantage and vulnerability.⁷²

Health equity subsequently is defined by the subcommittee as "social justice in health," and disparities and its determinants become the key metrics by which to assess equity.⁷²

It is important to note that with the publishing of Health People 2020 the United States government now recognizes health disparity as the health differences which occur not just because of individual behavior, but because of membership in socially disadvantaged and advantaged groups—some of which are determined at birth, and some of which change over the life course.¹³ The health disparities framework, in this regard, is a social-ecologic framework since it acknowledges the social context's influence on health behavior and health outcomes. The Health and Human Services subcommittee concluded that health disparities are 1) systematic and 2) avoidable if the underlying causes of social disadvantage (i.e. racism, classism, gender inequity, and other forms of social hierarchical ordering) were addressed. Consequently, the subcommittee has suggested the need for theoretically based research that seeks to understand and specifically modify the moderating social and contextual factors that have increased health disparities, despite population-based efforts to address health.⁷²

Women exposed to gender-based violence experience disparate health outcomes Gender-based violence against women, in all its forms, has been linked to

detrimental health outcomes,⁷⁴⁻⁸³ increased healthcare utilization,^{4,5,84,85} and increased healthcare costs.⁸⁴⁻⁹⁴ Proximal abuse can result in 42% higher health care costs, annually,⁸⁵ whereas distal exposure can elevate annual costs 16-19% depending on abuse type.^{84,85} The pathway between abuse and detrimental health impact is

т,

complicated by factors in the victims' social environment, namely the abuser's behaviors along with healthcare providers ability to recognize the impact that abuse exposure has on overall health and on access to care for particular health issues.

When considering the health disparities framework, gender-based violence exposure should be considered a health difference arising from intentional discrimination to reinforce social disadvantage, privilege and hierarchy based on the social construct of gender.⁹⁵ It should be noted, that although gender-based violence and its elimination is often conflated with women's rights, gender-based violence is inflicted on a variety of marginalized sub-populations within the United States and worldwide.⁹⁵ Sexual violence exposure, for instance, is rooted in social hierarchy which ascribes power to that which is masculine.⁹⁶⁻⁹⁸ In feminist literature and theory, this is referred to as patriarchy. Consequently, gender-based violence is a social reality for vulnerable populations along multiple trajectories of social hierarchy and is used by dominant groups, often male, but not necessarily, to maintain systematic social ordering based on hierarchy. This is evident in the fact that sexual violence exposure, for instance, is elevated among children when compared to adults, among those living with disabilities when compared to those living with full abilities, and among racial minorities when compared to white Americans.^{2,4,95,99-103} Gender-based violence, including intimate partner and sexual violence, it should be noted, is one of the mechanisms by which social hierarchy of many forms are maintained.

Sorenson's model for the development of health behavior interventions for populations experiencing disparate outcomes: merging of social ecologic and health disparities in an applicable framework for intervention development

Several key tobacco control experts have noted that smoking disparities have increased, despite population-based efforts to reduce smoking overall, because marginalized populations are quitting smoking at differential rates compared to advantaged populations. Jarvis and Wardle, in a key chapter of Marmot and Wilkinson's *Social Determinant of Health*, argue that while policies in the United Kingdom have reduced overall prevalence of smoking they have increased health inequities—this is because those who are poor are less likely to quit smoking than those with economic advantage. The health inequity, in other words, has to do with differential responsiveness to smoking cessation efforts within marginalized populations, rather than to differential initiation rates to smoking between socially disadvantaged and socially advantaged populations, in the first place. This pattern has been noted by scholars in the United States, as well, including Kenneth Warner.^{6,14}

By the late 1990's, Glorian Sorensen's group developed a conceptual model to explicate the role of social contextual factors in understanding differential responsiveness to health intervention programs among socially disadvantaged groups.¹⁰⁴ Noting the lack of empirically based models for addressing social disparities in behavioral risk reduction interventions, the group of researchers working with Sorensen on The Harvard Cancer Prevention Program Project developed, and subsequently tested, a comprehensive conceptual framework to understand the

moderating and mediating role of social context on the effectiveness of health interventions targeting behavioral change, and therefore, subsequently, on health outcomes.¹⁰⁵ Grounded in key constructs known to influence behavior change from social cognitive theory, the transtheoretical model for behavior change, and the theory of reasoned action¹⁰⁶ along with social contextual factors along multiple levels of

ecologic influence (i.e., intrapersonal, interpersonal, organizational,

neighborhood/community, and societal levels) Sorensen et. al. depicted a conceptual model in order to explicate the social contextual pathways by which race and class may influence health behaviors; Sorensen's group proposed that risk reduction interventions may be enhanced by attending to the social contextual factors which influence a person's ability to benefit from interventions and to ultimately make behavior change.¹⁰⁴ Describing the conceptual model, Sorensen writes:

This framework defines a set of **modifying conditions**, that is, factors that independently impact on outcomes, but which are not influenced by the intervention, and **mediating mechanisms**, defined as variables along the pathway between the intervention and the outcomes. We identified mediating mechanisms that social and behavioral theory and prior research have indicated are important to behavior change, and that are potentially modifiable within the context of the targeted channels and planned interventions. **Social context**, including life experiences, social relationship, organizational structures, and societal influences, may function as either modifying conditions or mediating mechanisms, depending on the location within or outside the causal pathway between the intervention and the outcomes (p 190).¹⁰⁴

The group then used this conceptual model to develop a socio-contextually

tailored intervention that would ultimately be effective in helping blue-collar workers

quit smoking. Through formative research the group discovered that occupational

safety was a key contextual factor relevant to the lives of blue-collar workers.¹⁰⁵ Sorensen's group hypothesized that a workplace intervention that jointly addressed health promotion along with occupational safety would be more effective at helping blue-collar workers quit smoking when compared to blue-collar workers only receiving health promotion programming.¹⁰⁵ In addition, they proposed that providing occupational safety in conjunction with health promotion programming would have no differential effect among white-collar workers in the same settings.¹⁰⁵ Through the implementation of a group randomized trial, Sorensen et al. found support for both of their hypotheses. Among blue collar workers, quit rates were twice as high at worksites receiving occupational safety alongside the health promotion programs when compared to guit rates at worksites receiving only health promotion programs.¹⁰⁵ In addition, guit rates, among white-collar workers, did not differ between worksite intervention conditions. Sorensen et al. concluded that the social-contextual model is a valid conceptual model to guide further behavioral health interventions with other disadvantaged groups—most significantly because it explicates the role that social context can have, both as a modifier influencing differential outcomes by key attributes, and as a mediating mechanism, influenced by the intervention itself.¹⁰⁵ Subsequently, versions of this model have been tested in other disadvantaged populations, with other behavior change endpoints.

Mary Ellen Wewers, the dissertator's advisor, and colleagues identified risk factors associated with current smoking among women in Ohio Appalachia including low

socioeconomic position, first pregnancy before the age of 20, and depressive symptoms.⁵⁵ Wewers developed a lay managed smoking cessation intervention for Ohio Appalachian residence focused on improving adherence to Nicotine Replacement Therapy (NRT) use and behavioral counseling; this intervention specifically used Sorensen's model in its developmental framework.¹⁰⁷ Wewers' study is the first of its kind to tailor a smoking session intervention to the specific population considerations of Ohio Appalachian residents. The intervention is currently being tested using a grouprandomized trial in Ohio Appalachia—the quintessential research format for testing behavioral interventions in community. *This dissertation analysis will lead to the furthering of this important cessation development work for residents of Ohio Appalachia by specifically addressing sexual and intimate partner gender-based violence in the region and its role in smoking, and smoking cessation.*

The Measurement of Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence in Health Based Settings

Gender-based intimate or sexual violence not always addressed in health care settings Despite the fact that women who experience gender-based violence are at

increased likelihood to use healthcare services, there is preliminary evidence¹⁰⁸ that suggests that the underlying abuse predisposing them to deleterious health related impact is not detected and/or addressed in ways most helpful to victims in healthcare settings.¹⁰⁹⁻¹¹¹ Another recently published study found that women staying in shelter resulting from intimate partner violence cited partners' restriction of access to needed
health care services¹¹²—this suggests that even though women who experience sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence access health care at elevated rates in comparison to non-abused women, needed health services may be at even more elevated rates than that which is currently documented in research due to medical restriction by abusive partners.

Despite its known health impact and documented health-care system related burden, gender-based violence against women is rarely studied 1) in relation to behavioral and/or disease pathways or 2) within an ecological perspective in relation to health outcomes. In addition, specific measures to tap medical restriction as a form of gender-based violence against women have never been proposed or validated. This proposed research would bridge these research divides. By focusing on the health and wellbeing of Appalachian women who have experienced sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence, this research contributes to Healthy People 2020's objectives relating to intimate partner violence and sexual violence and will contribute to one of its overarching goals, namely achieving health equity, eliminating disparities, and improving the health of all groups.¹³ In addition, by honing in on social factors implicated in the pathway between gender-based violence against women exposure and smoking, a behavioral risk factor already implicated in the development of cervical cancer, the research was conducted in such a way as to recognize this risk behavior in relation to ecological influences, a key tenant acknowledged in the Healthy People 2020 Framework.¹³ In addition, *newly created questions developed to investigate medical*

restriction as a form of abusive behavior were included in the study, and a construct validation Confirmatory Factor Analysis was undertaken to determine if medical restriction, indeed, is a distinct form of gender-based violence against women that potentially impacts health related outcomes.

National standards have changed regarding screening in health care settings

The U.S. Preventative Services Task Force is a group of non-federal experts in preventative medicine who independently reviews evidence concerning preventative health care services, including screening, and develops recommendations for primary care clinicians concerning standards for practice.¹¹³ In 2004, the U.S. Preventative Services Task Force declared there was insufficient evidence to recommend routine screening for intimate partner violence in healthcare settings. In 2007, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention released a compilation of healthcare assessment tools to be used for the screening of intimate partner and sexual violence in healthcare settings, acknowledging the need for healthcare provider's access to tools for screening purposes.¹¹⁴ By 2013, the Task Force released a new statement, and now recommends that all women of child bearing age be screened for intimate partner violence and referred to intervention services, such as counseling, home visits, and community support services provided by health care clinicians, social workers and community workers.¹¹³ However, the Task Force has declared there is still insufficient evidence to assess for benefits and harms of screening for intimate partner violence among vulnerable adults, such as those ages 18 and older living with mental, physical, or

developmental disability, or elders.¹¹³ In addition, there are no national standards regarding healthcare setting screening for past sexual violence exposure.¹¹³

Current measurement of sexual and intimate partner violence

Most of the research pertaining to violence against women and its health impact has been conducted in the United States;¹¹⁵ however, the World Health Organization's Multi-country Study on Domestic Violence against Women lends empirical credence to the gravity of violence and its impact on women's health worldwide, especially in low and medium income countries.^{116,117} In 2006, The Center for Disease Control and Prevention published a compendium of tools that can be used to assess various forms of intimate partner violence in a wide variety of settings; the tools in this compendium tend to follow the predominant paradigm for assessing and reporting on the constructs of physical, sexual and psychological abuse, in addition to stalking.¹¹⁸

Violence against women has moved, over the past four decades, from being viewed most often as a proximal exposure that can cause need for individuals to seek immediate health care or criminal justice response (criminal justice framework), to being conceptualized, as well, and maybe more importantly for population health, as a distal risk factor in the development of health related behaviors and disease throughout the life course (public health framework).^{119,120} The framework employed by the survey methodologist seeking to study this phenomena impacts the types of violence assessed. For instance, the bulk of the studies in the United States seeking to understand sexual and intimate partner violence exposure have been funded by the National Institutes for

Justice, and employ a criminal justice framework which favor the assessment of exposure to that which has been deemed criminal in nature (i.e. forced sexual activity, physical violence, and more recently, stalking). Whereas, studies employing a public health framework are more apt to include the assessment of exposure to acts not considered criminal, yet acts that have grave mental and physical health impact (i.e. physiological abuse and coerced sexual activity). Despite the overall framing, however, the predominant paradigm in gender-based violence against women research and literature is to report prevalence for three main types of abuse: physical, sexual, and psychological abuse. Despite its widespread use, few have investigated whether the three construct conceptualization is the most effective in representing the types of gender-based violence that people experience and the mechanistic way that abuse is limiting or altering health care access. This is of critical importance among populations where abuse exposure is high, and where access to health services is scare, limiting health providers' opportunities for assessment and appropriate referral. In particular, this conceptualization does little to help medical and public health professionals decide how to best intervene with gender-based violence survivors in health based settings. For instance, do abusers ever prohibit survivors from accessing needed health services, or following through with directives given by healthcare professionals? How could this particular type of abuse, if present, exacerbate health disparities? Of note, in the past decade, sexual coercion, an often undetected form of intimate partner violence, has risen to the forefront in women's health literature.¹²¹⁻¹²³ This has allowed for the

development of specific healthcare interventions to address this type of abusive behavior, and its subsequent impact on women's health.¹²² Despite its emergence in some assessment tools and on the prominent national survey, validation studies of reproductive coercion as a distinct construct and type of abuse, separate from other forms of sexual and intimate abuse, are lacking. Through the identification of mechanistic forms of abuse, appropriate health behavior intervention can be developed, tested, and disseminated.

It is possible that the insufficient data to justify screening all populations for gender-based violence exposure, given its established impact on health care use and cost, may have more to do with the fact that the overarching constructs of abuse (i.e. psychological, physical, and sexual) are too broad? The predominant public health three construct conceptualization of intimate partner violence may limit our understanding of the mechanistic way in which abusers control victims and obscure our focus on potential intervention points where health care and community based workers could target effective interventions *This project addressed these issues by testing the traditional three construct model to assess and report intimate partner and/or sexual gender-based violence against an eight construct model with the potential to illuminate a more nuanced and mechanistic way that intimate partner and/or sexual gender-based violence is impacting women.*

Summary of Background Literature

Gender-based violence exposure is associated with an increased likelihood of smoking behaviors throughout the life course. Gender-based violence exposure increases health care cost and use for women, and is associated with a variety of health disparate outcomes for those exposed. Both gender-based violence and smoking are independent risk factors in the development of cervical cancer. Women living in Ohio Appalachia experience cervical cancer at disproportionately high rates compared to women living in non-Appalachian regions of Ohio or the United States. Smoking rates among women living in Ohio Appalachia are higher than among women living in other regions of Ohio. However, little is known about 1) women's exposure to gender-based violence, throughout the life course, in Ohio Appalachia, or 2) the association between gender-based violence exposures and smoking behaviors among women in the region.

Sorensen et al. have proposed a conceptual model for understanding how social contextual factors at the interpersonal, intrapersonal, organizational, community and societal levels can modify the effectiveness of health behavior interventions designed to change behaviors of individuals within populations experiencing disparate health outcomes. Currently, a group randomized trial is being conducted by Wewers and colleagues to test the efficacy of a lay-health smoking cessation intervention in Ohio Appalachia developed using Sorensen's conceptual framework; however, the existent intervention was not developed specifically for women with gender-based violence exposure and their unique social-contextual concerns.

Goal of Investigation & Dissertation Research Question

This dissertation presents a course of investigation which examined the relationship between sexual and intimate partner violence gender-based violence exposures and smoking, among women in Ohio Appalachia, within a socio-contextual health disparities framework. The goal of this investigation was to: 1) understand if disparate smoking rates of women in Ohio Appalachia, compared to other parts of Ohio, are associated with gender-based violence in the region, and to 2) examine the context of smoking behavior among women exposed to intimate partner and/or sexual gender-based violence in Ohio Appalachia. In addition, the predominant public health three construct conceptualization of intimate partner and gender-based violence may limit our understanding of the mechanistic way in which abusers control victims and obscure our focus on potential intervention points where health care and community based workers could target effective interventions. A set of gender-based violence constructs for use in effective abuse assessment among this underserved population in the Appalachian region are identified.

Dissertation Research Question: Is gender-based violence exposure by sexual or intimate partners, and other conditions associated with this exposure, associated with the smoking behaviors exhibited by women in three Ohio Appalachian communities?

Chapter 2: Overview of Research Design & Methods

Specific Aims

This study addressed existing gaps in research related to exposure to sexual and intimate partner gender-based violence, and its association with smoking behaviors, among women in Ohio Appalachia, employing a social contextual health disparities framework. This study addressed the following aims:

Aim #1: Characterize intimate partner and/or sexual gender-based violence exposure among women in three Ohio Appalachian counties and determine this exposure's association with current smoking.

a. Research question 1a: What is the prevalence of intimate partner and/or

sexual gender-based violence among women living in Ohio Appalachia?

- b. Research question 1b: What is the distribution of smoking status (never, former, and current) by intimate partner and/or sexual gender-based violence exposure among Appalachian Ohio women?
- c. **Research question 1c:** What is the association between exposure to intimate partner and/or sexual gender-based violence and current smoking behavior

among Appalachian Ohio women, accounting for the other known risk factors for smoking among women in this region?

Aim #2: Examine the context of smoking behavior among women exposed to intimate partner and/or sexual gender-based violence in Ohio Appalachia.

- a. Research question 2a: What is the association between sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence exposure and intrapersonal, interpersonal, organizational, and neighborhood/community smoking specific factors for women in three Ohio Appalachian counties?
 - i. Hypothesis 2a(a): Compared to women with no sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence exposure history, women having experienced sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence will be at increased odds for participating in behaviors, or being in environments, where detrimental smoking related outcomes are more likely—therefore, among the entire sample, gender-based violence exposure will be significantly associated with these smoking specific variables at the intrapersonal, interpersonal, and organizational levels (i.e. smoking across the life-course, higher density of smokers in their home environment, less favorable explicit

and implicit social influences regarding smoking, and less restrictive smoking bans in living and organizational environments).

- ii. Hypothesis 2a(b): Among current smokers, gender-based violence exposure will be associated with fewer 24 hour quit attempts in the past 12 months and higher nicotine dependence.
- iii. Hypothesis 2a(c): Among past smokers, gender-based violence
 exposure will be associated with more quit attempts before
 successful cessation.
- b. Research question 2b: What is the association between sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence exposure among women in three Ohio Appalachian counties and other intrapersonal, interpersonal, organizational, and neighborhood/community factors with the potential to either mediate current smoking and or moderate a gender-based survivor's ability to engage in successful smoking cessation?
 - a. Hypothesis 2b(a): Sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based
 violence exposure among women in three Ohio Appalachian counties
 will be significantly associated with increased alcohol use, increased

depression, increased stress, increased loneliness, decreased social support, increased discrimination, decreased social participation, decreased perception of neighborhood cohesion, decreased perception of social status, and lower socio-economic status.

c. **Research question 2c:** Are there significant differences between current smokers with gender-based violence exposure and past smokers with gender-based violence exposure on the intrapersonal, interpersonal, organizational or community factors found to have significant associations from Research questions 2a and 2b?

Aim #3: Provide construct validation of the Sexual and Intimate Partner Gender-based Violence Exposure Index.

a. Research question 3a: Is it most appropriate to model gender-based violence exposure as a three-factor model, predominant in gender-based violence research, depicting the latent variables psychological, physical, and sexual abuse or an eight-factor model, with latent variables representing abuse types including demeaning emotional abuse, fear invoking control, isolation, physical assault, medical restriction, reproductive coercion, coerced sexual abuse, and forced sexual abuse?

Overview of Methods

Data for this dissertation analysis was collected as part of the survey administered by Project 2 of Community Awareness Resources and Education II (CARE II Project 2)—one of four research projects funded within the larger NIH P50 (Grant # 5P50CA105632-06; Principal Investigator: Electra Paskett) awarded to The Ohio State University's Center for Population Health & Health Disparities to address the elevated cervical cancer morbidity and mortality experienced by women in Appalachia Ohio. Mary Ellen Wewers allowed the author and dissertator to add questions pertaining to intimate partner and/or sexual gender-based violence to CARE II Project 2's survey, a study of Women's Health and Social Networks (Project Title: Social Networks and Health Among Ohio Appalachian Women; OSU IRB Protocol# 2011C0041; Project Leader: Mary Ellen Wewers; Project Manager: Tiffany Thomson). The dissertator worked as a Research Associate on CARE II Project 2 from October 2010 through December 2012, and has continued to attend CARE II and Project 2 meetings.

Study design

Four hundred and eight women enrolled in the observational study and completed an interviewer administered cross-sectional survey from August 2012 through October 2013. At the time of interview, respondents resided in one of three geographically distributed and purposely selected Ohio Appalachian counties and were randomly selected through a multi-step process utilizing a United States Postal Service address-based household sampling frame.

Study population and sample selection

County selection and characteristics

Ohio counties were purposely selected to be sites for participant recruitment based on three considerations: 1) counties have been designated by the Appalachian Regional Commission as counties in Appalachia Ohio;⁴³ 2) counties had existent infrastructure to support the implementation of the study (i.e. county health departments were knowledgeable concerning the goals of Community Awareness Resources Education (CARE) research initiatives and OSU staff community-based interviewers were in place due to their participation in prior research conducted in the region by Mary Ellen Wewers (Principal Investigator on CARE II Project 2); and 3) the counties were geographically distributed throughout Ohio Appalachia and had a high prevalence of female smokers, of critical concern to the Specific Aims set forth in CARE II Project 2. **Table 2** depicts key characteristics of the populations of Brown, Coshocton, and Lawrence counties, the three counties chosen as recruitment sites for CARE II Project 2.¹²⁴

	Brown	Coshocton	Lawrence
	County	County	County
Adult Population Estimate (N)	27,043	21,919	41,070
% ever smokers	57%	47%	58%
% current smokers	42%	27%	41%
% Income < 100% federal poverty line	17%	19%	26%
% HS degree	82%	81%	42%

TABLE 2: CHARACTERIZATION OF THE ADULT POPULATION IN PARTICIPATINGCOUNTIES

Participant eligibility criteria

Eligible study participants needed to be: 1) women; 2) aged 18 or older; 3) a resident of Brown, Coshocton, or Lawrence County Ohio; and 4) consenting.

Sample selection

The CARE II Project 2 approach utilized Brick's recruitment method for subpopulation surveys.¹²⁵ Brick's method employs a multi-step Address-Based Sampling (ABS) process to recruit a representative sample of a desired sub-population. First, a United States postal based sampling frame is used to randomly select households. Households are then enumerated for prospective participants. Finally, eligible household residents are then randomly selected into the sample.¹²⁵

Address-Based Sampling is gaining favor as a recruitment method for survey research since telephone-based sampling frames have been prone to increased undercoverage, especially among smokers, a desired population of study both for this dissertation and for the larger aims of CARE II Project 2.¹²⁶⁻¹³⁰ Analysis of National Health Interview Survey data from January to June 2011 has revealed a discrepancy in smoking behavior among adults living in land-line versus wireless-less only and phoneless households; the prevalence of current smokers, defined to include a person who has smoked more than 100 cigarettes in his or her lifetime and now smokes every day or some days, among adults 18 or older living in households with landline telephone service was 16.5 % (95CI: 15.46-17.70), compared to 25.2% (95CI: 23.74-26.62) among adults in wireless-only households, and 26.6% (95CI: 21.40-32.43) in phoneless

households.¹³⁰ The difference in smoking rates by household telephone status poses a significant concern for health researchers utilizing traditional random-digit dial telephone sampling methods since the prevalence of households with only wireless services has increased from less than 5% in 2003 to over 35% in 2011.¹³⁰ In order to capture a more representative sample of the general population research sampling firms have started to develop comprehensive address-based sampling frames that include wireless only households and researchers have started to validate the use of Address-Based Sampling methods to lessen the potential of coverage error in the sampling frame and of nonobservation in final survey statistics.^{125,128,130}

For the purposes of CARE II Project 2, the study team obtained a listing of households in Brown, Coshocton and Lawrence Counties in 2012 from GENESYS.¹³¹ The household lists, based on the United States Postal Service's Computerized Delivery Sequence File, are updated on a weekly basis and provide nearly 100% coverage of all households in each county.¹³¹ Households, typically in batches of 100 from each county, were randomly selected from the county lists and sent up to three letters of invitation, at 3 week intervals, explaining the study. Household members were asked to complete and return an enumerated form by mail to the Ohio State University research team listing the name and phone numbers of all women ages 18 or older living at the household. If the household contained only one eligible woman, that woman was invited to schedule an in-person interview. In households containing more than one eligible woman, a random method of selection was used to determine which woman would be selected and invited into the sample.

Eligibility was confirmed by a local, county research staff member through a phone conversation. Research staff attempted to contact the sampled participant ten times before either scheduling and proceeding with an interview, or ceasing to make contact attempts. Once the participant agreed to participate, a local county research staff member scheduled an in-person interview at a place most convenient for the participant. This process was repeated until 400 women from the 3 selected Appalachian counties completed interviews. CARE II Project 2's data was collected from August 2012 through October 2013, and 408 women completed in-person interviews.

Data collection procedures

For the purpose of this dissertation project, specific measures capturing sexual and intimate partner gender-based violence exposure through the lifecourse were added to the already existent CARE II Project 2 survey instrument. Development of the participant instrument and the interview procedures are described below.

Participant survey

Survey procedures

Interviewers used Computer-Assisted Personal Interviewing (CAPI) technology to administer the survey. What follows are the steps required of an interviewer to complete a CARE II Project 2 interview (See **Table 3**)

Training data collectors

All interviewers received a four hour training to orient them to CARE II Project 2,

and to alert them to the sensitivities regarding the implementation of this particular

survey. The general interviewer training consisted of: 1) overview of CARE II Project 2,

TABLE 3. INTERVIEWER PROCEDURE FOR CARE II PROJECT 2 INTERVIEW

Explain Survey by Telephone & Schedule Interview (including need for privacy during administration)	The interviewer will explain the survey to the selected woman, by phone, and ask the woman to participate in the survey by scheduling an interview. Interviewers should schedule interviews at a time and location convenient for the respondent respective of potential safety concerns (i.e. partner is home)
Consent and Enroll Participant	The interviewer will explain the study, and will review the informed consent and HIPAA forms with the sampled woman. If the woman is still willing to participate, the woman will sign the informed consent and HIPAA forms. A copy of both forms will be given to the participant to keep.
Conduct Interview	The interviewer will conduct the interview using CAPI technology following the project's protocol for survey administration. All survey responses will be directly inputted into a database platform (i.e. REDCap Mobile). (Approximate time: 1 hour).
Provide Resource Sheet	All participants will be offered a resource sheet at the conclusion of the survey listing key resources in the community addressing a variety of women's health issues, including resources for free cervical cancer screening, drug dependency counseling, and advocacy services for survivors of sexual and intimate partner violence.
Provide Gift Card	All women that complete an interview will receive a \$50 gift card. The interviewer will ask the respondent to sign for receipt of the gift card. Women will receive the gift card if they complete any portion of the interview, even if they refuse to answer single items or entire survey sections.
Upload Survey Results to Secure Server	Within 24 hours of interview, and in the same day if possible (dependent on available internet connection), interviewers will upload completed surveys from their local CAPI laptop (REDCap Mobile) to the secure server behind the Wexner Medical Center at OSU's firewall (REDCap Enterprise). The Project Manager will review uploaded data to ensure integrity in the process. Once uploaded, interviewers will no longer be able to access completed survey information.
Secure Forms	Interviewers will save study forms in a locked filing cabinet. On a monthly basis, forms will be mailed to the Project Manager.

2) task oriented interviewer behavior, 3) introducing survey to participants and safety considerations when scheduling interview, 4) the survey instrument, including practicing reading the survey directions, questions, and prompts as written, 5) CAPI technology and procedures for uploading survey data to a secure server, 6) probing to reduce item non-response, 7) approaches to administering sensitive question, 8) protocol for survey administration, 9) screening woman sampled from household, and 10) importance of integrity in data collection protocols (deterrent for falsification). In addition, and to account for the sensitivity of the trauma section of the survey, all project staff were also trained, by the current dissertator, in: 1) signs of and brief interventions with people who may be at risk for suicide/self-harm, 2) signs of and brief interventions with people who may have experienced trauma, 3) orientation to local mental health, alcohol and drug services, hospital, and sexual and domestic violence advocacy services (in regional breakouts) and 4) training on implementing the project's "Research Interview and Distress Protocol" in case a participant appeared distressed as a result of the interview.

Informed Consent

On the day of the interview, prior to beginning the interview, the interviewer reviewed the informed consent form with each participant, inviting questions, if any. If the sampled respondent consented to participant in the study, they were asked to sign a copy of the informed consent form. The Ohio State University Internal Review Board (IRB) approved all consent forms, study protocol, and data collection tools.

Development of Distress Protocol

It has been suggested by some survey methodologists that anonymous methods are best for collecting data on sensitive topics, such as illegal or sexual activity, because anonymous methods of data collection help to reduce distress to survey respondents.¹²⁸ Juxtaposing this perspective, there is a body of literature which suggests that despite its sensitive nature, participating in trauma research for survivors of gender-based violence is not distressing to all, but a small sub-set, of the population;^{63,132,133} most notably those with current posttraumatic stress disorder.^{133,134} In fact, gender-based violence survivors may actually benefit from participating in research which directly asks about gender-based violence exposures, with quantitatively higher positive gains reported from respondents participating in interview administered surveys versus written surveys.^{132,134-136}

Recognizing that the trauma section questions, in particular, could trigger reactions in a small sub-sample of the sampled population, the dissertator, in the role of Graduate Research Associate at the time, developed the Research Interview and Distress Protocol for CARE II Project 2 (See **Appendix A: CARE II Project 2 Research and Distress Protocol**). All interviewers received training on procedures outlined in the distress protocol to assure that they would know how to respond if a participant were to experience visible distress at any time during survey administration. The distress protocol was based on a similar protocol published in the literature.¹³⁷ In addition to the distress protocol, itself, the dissertator also developed county-specific women's health referral handouts that were offered to all participants, by the interviewer, at the conclusion of the interview. The handouts contained information on where to call or go to receive services for many of the health related topics covered by the survey, including information on local intimate partner and/or sexual gender-based violence crisis intervention programs.

Incentives for participation

Participants received a \$50 gift card to reimburse them for their participation and time. In addition, participants were also offered a county resource handout highlighting local women's health related resources.

Measures and Instrumentation

Each participant completed a cross-sectional survey administered, in person, by a local county interviewer. The interviews have provided data for use in the characterization of variables theorized to have associations with gender-based violence exposure, and or smoking, at several social ecological levels (i.e. intrapersonal, interpersonal, organizational, and neighborhood/community).

Intrapersonal factors

Intrapersonal factors measured include:

1) *sexual abuse and intimate partner violence exposure* across the life course using modified National Intimate and Sexual Violence Survey (NISVS) measures;² to accommodate length consideration, many of the original NISVS questions were either combined, or the response options were altered, or both. In

addition, Ms. Nemeth developed new questions pertaining to health care usage restrictions by intimate partners. The new and altered questions were taken through cognitive interviews and an external expert review by Dr. Amy Bonomi; 2) selected *Adverse Childhood Experiences* (ACE) exposures, including parental separation or divorce, witnessing parental intimate partner violence, and parental physical and emotional abuse of participant before the age of 18;¹³⁸ 3) *smoking status* (never, former, current) based on NHIS categories, *smoking tobacco use history* for current and former smokers, including consumption and past quit attempts;^{139,140}

4) **nicotine dependence**, for current smokers, using the Fagerström Test of Nicotine Dependence (FTND);^{141,142} a composite score of 0-10 is compiled by adding points received based on responses to 6 questions;¹⁴²

5) *alcohol use* using the CAGE questions;^{143,144}

6) *depression* using the Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression Scale (CES-D);¹⁴⁵⁻¹⁴⁷

7) perceived stress using the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS);¹⁴⁸

8) *loneliness* using the Three Item Loneliness Scale;¹⁴⁹ and

9) *demographic characteristics*, including socio-economic status, taken from the Baseline Economic Analysis Survey, National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) and the US Census;^{140,150}

Interpersonal factors

Interpersonal factors measured include:

1) household (HH) smoking status;

2) social influences on smoking cessation using van den Putte's 6-factor scale;

the scale captures information on explicit social influences, including verbal input to quit smoking (Explicit Verbal Norm) and offerings of information or help with cessation (Explicit Behavioral Norm) along with implicit social influences, including perceptions about how many other people smoke (Descriptive Social

Norm), perceptions about how many other people quit smoking (Descriptive

Quitting Norm), perception of acceptability of smoking, in general (Injunctive

Norm), and perception of if other people think that the survey participant should

quit smoking (Subjective Norm);¹⁵¹

3) *social support* of friends, family, and partner using the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS); ¹⁵²⁻¹⁵⁴

4) *discrimination*, using the Detroit Area Study Discrimination Scale (DAS-DQ);¹⁵⁵

Organizational factors

Organizational factors measured include:

 1) household smoking rules and restrictions using Current Population Survey (tobacco supplement) measures;¹⁴⁰
 2) workplace smoking exposure and workplace restrictions using Current

Population Survey (tobacco supplement) measures;¹⁴⁰

3) *social participation*, eliciting group and society activity involvement in the past twelve month, using a social participation scale developed by Hanson et al..¹⁵⁶ The social participation index lists 13 items and asks participants to indicate if they have or have not participated in the activity in the past 12 months. If a participant indicates they have participated in three or less activities, their social participation is classified as low. This scale has acceptable reliability (Cronbach's alpha = 0.61);¹⁵⁷

Neighborhood/community factors

Neighborhood/community factors measured include:

1) *neighborhood cohesion* using adapted measures from the Community Counts Survey; participants are asked to strongly agree, somewhat agree, neither agree or disagree, somewhat disagree and strongly disagree concerning 5 statements about people in their neighborhood or community;^{158,159}

2) *social status* from the MacArthur Scale of Subjective Social Status;¹⁶⁰

Participants are asked to rank their position, by pointing to one rung on a 10 rung ladder, for both their 1) perceived standing in their community (community ladder) and 2) perceived financial standing compared to others in the United States (SES ladder).¹⁶⁰ Subjective social status within the community is scored from 1 to 10 on the community ladder, with 1 indicating the participant pointed to the lowest rung on the ladder and 10 indicating the participant pointed to the highest rung on the ladder. Subjective social economic status is also scored from 1 to 10 on the SES ladder following the same rules for the community ladder.

Creating composite and derived variables

A table containing relevant coding and composite score creation information for all tobacco control variables can be found in **Appendix B: Tobacco Control Variables**. The dissertator, as part of analysis, created coding necessary to represent the sexual assault and/or intimate partner gender-based violence variables in line with findings from Specific Aim #3. Composite measures and derived variables, from CARE II Project 2, were used for other analysis if available; otherwise the dissertator derived smoking specific and contextual variables, as well.

Data management & analysis

Data management

Study data were collected by the CARE II Project 2 study team, and managed by the CARE II data and analysis core, using REDCap electronic data capture tools hosted through the Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center.^{161,162} REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture) is a secure, web-based application designed to support data capture and data transfer for research studies. The use of REDCap by the CARE II Project 2 study team allowed for:

1) an interface for validated data entry on REDCap Mobile laptops, used by interviewers in the field, and a data transfer protocol, allowing for secure survey data transfer from REDCap mobile devices to the REDCap Enterprise database housed behind the firewall at the Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center at the conclusion of each interview;

2) audit trails for tracking data manipulation and export procedures, managed by the CARE II data and analysis core;

3) automated export procedures for data downloads to common statistical packages, including SAS; and

4) procedures for importing data from external sources.^{161,162}

The dissertator used a dataset prepared by the CARE II Data and Analysis Core for dissertation analysis, and participated in data cleaning and code book creation, in tandem with CARE II's Data and Analysis Core to whatever extent was requested and necessary, including providing the code necessary to derive all gender-based violence variables. Bo Lu, the chair of CARE II's Data and Analysis Core, is a member of the dissertator's dissertation committee. The Final CARE II Project 2 database was used by the dissertator for final dissertation analysis.

Quantitative analysis

Specific aim #3 analysis was conducted first since the answer to the question posed determined how sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence was modeled in the analysis for specific aims #1 and 2. The confirmatory factor analysis necessary for specific aim # 3 was conducted in LISREL 9.10,¹⁶³ after data preparation in SAS 9.3.¹⁶⁴ All correlation and regression analyses for specific aims # 1 and 2 were conducted in SAS 9.3.¹⁶⁴ Details of analyses are listed in the methods sections of the corresponding presentation of finding chapters.

Sample size estimation

The sample size of 400, originally estimated to provide the necessary power to examine the primary aims of CARE II Project 2, was sufficient for addressing the primary aims of this dissertation analysis. Aim 1, focused on estimating population proportions, required the largest sample size of the presented aims. The only specific populationbased prevalence data for any form of sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence in Ohio Appalachia, before this dissertation analysis, came from the Ohio Family Health Survey. In 2010, 18.9% of women in Ohio Appalachia reported experiencing physical violence from an intimate partner at some point in their lifetime, compared to a state-wide lifetime prevalence of 17.8%.⁵² The Centers for Disease Control had provided statewide prevalence data for a more inclusive gender-based violence against women measure, namely lifetime prevalence of rape, physical violence and/or stalking by an intimate partner among women, for which women in Ohio in 2010 reported a lifetime prevalence of 35.6%.² Since no comparable measure was available for Ohio Appalachia at the time this dissertation was proposed, a ratio comparison was set up, with the available lifetime prevalence data for physical violence by an intimate partner, in order to estimate lifetime prevalence of rape, physical violence or stalking by an intimate partner in Ohio Appalachia. Based on this comparison, we anticipated a lifetime prevalence of 37.8%, among women in Ohio Appalachia, of exposure to rape,

physical violence and/or stalking by an intimate partner. In order to estimate with 95% confidence the proportion of Ohio Appalachia women who report experiencing exposure to intimate partner gender-based violence (inclusive of rape, physical violence and/or stalking) at some point in their lifetime, tolerating a ± 5% margin of error, the following formula was used to calculate sample size (p=expected population proportion and E=margin of error):¹²⁸

Sample Size =
$$\frac{1.96^2 \text{ x p}(1-\text{p})}{\text{E}^2}$$
 = $\frac{3.8416 \text{ x } (.378 (1-.378))}{.05^2}$ = 361

With a sample size of 361 women, the study was sufficiently powered to estimate population proportions for a range of sexual and/or intimate partner violence exposures, and was also sufficiently powered for regression analyses in Specific Aim 1, and latent variable creation and confirmatory factor analysis in Specific Aim 3.^{165,166}

Response rate calculation

Response rates for the CARE II Project 2 survey have been reported elsewhere, by members of the CARE II Project 2 team, using definitions obtained from the American Association for Public Opinion Research (AAPOR).^{167,168} Final response rates are reported according to AAPOR response rate 1 calculations.¹⁶⁸

Survey design and weights

To remain consistent with analysis techniques of the primary CARE II Project 2 analyses planned, the dissertator did not apply survey weights in order to estimate statistical parameters for this dissertation. Statistical analysis performed

Refer to the statistical analysis procedures contained in the methods sections of the dissertation chapters containing presentation of findings for information about analyses performed.

A note about the creation of a composite gender-based violence exposures variable (GBV Exposure Index Score)

Eight types of gender-based violence are reported based on the findings from the gender-based construct analysis from specific aim #3. Due to high degree of correlation between the gender-based violence type constructs, a four level composite variable representing cumulative exposure to the 8 types of sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence, the Gender-based Sexual And Intimate Partner Violence Exposures Index Score (GBV Exposure Index), was created for use in analysis, and to represent theoretically or quantitatively meaningful cut points in terms of the relationship between gender-based sexual and/or intimate partner violence exposures and smoking status. Cut points were determined by looking at the percent distribution of current smoking by the number of exposure to the eight abuse types and noting where percentage of smokers clustered and then appeared to jump. In addition, logistic regression models were run to compare model fit based on reasonable variations on abuse type number assigned to each category to substantiate cut point choice. A participant was categorized into one of four GBV Exposure Index levels: No exposure, Low exposure (exposure to any one type of gender-based sexual and/or intimate partner violence), Moderate Exposure (exposure to any 2 to 6 types of gender-based

sexual and/or intimate partner violence), or High Exposure (exposure to 7 or 8 types of gender-based sexual and/or intimate partner violence), range 0-3. The same GBV Exposure Index variable is used throughout the dissertation to represent gender-based sexual and/or intimate partner violence exposure in analysis. There is precedent in literature for creating cumulative violence exposure variables. Creating composite cumulative exposure variables in health behavior research has been soon to have significant predictive power in the area of Adverse Childhood Experiences,¹⁵ in particular. There is evidence, as well, that cumulative gender-based violence also correlates to worse health outcomes.⁵⁰

Chapter 3: Aim 1 Manuscript An update on risk factors for smoking in rural women: the role of gender-based sexual and intimate partner violence

ABSTRACT

Background: Women living in Ohio Appalachia experience cervical cancer at disproportionately high rates. Both gender-based violence and smoking are independent risk factors in the development of cervical cancer, and interact to heighten risk. Smoking rates among women living in Ohio Appalachia are higher than among women living in other regions of Ohio. However, little is known about 1) women's exposure to intimate partner and sexual gender-based violence, throughout the life course, in Ohio Appalachia, or 2) the association between gender-based violence exposures and smoking among women in the region.

Methods: Randomly selected Ohio Appalachian women completed an interviewer administered cross-sectional survey (n=398). Logistic regression and correlation analyses were utilized.

Results: Almost 57% of women in Ohio Appalachia have experienced intimate and/or sexual gender-based violence. Among current smokers, 77.5% reported gender-based

violence exposure. The distribution of the Gender-based Violence (GBV) Exposure Index score, a categorical score representing cumulative exposure to eight abuse types, was significantly different across smoking status (p=<.0001), with prevalence shifting towards higher exposure categories when moving from never, to former, to current smokers. When controlling for known risk factors including high depressive symptomology, age, and adult socioeconomic position, cumulative sexual and/or intimate partner violence exposure was an independent risk factor for current smoking behavior (p=0.0002). **Discussion**: The impact of sexual and intimate partner genderbased violence, and this exposure's impact on health sequel, must be directly addressed in order to reduce health burden associated with higher rates of smoking among women in Ohio Appalachia.

Introduction

Despite public health efforts in curbing the tobacco epidemic in the United States in the 20th century, tobacco use remains the single most preventable cause of morbidity and premature mortality today.⁸⁻¹² Approximately 443,000 adults in the United States die annually from smoking related morbidities.¹⁶⁹ However, recent findings have increased this estimate by another 17%.¹² Today's smokers, when compared to smokers of the past, are more likely to be marginalized, including those with less education, living in poverty, living with disabilities, including mental illness, and abusing other substances.^{6,7,14} It has been noted that clustering of these risk factors for smoking occurs within populations residing in certain geographic regions of the United States, including in Appalachia.^{55,170,171}

Regional differences in smoking prevalence persist for Ohio women. In Ohio Appalachia, in 2012, 32.1% (95%CI: 29.4-34.8) of women aged 19 and older smoked every day or some days—compared with 22.7% (95%CI: 21.3-24.1) in metropolitan regions, 24.4% (95%CI: 21.5-27.4) in rural non-Appalachian regions, and 23.3% (95%CI: 20.6-26.1) in suburban regions of the state.⁵⁴ Due to the differential smoking rates in Ohio Appalachia, women living in this region are at increased risk for tobaccoattributable disease.¹⁷² For instance, smoking is one of the risk factors linked to elevated cervical cancer incidence and mortality in the region.^{45,49} From 2000-2004, Ohio Appalachian women experienced invasive cervical cancer at an average annual age-adjusted rate of 9.7 per 100,000 females--24.4% higher than women in non-Appalachian regions of the state.⁴⁶ Women in Ohio Appalachia not only develop cervical cancer at rates higher than women in non-Appalachian regions, they are more likely to die from cervical cancer; from 2000-2004, the average annual age-adjusted mortality rate among Ohio Appalachian women was 3.4 per 100,000 females—a rate 41.7% higher than among non-Appalachian residing women.⁴⁶

Another recently identified risk factor for cervical cancer is exposure to violence against women, defined to include intimate partner violence, child sexual abuse, and forced sex in adulthood.⁵⁰ A cross-sectional analysis of the 2006-2007 Kentucky Women's Health Registry demonstrated after controlling for other known risk factors for cervical cancer development, women with any history of violence against women had 2.6 times the odds of ever having cervical cancer in comparison to women with no exposure (95%CI: 1.7-3.9); whereas the odds of ever having cervical cancer increased to 6.4 (95%CI: 2.7-14.9) among women with exposure to all three types of abuse compared to those never exposed.⁵⁰ In addition, and of central importance to this study, while ever smoking (OR 2.3, 95% CI: 1.1-4.7) and ever having experienced violence against women (OR 2.7, 95% CI 1.4-5.1) were both associated with cervical cancer, the combined effect of ever smoking and ever having experienced violence against women raised the odds of cervical cancer incidence substantially (OR 4.9, 95% CI: 2.6-8.9). Although elevated rates of smoking among women in Ohio Appalachia are a known risk factor for cervical development in the region, no estimates exists for a spectrum of

gender-based violence exposure types which, if present, could be contributing independently, or in interaction with smoking, to cervical cancer disparities in Ohio Appalachia.

In addition, it is believed due to the documented relationship between various forms of gender-based violence and smoking from extant literature that gender-based violence, if present, may also be contributing in its own right to the elevated rate of smoking among women in the region. Abuse in childhood and adolescents has been associated with smoking in numerous studies. For instance, in a nationally representative U.S. sample, adolescent girls who reported a history of both physical and sexual abuse had odds of regular smoking 5.90 that of girls not exposed.¹⁸ Cumulative exposure to multiple abuse forms in childhood and adolescence was a robust positive predictor of cigarette smoking later.¹⁶ In addition, child sexual abuse exposure, in particular, has been linked to smoking persistence, and also with nicotine dependence, cigarettes smoked per day, earlier age of regular smoking onset, and more severe withdrawal symptoms among smokers who attempt to guit.¹⁵⁻²⁴ Despite the increased use of tobacco by victims, women exposed to child sexual abuse are less likely to have received substance abuse treatment over the course of their lifetime when compared to never exposed women.²⁵ Adult sexual and intimate partner violence exposure is also associated with smoking, along with other risk factors for smoking.²⁶⁻²⁸ In the United States, current or past intimate partner violence exposure elevate odds for smoking,^{24,29-} ³⁷ with current smoking odds ratios of 2.1 for intimate partner violence exposed women

when compared to non-exposed women.^{33,36} Whereas, women in currently abusive relationships are at increased risk for smoking, adding single or multiple instances of physical and sexual abuse by a partner further accentuates this risk.¹⁷³

Risk factors for smoking have been identified for women in Appalachia and include low socioeconomic position in adulthood (OR 3.05, 95% CI: 1.74-5.34), Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression (CES-D) scale score \geq 16 (OR 1.99, 95% CI: 1.31-3.05), first pregnancy before age 20 (OR 1.74, 95% CI: 1.14-2.66), and younger categorical age when compared to those over age 50 (age 31-50, OR 2.30, 95% CI: 1.22-4.33; age 18-30, OR 3.29, 95% CI: 1.72-5.34).⁵⁵ Preliminary evidence suggests that physical intimate partner violence may also be an associated factor.²⁹ In a population based sample, the unadjusted odds of smoking among Ohio Appalachian women with a lifetime history of physical intimate partner violence was 3.47 times the odds of smoking among women with no exposure.¹⁷⁴ Given the public health implications to our understanding of health disparities in the region, further investigation is warranted to understand how a spectrum of intimate partner and sexual gender-based violence exposure through the life course is associated with current smoking in the region.

The aim of this study was: 1) to characterize intimate partner and sexual genderbased violence exposure by type and by graded, cumulative exposure among women in Ohio Appalachia and 2) to determine this exposure's association with current smoking among women in the region. This investigation uses data collected as part of one of four studies stemming from the National Cancer Institute (NCI)-funded Appalachian Center for Population Health and Health Disparities P50 CA105632-06 to answer the questions: 1) What is the prevalence of a spectrum of intimate partner and/or sexual gender-based violence abuse types among women living in Ohio Appalachia? 2) What is the distribution of smoking status (never, former, and current) by intimate partner and/or sexual gender-based violence exposure among Appalachian Ohio women? 3) What is the association between cumulative exposure to a spectrum of intimate partner and/or sexual gender-based violence abuse types and current smoking behavior among Appalachian Ohio women, accounting for the other known risk factors for smoking among women in this region, including depression, age, and adult socioeconomic position? This investigation will help us more fully understand the relationship between two known risk factors for cervical cancer development, in general, and how genderbased violence, in particular, may be contributing to elevated cervical cancer and smoking disparities experienced by women in the region.

Materials and Methods

Study design and recruitment. A two-phase address-based sampling approach described elsewhere¹⁷⁵ was used to recruit a random sample of women, 18 years of age or older, from selected Ohio Appalachian counties, to participate in an observational, interview administered, cross-sectional survey.²⁷ A recruitment letter, household enumeration questionnaire, self-addressed stamped envelope, and \$2 bill were sent to
each household randomly sampled from a U.S. Postal Service list. A household resident was asked to return the completed enumerated household questionnaire by mail (i.e. enumerated for women 18 years of age or older). An eligible woman (i.e. 18 or older and residing in one of the three counties) was randomly selected by research staff for participation in the study from each enumerated household questionnaire. A paid local research interviewer, trained by the research team, contacted the selected participant to explain and invite participation into the research study, and, if interested, set a time for consent and interview. The University's Institutional Review Board approved the study.

Interview Procedure. Local interviewers received training in a trauma-informed distress protocol¹³⁷ designed for this study. All interviews were conducted at a private location chosen by the study participant. After consenting the participant, interviewers read all survey questions and response options out loud to the participant and used REDCap electronic data capture tools to record answers on a secure laptop.¹⁶² Consent to proceed was obtained twice during the module containing abuse exposure questions. Upon completion, all participants were offered a list of county-specific women's health resources and received a \$50 gift card.

Measures. Demographic variables obtained for use in this analysis included: age (18-29, 30-49, and \geq 50 years); race (white vs. other); education (less than HS, HS diploma, General Educational Development (GED), and >high school diploma); marital status (married, divorced or separated, widowed, never been married, and living with a partner); annual household income; number and age of people living at residence of

participant; and health insurance (private, government-assisted, or none). In addition, the following measures were collected and/or variables derived.

Abuse exposure measures

Sexual and/or Intimate Partner Gender-based Violence Type Exposure. Sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence exposure was measured by 22 questions using modified National Intimate and Sexual Violence Survey (NISVS)² measures and medical restriction questions developed by the study team. Based on prior methodological analysis,¹⁷⁶ sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence was modeled using eight constructs or types of abuse--demeaning emotional abuse, fear invoking control, isolation, physical assault, medical restriction, and reproductive coercion by an intimate partner in addition to coerced and forced sexual abuse by an intimate partner or other.

Gender-based Sexual And Intimate Partner Violence Exposures Index Score (GBV Exposure Index). A four level composite variable representing cumulative exposure to the 8 types of sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence, the GBV Exposure Index, was created. The variable represented theoretically or quantitatively meaningful cut points that were determined in relation to percent distribution of current smoking by exposure to an increasing number of eight gender-based violence abuse types. A participant was categorized into one of four GBV Exposure Index levels: No exposure, Low exposure (exposure to any one type of gender-based sexual and/or intimate partner violence), Moderate Exposure (exposure to any 2 to 6 types of gender-based

sexual and/or intimate partner violence), or High Exposure (exposure to 7 or 8 types of gender-based sexual and/or intimate partner violence), range 0-3.

Smoking measure

Smoking Status. Questions from the National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) and the National Cancer Institute-sponsored Tobacco Use Supplement to the Current Population Survey were used to assess smoking status. Participants were categorized as never smokers if they reported never having smoked 100 cigarettes in their lifetime; as former smokers if they had smoked 100 cigarettes in their lifetime but did not smoke now; and as current smokers if they had smoked 100 cigarettes in their lifetime and now smoke cigarettes every day or most days.^{139,140,177}

Measures for other known risk factors for smoking

Other risk factors for smoking

Adult Socioeconomic Position (SEP). A woman's adult socioeconomic position was defined as high if the participant met the following three requirements: 1) a poverty income ratio above the sample's median cutoff point; 2) private health insurance, and 3) education >high school diploma. If the participant did not meet these three requirements, adult SEP was defined as low.⁵⁵

Depressive symptomology as measured by the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression scale (CES-D).¹⁷⁸ The CES-D is a 20-item instrument, range score 0 to 60, used to assess frequency of past week feelings and behaviors for use in the general population to determine if further investigation of depressive symptoms should be considered. A cut point of \geq 16 as standardly used within epidemiologic surveys was used to indicate depressive symptoms of clinical concern.¹⁷⁸

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE). Selected ACE exposures were measured including parental separation or divorce, witnessing parental intimate partner violence, and parental physical and emotional abuse of participant before the age of 18.¹⁷⁹ An ACE Score was totaled, with participants receiving 1 point for each ACE exposure, range 0-4.

Statistical analysis. Analysis was performed in SAS, Version 9.3.¹⁶⁴ To answer research question 1, descriptive statistics were calculated for each abuse exposure variable. To answer research question 2, participants were categorized by smoking status (i.e., never, former, and current) and descriptive statistics were calculated for each demographic variable. Chi-square tests were performed for categorical variables and Kruskal-Wallis tests were performed for ordinal variables to determine if the distribution of each demographic and abuse exposure variable differed across smoking status. To answer research question 3, and mirroring the modeling for smoking status on the published risk factor for smoking paper among this population,⁵⁵ a multivariable logistic regression model was fit with the binary outcome of smoking status (1=current smoker; 0=former and never smoker). Univariate analysis with binary smoking status was performed for all known risk factors for smoking among this population⁵⁵ contained in the dataset and all abuse exposure variables, using LOGISTIC procedure in SAS.

Sexual And Intimate Partner Violence Exposures Index Score were also performed. All univariate terms found to have significant associations (p=.05) were then added to a multivariable logistic regression model to allow for the independent effect of each variable, controlling for other known risk factors. The model fit was examined using Hosmer-Lemeshow test and area under the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve.¹⁸⁰

Results

Response rate. Calculations for household response rate and sampled individual participation rate were based on AAPOR RR1 formula. ¹⁸¹ Screening packets were mailed to 1950 households and 776 enumerated questionnaires were returned, resulting in a 44.4% response rate for household enumeration after accounting for ineligible households. Of households responding, 599 eligible women were selected into the sample, with 408 women completing interviews, resulting in a 71.0% participation rate based on AAPOR RR1.¹⁸¹

Sample characteristics, including gender-based violence exposure, by smoking status.

The analytic sample comprised 398 participants who provided complete gender-based violence exposure histories (97.5% of sample). Of those, demographic characteristics and abuse exposure distributions by never, former, and current smoking status are presented in **Table 4** and **Table 5**, respectively. **Figure 2** depicts the percentage of

TABLE 4. DISTRIBUTION OF SAMPLE DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS AND BY CURRENT SMOKING STATUS

		Never	Former	Current	
	Total	smokers	smokers	Smoker	
	(N=398)	(N=226)	(N=92)	(N=80)	. a
Characteristic	%	%	%	%	p-value [°]
Age, categorical					0.0055**
18-29 years old	13.57	15.04	5.43	18.75	
30-49 years old	31.41	26.99	33.70	41.25	
50+ years old	55.03	57.96	60.87	40.00	
Race, White					0.0867
White	96.48	97.79	96.74	92.50	
Other	3.52	2.21	3.26	7.50	
Education					
Less than high school (HS)	6.28	1.77	10.87	13.75	0.0006***
HS diploma	25.63	25.22	27.17	25.00	0.0000
GED	2.51	1.33	4.35	3.75	
>HS diploma	65.58	71.68	57.61	57.50	
Marital Status					<.0001****
Married	66.08	74.78	61.96	46.25	
Divorced or Separated	12.06	8.85	15.22	17.50	
Widowed	8.54	7.96	13.04	5.00	
Never been married	7.54	5.75	4.35	16.25	
Living with partner	5.78	2.65	5.43	15.00	
1					
threshold (n=350)	15.14	8.67	10.98	37.50	<.0001****
Adult Sociooconomic Decition					< 0001 * * * *
(n=377)					<.0001
Hi	35.28	46.19	28.09	14.10	
Low	64.72	53.81	71.91	85.90	
Depressive Symptoms of Clinical					
CES-D score					0 0030**
<16	82.23	87 44	79 35	7በ ደባ	0.0050
>16	17 77	12 56	20.65	29 11	
	±/.//	12.50	-0.00		

^a Chi-square test performed for categorical variables. Kruskal-Wallis test performed for ordinal variables. Significance Level: * \propto < .05, ** \propto < .01, *** \propto < .001, *** \propto < .001 never, past and current smokers by Gender-based Violence Exposure Index Score. As GBV Index Score increases, the percentage of never smokers decreases. In all categories, except among those with the highest level of exposure, there are more past smokers than current smokers. Among women who reported 7 or 8 types of genderbased violence exposure, 61% currently smoke, whereas only 13% are former smokers, and 26% are never smokers.





Association between gender-based violence abuse exposure and smoking status. Of women, 56.8% reported never smoking (226/398), 23.1% report past smoking (92/398), and 20.1% reported current smoking (80/398). There was a significant difference in sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence lifetime exposure, and for each abuse type, across smoking status, with prevalence increasing in each case when moving from never smokers, to former smokers, to current smokers (See Table 5). Among current smokers, 77.5% reported sexual and/or intimate partner violence lifetime exposure, compared to 69.6% among former smokers and 43.8% among never smokers (p=<.0001). The categorical distribution of the GBV Exposure Index score (p=<.0001)was also significantly different across smoking status, with prevalence of exposure shifting towards higher GBV Exposure Index categories when moving from never, to former, to current smokers. Among never smokers, the mean GBV Exposure Index score (range: 0-3) was 0.77 and the median was 0 exposures, compared to a mean of 1.30 and a median of 2.00 exposures among former smokers, and a mean of 1.63 and a median of 2 exposures among current smokers; the distribution of GBV Exposure was different by smoking status (p = <.0001).

Association between demographic characteristics and smoking status. The distribution of categorical age (p=0.0055), education (p=0.0006), marital status (p=<.0001), adult socioeconomic position (p=<.0001) and depressive symptoms of clinical concern (p=0.0030) were all significantly different between smoking status exposure categories (**Table 4**). Among never smokers, 58% were 50 or older, 27% were

TABLE 5. DISTRIBUTION OF GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE AND ACE EXPOSURE BY CURRENT SMOKING STATUS

		Never	Former	Current	
	Total	smokers	smokers	Smoker	
	(N=398)	(N=226)	(N=92)	(N=80)	
Characteristic	%	%	%	%	p-value ^a
Sexual and/or Intimate Partner Gender-	56.53	43.81	69.57	77.50	<.0001****
based Violence Lifetime Exposure (any)					
Intimate Partner Psychological Abuse	51.76	40.27	61.96	72.50	<.0001****
Demeaning Emotional Abuse	31.41	22.12	42.39	45.00	<.0001****
Fear Invoking Control	40.45	29.65	46.74	63.75	<.0001****
Isolation	43.72	33.19	52.17	63.75	<.0001****
Intimate Partner Physical Abuse	21.61	12.39	27.17	41.25	<.0001****
Physical Assault	20.85	11.95	26.09	40.00	<.0001****
Medical Restriction	6.03	3.98	5.43	12.50	0.0219*
Sexual Abuse by an Intimate Partner or Other	33.67	22.57	46.74	50.00	<.0001****
Reproductive Coercion (intimate partner)	9.30	5.75	10.87	17.50	0.0067**
Coerced Sexual Abuse	22.36	14.60	28.26	37.50	<.0001****
Forced Sexual Abuse	22.86	11.95	34.78	40.00	<.0001****
Gender-based Violence Exposures Index					<.0001****
Score	42.47	FC 10	20.42	22 50	
No Exposure	43.47	56.19	30.43	22.50	
Low Exposure	12.56	13.72	11.96	10.00	
Moderate Exposure					
(exposure to any 2-6 types of abuse)	38.19	27.43	54.35	50.00	
High Exposure	5 78	2 65	3 26	17 50	
(exposure to 7 or 8 types of abuse)	5.70	2.05	5.20	17.50	
Adverse Childhood Experiences Exposure					
(ACE) Score (n=396)					0.0014**
No Exposure	45.20	53.54	39.13	28.21	
Exposure to 1 ACE	26.77	25.66	30.43	25.64	
Exposure to 2 ACE	14.90	12.39	15.22	21.79	
Exposure to 3 ACE	6.57	3.98	8.70	11.54	
Exposure to 4 ACE	6.57	4.42	6.52	12.82	
					p-value ^b
Gender-based Violence Exposures Index					< 0001****
(range 0-3)					<.0001
Mean (sd)	1.06(1.02)	0.77(0.94)	1.30(0.95)	1.63(1.02)	
Median (var)	1.00(1.05)	0.00(0.89)	2.00(0.90)	2.00(1.05)	
Adverse Childhood Experiences Exposure					<.0001****
Mean (sd)	1 03/1 21)	0.80(1.09)	1 13(1 22)	1 55(1 25)	
Median (var)	1.00(1.46)	0.00(1.03)	1.00(1.48)	1.00(1.84)	

^a Chi-square test performed for categorical variables. ^b Kruskal-Wallis test performed for ordinal variables. Significance Level: $*\alpha < .05, **\alpha < .01, ***\alpha < .001$

30 to 49 years of age and 15% were 18 to 29 year old; whereas among current smokers, 40% were 50 or older, 41% were 30 to 49, and 19% were 18 to 29 years of age. Current smokers were less educated than former smokers who reported less education than never smokers. Whereas75% of never smokers, and 62% of former smokers reported current marriage, only 46% of current smoker did; however, a higher percentage of current smokers reported never being married (16%) or living with a partner (15%) in comparison to never (6% and 3%, respectively) and former smokers (4% and 5%, respectively). High adult socioeconomic position was concentrated among never smokers (46%) versus only 28% among former smokers and 14% among current smokers. CES-D scores of 16 or higher, indicating that a person reported depression symptoms of concern were most concentrated among current smokers (29%), followed by former smokers (21%), and then never smokers (13%).

Sexual and intimate partner gender-based violence exposure is a risk factor for current smoking behavior. A univariate model was fit for each of 8 sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence exposure types, for the GBV Exposure Index score, for adverse childhood experiences (by exposure level and for the ACE composite score), and for known risk factors for smoking among rural women,⁵⁵ including categorical age, adult socioeconomic position, and depressive symptoms of clinical concern (**Table 6**).

Maximum likelihood estimates from the final adjusted model for risk factors for smoking among this population are presented in **Table 7**. When controlling for age and adult socio-economic position, cumulative sexual and/or intimate partner violence

TABLE 6. UNIVARIATE ODDS RATIOS AND 95% CONFIDENCE INTERVALS OF CURRENT SMOKING

	OR (95% CI) of being a		
	current smoker vs.		
	nonsmoker ^a	p-value	
Sexual and/or Intimate Partner Gender-based Violence			
Exposure Types (n=398)			
No Exposure to Gender-based Violence	1.0		
Demeaning Emotional Abuse	2.11 (1.27,3.49)	0.0038**	
Fear Invoking Control	3.33 (2.00,5.54)	<.0001****	
Isolation	2.79 (1.68,4.64)	<.0001****	
Physical Assault	3.49 (2.04, 5.98)	<.0001****	
Medical Restriction	3.10 (1.32, 7.27)	0.0092**	
Reproduction Coercion (intimate partner)	2.72 (1.33, 5.57)	0.0061**	
Coerced Sexual Abuse (intimate partner or other)	2.63 (1.55, 4.49)	<.0001****	
Forced Sexual Abuse (intimate partner or other)	2.93 (1.72, 4.97)	<.0001****	
Gender-based Violence Exposures Index (n=398)			
No Exposure	1.0		
Low Exposure (exposure to any one of 8 types of abuse from	1.64 (0.67, 4.03)		
above)		0.2812	
Moderate Exposure (exposure to any 2 to 6 types of abuse)	3.08 (1.68, 5.64)	0.0003***	
Hi Exposure (exposure to 7 or 8 types of abuse)	13.40 (5.08, 35.31)	<.0001****	
Gender-based Violence Exposure Index Score (range: 0-3)	2.03 (1.56, 2.64)	<.0001****	
Adverse Childhood Experiences Exposure			
No Exposure	1.0		
Exposure to 1 ACE	1.66 (0.86, 3.21)	0.1326	
Exposure to 2 ACE	2.89 (1.41, 5.93)	0.0038**	
Exposure to 3 ACE	3.78 (1.50, 9.51)	0.0048**	
Exposure to 4 ACE	4.46 (1.80, 11.05)	0.0012**	
ACE Score (range: 0-4)	1.50 (1.24, 1.82)	<.0001****	
Categorical Age			
18-29 years old	2 25 (1 11 4 54)	0 0241*	
30-49 years old	2 10 (1 21 3 62)	0.0241	
50+vears old	1 0	0.0000	
Adult Socioeconomic Position	1.0		
	1 0		
High		< 0001****	
Depressive Symptoms of Clinical Concern	0.24 (0.12, 0.47)	~.0001	
CES-D score <16	1.0		
CES D SCORE > 16	2 34 (1 31 4 17)	0 0038**	
LOW High Depressive Symptoms of Clinical Concern CES-D score <16 CES-D score ≥16	1.0 0.24 (0.12, 0.47) 1.0 2.34 (1.31, 4.17)	<.0001**** 0.0038**	

^anonsmoker combines never and former smoker categories significance Level: * \propto < .05, ** \propto < .01, *** \propto < .001, **** \propto < .001

Parameter	df	estimate	s.e.	OR	95%CI	Wald x^2	p value
Intercept	1	-0.9701	0.5044			3.6989	0.0544
Gender-based							
Violence	1	0 5467	0 1/15/	1 73	1 30-2 30	1/1 1/107	0 0002***
Exposures Index	1	0.5407	0.1434	1.75	1.50 2.50	14.1407	0.0002
(No, Low, Moderate, High)							
CES-D Score (<16, ≥16)	1	0.3118	0.3318	1.37	0.71-2.62	0.8830	0.3474
Age (18-29, 30-49, 50+)	1	-0.3463	0.1857	0.71	0.49-1.02	3.4781	0.0622
High Adult Socio-							
Economic Position	1	-1.2788	0.3558	0.28	0.14-0.56	12.9149	0.0003***

TABLE 7. MAXIMUM LIKELIHOOD ESTIMATES FROM MULTIVARIATE LOGISTIC REGRESSION MODEL

Significance Level: $\alpha < .05$, $\alpha < .01$, $\alpha < .001$ Area under the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve = 0.7331. Hosmer-Lemshow goodness-of-fit test chi-square statistic = $6.3784_{(8)}$, p=0.6049.

exposure is an independent risk factor for current smoking behavior (p=0.0002). The

odds of current smoking among those with a low GBV Exposure Index score (exposure



FIGURE 3. PERCENTAGE OF CURRENT SMOKERS BY GENDER BASED VIOLENCE EXPOSURE INDEX CATEGORY AT DEPRESSION SYMPTOM STATUS

to 1 type of abuse) is 1.73 (95%CI:), among those with a moderate GBV Exposure Index score (exposure to 2-6 types of abuse) is 2.98, and among those with a high GBV Exposure Index score (exposure to 7 or 8 types of abuse) is 5.16 times the odds of current smoking among those with no gender-based violence exposure, controlling for depression, age and adult socio-economic position. When controlling for known risk factors, including GBV Exposure score, high socioeconomic position in adulthood is a protective factor against current smoking (OR: 0.28, p=0.0003). Current smoking prevalence is higher among women with high depressive symptomology (CES-D Score \geq 16) for women at each level of gender-based violence exposure (**Figure 3**); however, when controlling for GBV Exposure score, age, and adult socioeconomic position, depressive symptomology is no longer a significant predictor of current smoking (p=0.3474) and categorical age is only marginally significant (p=0.0622).

Discussion

Intimate partner and sexual gender-based violence is not only a notable public health concern in Ohio Appalachia, but is a human rights issue—impacting nearly 6 out of 10 women in the region. Estimates for gender-based sexual and intimate partner violence in Ohio Appalachia rival estimates for exposure among populations most at-risk in the United States, including racial and ethnic minorities, and appear to be above

estimates for rape and intimate partner violence across Ohio.² Gender-based violence exposure should be considered as a possible factor contributing to cervical cancer disparity in the region.

Cumulative exposure to multiple forms of gender-based violence is an independent risk factor for smoking among women in Ohio Appalachia. There was a significant difference in any intimate partner and/or sexual gender-based violence lifetime exposure, and for each abuse type, across smoking status, with prevalence increasing in each case when moving from never smokers, to former smokers, to current smokers. Among current smokers, an overwhelming majority reported sexual and/or intimate partner violence lifetime exposure. The categorical distribution of the GBV Exposure Index score, a composite score representing cumulative exposure to eight abuse types, was also significantly different across smoking status, with increased prevalence of exposure to multiple gender-based violence abuse types moving from never, to former, to current smokers. Based on these findings, anyone seeking to encourage or assist women in Appalachia with tobacco cessation must acknowledge that gender-based violence exposure, and its sequale, are likely impacting women's smoking behavior and ability to engage in successful cessation.¹⁸²

A reduction in smoking behavior, and ultimately in smoking attributable disease, among women in Ohio Appalachia, will occur only if the impact of sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence and this exposure's impact on health, including

increased risk for depression, ^{71,183-185} are directly addressed. Depressive symptoms are negatively correlated with the ability to cope with stress for women exposed to intimate partner violence.¹⁸⁶ Inability to cope with stress may create vulnerability for addiction.^{187,188} Although not all women who were exposed to intimate partner and/or sexual gender-based violence also reported depressive symptoms of clinical concern, those that did were more likely to smoke. The highest concentration of participants with high depressive symptomology (CES-D Score >= 16) were among those with moderate and high gender-based violence exposure. Although depressive symptomology, when controlling for gender-based violence cumulative exposure, age, and adult socioeconomic position, no longer was a significant risk factor for smoking, further investigation is warranted. Depression's role as a potential mediator between cumulative gender-based violence and smoking should be examined using longitudinal study designs to better tease out the temporal relationship between these factors. These findings support recent literature calling for an integration of smoking cessation programs with intimate partner recovery programs—addressing the traumatic exposure, mental health sequale, and nicotine dependence—in order to help survivors of intimate partner violence quit smoking;¹⁸⁹ however, no known study has assessed the efficacy of addressing intimate partner or sexual violence in the cessation process.¹⁹⁰

Community-based and criminal justice advocacy programs, which historically work through rape crisis centers, domestic violence shelters, and court-based settings, should consider how health justice, in addition to criminal justice, is part of the

restorative process to help gender-based sexual and intimate partner violence survivors heal. In the past decade, there has been a swell of understanding within these settings of the need for trauma-informed services for survivors.¹⁹¹ Findings from this study suggest tobacco cessation might be one of a sequence of behavioral health interventions to prove restorative and health promoting to a population that experiences disparate health outcomes.^{85,183,192} Recently, it has been articulated that it would be helpful for those specializing in work with survivors of violence to assess for smoking and to provide prevention and smoking cessation in traditional intervention setting, for intimate partner violence, in particular.¹⁹³

There are limitations impacting analysis and study findings. First, cross-sectional data cannot be used to determine temporality—limiting interpretations regarding the relationship between cumulative exposures to multiple forms of gender-based violence, depression and smoking. Second, we did not collect data on age at first pregnancy, a known risk factor for smoking among rural women,⁵⁵ so the updated risk factor analysis did not control for the impact of age of first pregnancy on current smoking. However, reproductive coercion, a factor measured and represented as one of eight types of abuse analyzed as well as in the composite GBV Index Score, is associated with unintended pregnancy,¹⁹⁴ especially among adolescents.¹⁹⁵ Third, there was a high degree of correlation between the GBV Exposure Index Score and the ACE Score variable ($r_s = 0.45789, p = < .0001$) causing a problem of multi-collinearity when both variables were added to the adjusted multivariate logistic model. When added to the

final adjusted model for smoking, ACE was no longer significant, and it reduced the significance of GBV Exposure Index Score, as well. Due to its high degree of correlation with the GBV Exposure Index Score, and in consideration of the primary study aim, ACE was excluded from the final model despite the literature documenting its association to smoking. It is important to note that the ACE score used was only a subset of the items found on the full ACE measure,¹⁵ and that child sexual abuse, though excluded from the ACE Score modeling here, was included in the final GBV Exposure Index Score. Finally, survey research is liable to coverage bias through underrepresentation of smokers and of women exposed to sexual and intimate partner violence.⁹⁷ Indeed, only 20% of our sample reported current smoking, when the population between current smoking and gender-based violence exposure in the sample, intimate partner and sexual violence gender-based violence estimates produced for this region, in this analysis, are probably conservative, and underrepresent the true population parameter.

Conclusions

Gender-based violence is a fundamental determinant of health (and health disparity) among women in Ohio Appalachia, and should be assessed in health settings.¹⁹⁶ Those seeking to reduce disparate disease burden among women in Ohio Appalachia should consider the role gender-based violence plays in exhibited health behavior, behavioral interventions, disease progression and treatment.^{171,197,198} There is

a need for tobacco cessation professionals to join efforts with organizations that have a clear strength in assisting survivors of sexual and intimate partner violence, to provide holistic, trauma-informed health and healing services to gender-based violence survivors. For tobacco cessation efforts geared towards women in Ohio Appalachia, in particular, this means recognizing the overwhelming prevalence of gender-based violence in the region, in the first place, and understanding how programs aimed to promote tobacco cessation must also address mental health and other trauma and safety concerns among a majority of their client population. In an area of the country where both tobacco cessation and sexual and intimate partner violence advocacy services are limited, it also means ensuring that general practitioners and public health professionals either receive training to directly address gender-based violence, mental health, and cessation, or work to redirect resources to establish such efforts.

Chapter 4: Aim 2 Manuscript The social context of smoking behavior among women exposed to sexual and intimate partner gender-based violence

ABSTRACT

Background: The prevalence of smoking, the leading cause of premature morbidity and mortality, is particularly high among survivors of intimate partner and sexual violence. The aim of this study was to characterize the context of smoking behavior among women exposed to gender-based violence in order to determine key factors that might serve as key mediators to directly address in a smoking cessation intervention or moderators which could enable or prevent this vulnerable group of women from successfully completing the smoking cessation process.

Methods: Ohio Appalachian women were randomly selected to complete a crosssectional, interview administered survey (n=398). Correlation analyses were performed in SAS.

Results: Graded, cumulative gender-based violence was associated with intrapersonal and contextual factors which could be influencing both current smoking and gender-based survivors' attempts to quit. Significant differences existed between current and

past smokers with gender-based violence exposure histories regarding: perceived stress, exposure to fear invoking control (a type of intimate partner violence), perception of social status, discrimination, adult socioeconomic position, perception of number of smokers in the social environment, and home smoking restrictions.

Discussion: Because of the power differentials at play in most intimate partner and sexual violence abuse situations, and the unique safety concerns for this population, the social context of a gender-based violence survivor's smoking behaviors and cessation attempts must be considered when adapting cessation programs to this population. Findings from this study suggest that it may be factors within a survivor's environment causing stress—a culture tolerant of gender-based violence, discrimination, social economic standing, and smoking bans within the home—which must be addressed in concert with intrapersonal factors, like self-control and affect regulation, to help this vulnerable population succeed in smoking cessation.

Introduction

Tobacco use remains the single most preventable cause of disease and premature death in the United States today.⁸⁻¹² There is increasing disparity in the prevalence of smoking between socially privileged and socially marginalized populations living in the United States. Marginalized populations, including the impoverished and those living with disability, including mental illness, do not quit smoking at the same rate as their counterparts within more privileged populations. ^{6,7,14} Effective policyrelated and treatment-focused efforts are needed for these marginalized populations.^{6,14} Women survivors of sexual and/or intimate partner violence across the life course are a population at risk for smoking;^{15,20,22,28,32,173,189,193} however, to date, this is a population rarely mentioned as a stigmatized and marginalized population within tobacco control literature.

Whereas smoking prevalence is higher among those exposed to sexual and/or intimate partner violence when compared to non-exposed women, it has also been found that in certain subpopulations of women smokers there is a high concentration of sexual and/or intimate partner violence lifetime exposure.¹⁹⁹ For instance, in a population-based sample of women in Ohio Appalachia where 32% of all women smoke, 78% of current smokers and 70% of former smokers reported gender-based violence exposure, whereas only 44% of never smokers reported such an exposure; and graded, cumulative gender-based violence exposure to multiple sexual and intimate partner abuse types, when controlling for age, socioeconomic position, and depression, is an independent risk factor for current smoking.¹⁹⁹

In a population of smokers where the prevalence of sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence is so high, it is plausible that gender-based violence exposure, and its health consequences including increased risk for depression and posttraumatic stress,^{71,200} are likely impacting women's smoking behavior and ability to engage in successful cessation. Despite this, over the course of their life, women exposed to sexual abuse in childhood are less likely to have received substance abuse treatment.²⁵ In addition, when compared to non-exposed women, survivors of intimate partner physical, sexual, and non-physical abuse experience burdensome health disparities; women exposed to gender-based violence, even in the remote past, use healthcare more often, have higher health care cost, and experience worse health outcomes.^{85,201} Given the wide range of smoking attributable disease,¹² and recognizing the high rate of smoking among the population^{15,20,22,28,32,173,189,193} and the health disparate outcomes the population experiences, in general, ^{85,115,184,201} women survivors of sexual and intimate partner gender-based violence should be considered a priority population for tailored smoking cessation interventions.

Noting the lack of empirically based models for addressing social disparities in behavioral risk reduction interventions, Sorensen et. al. depicted a conceptual model that explicated the social contextual pathways influencing health behavior.²⁰² According to the model, risk reduction interventions may be enhanced by attending to

the social contextual factors which influence a person's ability to benefit from interventions and to ultimately make behavior change.²⁰² To test this model, the group developed an intervention, inclusive of context, that would ultimately be effective in helping blue-collar workers quit smoking. Through formative research occupational safety surfaced as a key contextual factor relevant to the lives of blue-collar workers.¹⁰⁵ Among blue collar workers, smoking quit rates were twice as high at worksites receiving occupational safety alongside the health promotion programs when compared to quit rates at worksites receiving only health promotion programs.¹⁰⁵ Sorensen et al. concluded that the social-contextual model is a valid conceptual model to guide further behavioral health interventions with other disadvantaged groups—most significantly because it explicates the role that social context can have, both as a modifier influencing differential outcomes by key attributes, and as a mediating mechanism, influenced by the intervention itself.¹⁰⁵

Studies addressing contextual factors influencing smoking and the cessation process, among abuse survivors, focus almost exclusively on child abuse. A recent population based study in the United States found that childhood physical and sexual abuse were directly associated with smoking dependence; childhood emotional abuse was indirectly associated with nicotine dependence through current serious mental illness.⁴⁰ The same study also found that all emotional, physical and sexual childhood abuse were associated with more severe nicotine withdrawal symptoms, for those with recent quit attempts, and the withdrawn symptoms were partially mediated by current

serious mental illness.⁴⁰ Whereas mental health has been found to mediate the relationship between some forms of abuse and smoking, supportive members of one's social network have been found to buffer the relationship, protecting those with abuse exposure from smoking. Using data from the Nurses' Health Study II, Jun et al. not only confirmed earlier findings that young women exposed to both childhood physical and sexual abuse were two times more likely to initiate smoking by age 14 when compared to those not abused, familial emotional support was found to protect against smoking among those who were abused, reducing the impact of abuse by 40% among those receiving high emotional support versus those without.⁴¹ These studies show promise in the utility of identifying key mediators and moderators in understanding smoking behaviors among those experiencing abuse. More research is needed, however, to understand the social context of smoking behavior among women exposed to a full range of sexual and intimate partner gender-based violence in order to understand how to maximize smoking cessation behavioral interventions to meet the needs of this disadvantaged population.

The overall purpose of this study was to characterize the context of smoking behavior among women exposed to intimate partner and/or sexual gender-based violence in Ohio Appalachia, a population where smoking among women and where gender-based violence exposure rates are high.²⁰³ The goal was to determine key factors that might serve as potential mediators or moderators in allowing women survivors of intimate partner and/or sexual gender-based violence to successfully

complete a smoking cessation process. In pursuit of this aim the following research questions were addressed: 1) What is the association between sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence exposure and intrapersonal, interpersonal, organizational, and neighborhood/community smoking specific factors for women in Ohio Appalachia? 2) What is the association between sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence exposure among women in Ohio Appalachia and other intrapersonal, interpersonal, organizational, and neighborhood or community factors with the potential to either mediate current smoking and or moderate a gender-based survivor's ability to engage in successful smoking cessation? 3) Are there significant differences between current smokers with gender-based violence exposure and past smokers with gender-based violence exposure on the intrapersonal, interpersonal, organizational or community factors found to have significant associations from Research questions 1 and 2?

Materials and Methods

Recruitment and study design. Analysis for this project utilized data collected on the Women's Social Networks and Health study, one of four projects of the National Cancer Institute (NCI)-funded Appalachian Center for Population Health and Health Disparities P50 CA105632-06 grant. A random sample of adult women from Ohio Appalachia were recruited to participate in an observational, interview administered, cross-sectional survey using a two-phase address-based sampling approach.¹²⁵ A \$2 bill along with a letter of recruitment, household enumeration questionnaire, and stamped return envelope were sent to each randomly sampled household from a county specific U.S. Postal Service list. The letter requested for a completed household enumeration questionnaire to be returned in the envelope provided. From each returned questionnaire containing at least one eligible woman (i.e. 18 or older and residing in one of the three counties), one woman was randomly selected for participation in the study. A community-based interviewer, trained and hired by the university, called each selected participant and invited participation. If interested, a time for consent and interview was set. The University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) approved the study.

Interview Procedure. Study participants determined a private location at which the interview would take place. All interviewers were trained to implement an IRB approved trauma-informed distress protocol.¹³⁷ Interviewers obtained additional consent to proceed with the trauma-exposure questions, the last model of the survey, and used REDCap electronic data capture tools to record survey responses.¹⁶² Participants received a \$50 gift card and a list of county-specific women's health resources, if desired.

Measures. Demographic variables collected include: age (18-29, 30-49, and \geq 50 years); race (white vs. other); education (less than HS, HS diploma, General Educational Development (GED), and >high school diploma); annual household income; number, age and smoking status of people living at residence of participant; and health insurance

(private, government-assisted, or none). In addition, the following measures were collected and/or variables derived.

Abuse exposure measures included:

Sexual and/or Intimate Partner Gender-based Violence Type Exposure. Eight types of sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence²⁰⁴ were derived from questions modeled after those on the National Intimate and Sexual Violence Survey²-demeaning emotional abuse, fear invoking control, isolation, physical assault, medical restriction, and reproductive coercion by an intimate partner; and coerced and forced sexual abuse by an intimate partner or other.

Gender-based Sexual And Intimate Partner Violence Exposures Index Score (GBV Exposure Index). A participant was categorized into one of four GBV Exposure Index levels: No exposure, Low exposure (exposure to any one type of gender-based sexual and/or intimate partner violence), Moderate Exposure (exposure to any 2 to 6 types of gender-based sexual and/or intimate partner violence), or High Exposure (exposure to 7 or 8 types of gender-based sexual and/or intimate partner violence), range 0-3. If not expressly stated otherwise, the GBV Exposure Index variable is used throughout analysis to represent cumulative, graded exposure to sexual and/or intimate partner genderbased violence exposure.

Intrapersonal Smoking Variables included:

Smoking Status and consumption. Questions from the National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) and the National Cancer Institute-sponsored Tobacco Use Supplement to

the Current Population Survey were used to assess smoking status, consumption and age at first smoke. Participants were categorized as never smokers if they reported never having smoked 100 cigarettes in their lifetime; as former smokers if they had smoked 100 cigarettes in their lifetime but did not smoke now; and as current smokers if they had smoked 100 cigarettes in their lifetime and now smoke cigarettes every day or most days.^{139,140,177}

Nicotine Dependence and Heaviness of Smoking Index. for current smokers, using the Fagerström Test of Nicotine Dependence (FTND);^{141,142} a Nicotine Dependence composite score of 0-10 is compiled by adding points received based on responses to 6 questions. Questions with points assigned to each response option are as follows: 1. "How soon after you awake do you smoke your first cigarette?": Within 5 minutes (3 pts), 6-30 minutes (2 pts), 31-60 minutes (1 pt), after 30 minutes (0 pts). 2. "Do you find it difficult to refrain from smoking in places where it is forbidden?": Yes (1 pt)/No(0 pt). 3. Which cigarette would you hate to most give up?": The first one in the morning (1 pt)/All others (0 pts). 4. "How many cigarettes/day to you smoke?": 10 or less (0 pts), 11-20 (1 pt), 21-30 (2 pts), 31 or more (3 pts). Point values for questions 1 and 4 were summed to form the *Heaviness of Smoking Index*.

Quit attempts. Current smokers were asked, "In the past 12 months, how many times have you quit smoking for at least 24 hours?" Former smokers were asked, "In your entire life, how many times did you quit smoking for at least 24 hours in an attempt to quit smoking for good." ^{205,206}

Contextual Smoking Variables included:

Household composition and smoking status, needed to derive *density of current smokers in home environment*, were obtained using a series of questions regarding number of household members less than 14 years old, 14-18 years old, and 18+ years old and their smoking status. Questions were created for use in the Community Awareness, Resources and Education (CARE) series of studies. ^{55,172}

Social Influences on Smoking Cessation were assessed using van den Putte's 6factor scale; the scale captures information on explicit social influences, including verbal input to quit smoking (Explicit Verbal Norm) and offerings of information or help with cessation (Explicit Behavioral Norm) along with implicit social influences, including perceptions about how many other people smoke (Descriptive Social Norm), perceptions about how many other people quit smoking (Descriptive Quitting Norm), perception of acceptability of smoking, in general (Injunctive Norm), and perception of if other people think that the survey participant should quit smoking (Subjective Norm).²⁰⁷

Smoking policy at home and work. Household smoking rules and restrictions and workplace exposure and restrictions were assessed using Current Population Survey (tobacco supplement) measures.¹⁴⁰ For purposes of analysis, response options were dichotomized, with no smoking allowed anywhere in the home/public areas at work versus smoking being allowed anywhere or at some times and in some places in the home/public areas at work.

Other contextual variables with the potential to impact smoking cessation:

Perceived Stress Scale (PSS).¹⁴⁸

Loneliness measured using the Three Item Loneliness Scale.¹⁴⁹

Alcohol use using the CAGE questions. A cut point of 2 or higher was used to designate abusive alcohol consumption. ^{143,144}

Depressive symptomology as measured by the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression scale (CES-D).¹⁷⁸ A cut point of \geq 16 was used to indicate high depression symptoms of clinical concern.

Adult Socioeconomic Position (SEP). A woman's adult socioeconomic position was defined as high if the participant met the following three requirements: 1) a poverty income ratio above the sample's median cutoff point; 2) private health insurance, and 3) education >high school diploma. If the participant did not meet these three requirements, adult SEP was defined as low.⁵⁵

Social support of friends, family, and partner using the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS).¹⁵²⁻¹⁵⁴

Discrimination using the Detroit Area Study Discrimination Scale (DAS-DQ).¹⁵⁵

Perception of Social Status from the MacArthur Scale of Subjective Social Status.¹⁶⁰ Participants are asked to rank their position, by pointing to one rung on a 10 rung ladder, for both their 1) perceived standing in their community (community ladder) and 2) perceived financial standing compared to others in the United States (SES ladder).¹⁶⁰ Subjective social status within the community is scored from 1 to 10 on the community ladder, with 1 indicating the participant pointed to the lowest rung on the ladder and 10 indicating the participant pointed to the highest rung on the ladder. Subjective social economic status is also scored from 1 to 10 on the SES ladder following the same rules for the community ladder.

Social Participation eliciting group and society activity involvement in the past twelve month, using a social participation scale developed by Hanson et al.¹⁵⁶ The social participation index lists 13 items and asks participants to indicate if they have or have not participated in the activity in the past 12 months. If a participant indicates they have participated in three or less activities, their social participation is classified as low.¹⁵⁷

Neighborhood Cohesion using adapted measures from the Community Counts Survey.^{158,159}

Statistical analysis. All data cleaning and analysis was performed in SAS, Version 9.3.¹⁶⁴ A combination of correlation analyses and test for trends were performed to answer research questions including: Spearman Rank, Chi-square, Cochran-Armitage, and Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney.

Results

Response rate. Response rates were calculated based on the RR1 AAPOR formula. ¹⁸¹ The response rate for household enumeration was 44.4%. Four hundred and eight women completed interviews, resulting in a 71.0% participation rate.¹⁶⁷ Analysis for this study was limited to the 398 women (97.5% of total sample) with complete sexual and intimate partner violence exposure questions.

Sample characteristics (n=398). Among the entire study sample, 226 (58.8%) were classified as never smokers, 92 (23.1%) as former smokers, and 80 (20.1%) as current smokers. The sample was primarily White (96.5%), 50 years of age or older (55.0%), and married (66.1%). All sample participants identified as women (100%). With a median Income to Poverty Ratio of 2.65, only 15.1% of the sample lived at or below 100% of the poverty threshold based on age and household size. Overall, 56.5% reported exposure to at least one form of intimate partner and/or sexual gender-based violence at some point in their life with 31.4% reporting demeaning emotion abuse, 40.5% reporting fear invoking control, 43.7% reporting isolation, 20.9% reporting physical assault, 6.0% reporting medical restriction, and 9.3% reporting reproductive coercion by an intimate partner. In addition, 22.4% reported coerced sexual abuse and 22.9% reported forced sexual abuse by an intimate partner or other. While 42.5% reported no exposure to any of these 8 forms of sexual and/or intimate partner genderbased violence, 12.6% reported exposure to one form of abuse (GBV Index Score=Low Exposure), 38.2% reported exposure to 2 to 6 types of abuse (GBV Index Score=Moderate Exposure) and 5.8% reported exposure to 7 or 8 types of abuse (GBV Index Score=High Exposure). The percentage of non-smokers (a combination of never and former smokers) by Gender-based Violence Exposure Index (GBV Exposure Index) Score can be found in Figure 4.



FIGURE 4. PERCENTAGE OF NON-SMOKERS AND CURRENT SMOKERS BY GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE EXPOSURE INDEX (GBV EXPOSURE INDEX) SCORE

Research question 1: Associations between intrapersonal and contextual smoking related variables and GBV Exposure Index level are presented in **Table 8**. Whereas, no association was found between intrapersonal smoking related variables and gender-based violence cumulative exposure, many of the contextual smoking related variables had a significant linear relationship with sexual and/or intimate partner violence gender-based violence exposure as represented by the GBV Exposure Index. Density of current smokers in the home environment, both taking into account everyone living in the home ($r_s = 0.26$, p = < .0001) and only those 18 and older ($r_s = 0.27$, p = < .0001), is associated with gender-based sexual and/or intimate partner

violence exposure--becoming more dense with increasing GBV Exposure Index score. Restrictive smoking policy at home is also significantly associated with gender-based violence ($x^2(3) = 12.95$, p = 0.005)—86.61% of women with no gender-based violence exposure report a smoking ban within their home versus only 65.22% of women with high exposure to gender-based violence. In regard to social influences on smoking among the study sample, with increasing gender-based violence exposure women are more likely to perceive a higher number of people quitting smoking in the environment (Descriptive Quitting Norm, $r_s = 0.11$, p = .03). Those with exposure are also more likely to perceive smoking to be acceptable in society (Injunctive Norm, $r_s = 0.13$, p = .01). Women smokers with higher gender-based violence exposures are also more often told directly that they should quit smoking (Explicit Verbal Norm, $r_s = 0.30$, p = .0122) while also perceiving fewer smokers in their environment

(Descriptive Smoking Norm, $r_s = -0.27$, p =< .0001). People offering to help or provide information about cessation (Explicit behavioral norm) and perception by the smoker as to if people think she should quit smoking (subjective norm) were not related to the GBV Exposure Index score. Among the entire study sample, cumulative genderbased violence was not associated with smoking policies at work. Among current smokers, no associations were found for any of the intrapersonal smoking factors including: 24 hour quit attempts in the past 12 months, nicotine dependence or heaviness of smoking. Among ever smokers, gender-based violence exposure also was

TABLE 8. ASSOCIATION BETWEEN GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE EXPOSURE (GBV EXPOSURE INDEX) AND CONTEXTUAL SMOKING VARIABLES

	Gender-	based Violence				
	No	Low	Moderate	High		
	exposure	exposure	exposure	exposure		
	-	(Î type)	(2-6 types)	(7-8 types)		
	N=173	N=50	N=152	N=23		
					Correlation	
	mean (sd)	mean (sd)	mean (sd)	mean (sd)	<i>Coefficient</i> ^a	p-value
Contextual Smoking Variables						
(among Study Sample)						
Density of current smokers in home	0.10(0.22)	0.14(0.25)	0.21(0.31)	0.36(0.33)	0.25653	<.0001****
environment						
Density of current smokers among all	0.12(0.27)	0.18(0.32)	0.27(0.37)	0.53(0.44)	0.26850	<.0001****
those 18 and older in home environment						
Social Influences on smoking cessation						
Descriptive Quitting Norm (n=382)	0.40(0.65)	0.40(0.61)	0.47(0.64)	0.77(0.81)	0.11290	0.0274*
Injunctive Norm (n=396)	7.73(2.53)	8.18(2.75)	8.42(2.59)	8.22(2.26)	0.12732	0.0112*
Intrapersonal Smoking Variables						
(among Current Smokers)						
24 hour quit attempts in the past 12	5.27(13.51)	8.29(19.31)	5.56(24.52)	2.15(4.00)	-0.02231	0.8493
months $(n=75)$			2 2 2 2 2 2 2			
Nicotine Dependence (FTND) $(n=72)$	3.53(2.10)	2.88(2.23)	3.89(2.36)	3.31(2.39)	0.00473	0.9685
Heaviness of Smoking Index (n=78)	2.25(1.39)	1.88(1.73)	2.38(1.48)	2.07(1.59)	0.00046	0.9968
Contextual Smoking Variables						
(among Current Smokers)						
Social Influences on smoking cessation	1 (7(1,40)	1 50(1 21)	0.40(1.47)	0.71(1.00)	0.07000	0.0400*
Explicit verbal norm (n=80)	1.67(1.46)	1.50(1.31)	2.43(1.47)	2.71(1.20)	0.27903	0.0122*
Explicit behavioral norm (n=80)	0.44(0.78)	0.63(1.06)	0.85(1.10)	1.07(1.38)	0.16469	0.1443
Descriptive Smoking Norm (n=80)	9.90(2.19)	9.56(2.35)	8.70(2.75)	7.75(2.26)	-0.27331	<.0001****
Subjective Norm (n=77)	4.63(1.02)	4.88(0.35)	4.79(0.57)	4.71(0.61)	-0.01596	0.8904
Intrapersonal Smoking Variables						
(among Current and Past Smokers)	17.00(2.51)	10 (2)((02)	10 (0(0.01)	16 88 (5 88)		
Age of first smoke (n=1/2)	17.98(3.51)	18.63(6.02)	18.68(8.91)	16.82(5.28)	-0.09147	0.2327
Intrapersonal Smoking Variable						
(among Past Smokers)	2 15(2 22)	2 01 (2 17)	2 0 6 (2 0 5)	1 00(0 00)	0.04604	0.0500
# of quit attempts before successful $(n=01)$	3.15(2.33)	2.91(2.17)	3.06(2.05)	1.00(0.00)	-0.04684	0.6593
cessation (n=91)				-	261623	- ,
	%	%	%	%	$x^2(df)^{\circ}$	p-value
Contextual Smoking Variables						
(among Study Sample)					12 0454(2)	0 00 40**
Smoking policy at nome	06.74		72.27	65.00	12.9451(3)	0.0048***
No smoking anywhere in home	86.71	80.00	/2.3/	65.22		
Smoking allowed anywhere or at some	13.29	20.00	27.63	34.78		
times and in some places within						
nome						
Smoking policy at work (p=247)					0,7022(2)	0.8724
Not allowed in public gross	06.92	06 15	05.00	100.00	0.7035(3)	0.8724
Allowed in some public areas	2 1 7	30.13	95.00	100.00		
Anowed in some public areas	3.17	3.85	5.00	0.00		

^aSpearman's Rank Correlation coefficient (r_5) calculated for ordinal and continuous variables. ^aChi-square test performed for categorical variables. Significance Level: * α < .05, ** α < .01, **** α < .001, **** α < .0001

not associated with age of first smoke, pack years smoked; and among past smokers, to number of quit attempts before successful cessation.

Research question 2: Associations between gender-based violence exposure and nonspecific smoking variables are found in **Table 9**. Cumulative sexual and intimate partner gender-based violence exposure is associated with many contextual variables that could impact ability to access and successfully complete the process of smoking cessation. In relation to **intrapersonal variables**, perceived stress ($r_s = 0.26$, p = < .0001) and loneliness ($r_s = 0.19$, p = < .0001) both intensify with gender-based violence exposure index level, as does high depressive symptomology (Z=-5.70, p= < .0001) and low adult socioeconomic position (Z=-2.36, p=0.0184). High alcohol use also has an increasing linear relationship with increasing cumulative gender-based violence abuse exposure (Z=-2.28, p=0.0241); however, high levels of alcohol use are relatively rare in the sample. Race, in this predominately white sample, was not associated with GBV Exposure Index Score.

Most **contextual variables**, as well, had strong linear relationships to GBV Exposure Index level. Total Multidimensional Score of Perceived Social Support ($r_s = -0.18, p = 0.0003$), along with the Significant Other Social Support Subscale ($r_s = -0.14, p = 0.0065$), and the Family Social Support Subscale ($r_s = -0.21, p = < .0001$), significantly decreased with increase in gender-based violence exposure index level. The Friend Social Support Subscale did not show a significant trend ($r_s = -0.09$,
TABLE 9. ASSOCIATION BETWEEN GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE EXPOSURE AND SOCIO-CONTEXTUAL VARIABLES

		Gender-based Violence Exposures Index Level					
		No	Low	Moderate	High		
		exposure	exposure (1 type)	exposure (2-6 types)	exposure (7-8 types)		
		N=173	N=50	N=152	N=23		
						Correlation	
		mean (sd)	mean (sd)	mean (sd)	mean (sd)	<i>Coefficient</i> ^a	p-value
	Intrapersonal Variables						1
	Perceived Stress Scale	17.24 (6.43)	19.34 (7.15)	21.26 (8.44)	25.43 (10.25)	0.25989	<.0001****
	Loneliness	3.60 (1.04)	3.90 (1.05)	4.27 (1.50)	4.70 (1.82)	0.19403	<.0001****
	Interpersonal Variables Multidimensional Scale of Perceived						
	Social Support						0.000000000
	TOTAL	72.68 (9.88)	72.02 (9.55)	69.16 (11.96)	63.17 (14.32)	-0.17864	0.0003***
	Significant Other Subscale	25.02 (3.70)	25.14 (3.55)	23.98 (4.04)	22.96 (5.69)	-0.13623	0.0065**
	Family Subscale	24.38 (3.43)	23.50 (3.96)	22.53 (4.89)	19.17 (7.40)	-0.21498	<.0001 ****
	Friend Subscale	23.28 (3.93)	23.38 (3.45)	22.66 (4.53)	21.04 (5.51)	-0.09184	0.0672
	Discrimination						
	Daily Mistreatment (n=396)	5.42 (5.72)	6.66 (4.76)	8.00 (6.03)	11.65 (6.26)	0.28384	<.0001****
	Lifetime History of Discrimination (n=397)	0.41 (0.68)	0.64 (0.78)	0.97 (1.13)	1.74 (1.14)	0.33541	<.0001****
	Recent Discrimination (n=185)	0.45 (0.69)	0.35 (0.57)	0.26 (0.49)	0.70 (1.13)	-0.03750	0.6123
10	Perception of Social Status						
S.	In relation to your community (202)	6 11 (1 01)	E 96 (1 E9)	5 50 (2.00)	5 57 (2 22)	0.00056	0.0496*
01	In relation to your community (n=393)	6.11 (1.91)	5.22 (1.38)	3.39 (2.09)	3.37 (2.23)	-0.09938	- 0001****
	In relation to others in United States	5.45 (1.57)	5.22 (1.33)	4.76 (1.66)	3.96 (1.40)	-0.24065	<.0001****
	Organizational Variables						
	Social Participation (n=379)	5.93 (2.20)	6.66 (2.42)	5.99 (2.49)	5.35 (2.55)	0.01044	0.8357
	Neighborhood/community Variable						
	Neighborhood Cohesion (n=393)	21.41(3.20)	21.32 (2.74)	19.75 (3.91)	19.04 (4.92)	-0.21349	<.0001****
-		%	%	%	%	Z^{b}	2 sided p-value
	Intrapersonal Variables						0.00.1115
	Alcohol use (n=397)	0 - 60		~~ ~~		-2.2763	0.0241**
	CAGE <2	97.69	93.88	90.79	95.65		
	$CAGE \ge 2$	2.31	6.12	9.21	4.35		
	Depression (n=394)					-5.7033	<.0001****
	CES D < 16	91.76	92.00	72.85	52.17		
	$CES_D >= 16$	8.12	8.00	27.15	47.83		
	Race						
	White	96 53	98.00	95 39	100.00	0.0321	0 5364 ^{c,d}
	Other	3 47	2.00	4.61	0.00	0.0321	0.3304
	o u.o.	2.47	2.00	4.01	0.00		
	Interpersonal Variable						
	Adult Socioeconomic Position					2.3581	0.0184*
	High	40.88	34.69	32.65	13.64		
	Low	59.12	65 31	67 35	86.36		

p = 0.0672). Daily mistreatment doubled and lifetime history of discrimination quadrupled when moving from women with no gender-based violence exposure to those with high exposure, showing a significant and graded association to cumulative gender-based violence exposure across all categories (daily mistreatment $r_s =$ 0.28, p = < .0001; lifetime history of discrimination $r_s = 0.34, p = < .0001$). Recent discrimination was not linearly associated with cumulative gender-based violence exposure, however. Perception of social status in relationship to the community $(r_s = -0.10, p = 0.0486)$ and in relation to others in the United States $(r_s =$ -0.24, p = < .000) both significantly decreased in relationship to an increase in cumulative gender-based violence exposure. Perception of neighborhood cohesion also decreased with increasing gender-based violence exposure ($r_s = -0.21, p = <$.0001). Social participation was the only contextual variable not showing a linear relationship to cumulative gender-based violence exposure.

Research question 3: Socio-contextual differences between current and past smokers with gender-based violence exposure histories are found in **Table 10**. All analysis for this research question was limited to ever smokers (former versus current) reporting at least one type of sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence exposure at some point in their life. **Intrapersonal variables.** Although there was a higher concentration of lower adult socioeconomic position among current smokers $(x^2(df) = 4.3107(1), p=0.0379)$, perceived stress was lower among current smokers than former smokers (U=4181.5, one-sided p=0.0217). Loneliness, alcohol use, and

depressive symptomology were not significantly different between current and former smokers with gender-based violence exposure histories. Interpersonal variables. There was significantly more women reporting fear invoking control exposure among current smokers (82.3%) in comparison to former smokers (75.0%) (U=4236.0 one-sided p=0.0267). There were no other significant differences between current and former smokers on abuse type or cumulative abuse variables. In addition, perceived social support by significant others, family, and friends were also not found to be significantly different by group. However, whereas only 35.5% of current smokers reported a complete smoking ban within the home, 85.9% of former smokers reported a complete smoking ban, a significant difference $(x^2(df) = 33.73(1), p < .0001)$. Whereas there was no significant difference between former and current smokers regarding descriptive quitting norms, current smokers were significantly more likely to have a higher perception of the acceptability of smoking, in general (Injunctive Norm) (U=4833.0, p<.0001). Neighborhood/Community & Societal variables. Neighborhood cohesion was not significantly different by group. Notably, however, women with gender-based violence exposure who are current smokers, in comparison to former smokers, reported lower perception of social status in relation to the community (U=3594.0, p=0.0026), and in relation to the United States (U=4542.5, p=0.0010), and also reported higher daily mistreatment (U=4211.0, p=0.0345) and higher lifetime history of discrimination (U=4542.5, p=0.0010).

97

	Former	Current		
	Smokers with	Smokers with		
	Gender-based	Gender-based		
	Violence	Violence		
	Exposure	Exposure		
	Listory	Listory		
	(N=64)	(N=62)		
	(11-04)	(IN-02)		0 0.1 1
				One-Sided
	mean (sd)	mean (sd)	U	$Pr > Z^{a}$
Intrapersonal Variables				
Perceived Stress Scale	23 34(8 01)	20 46(8 87)	4181 5	0.0217 *
i ciccivca birosi boulo	25.5 ((0.01)	20.10(0.07)	1101.0	0.0217
T 1'	1 22(1 (0)	4.04(1.00)	1020 5	0.2014
Loneliness	4.33(1.66)	4.24(1.28)	4038.5	0.3014
Interpersonal Variables				
# of Types of Gender-based Violence exposed to	3 55(1 88)	4 13(2 30)	4178.0	0 1177
(range:1.8)	5.00(1.00)			0.11//
(lange.1-8)				
	0.001(0.01=)	0.02((0.240)	1000	0.1005
Intimate Partner Psychological Abuse	0.891(0.315)	0.936(0.248)	4026.0	0.1885
Demeaning Emotional Abuse	0.609(0.492)	0.581(0.498)	3880.0	0.3729
Fear Invoking Control	0.672(0.473)	0.823(0.385)	4236.0	0.0267*
Isolation	0.750(0.426)	0.823(0.385)	4081.0	0.1622
Intimate Danta on Dhamical Alassa	0.750(0.420)	0.023(0.503)	4219.0	0.1022
Intimate Partner Physical Abuse	0.391(0.492)	0.552(0.505)	4218.0	0.0564
Physical Assault	0.375(0.488)	0.516(0.504)	4217.0	0.0565
Medical Restriction	0.078(0.271)	0.161(0.371)	4102.0	0.0762
Sexual Abuse Types by an Intimate Partner or Other	0.672(0.473)	0.645(0.483)	3884.0	0.3775
Reproductive Coercion (intimate partner)	0.156(.366)	0.226(0.422)	4075.0	0.1619
Consol Consol Abuse (intimate partner)	0.150(0.300)	0.220(0.122)	4001.0	0.1019
Coerced Sexual Abuse (intimate partner or other)	0.406(0.495)	0.484(0.504)	4091.0	0.1921
Forced Sexual Abuse (intimate partner or other)	0.500(.504)	0.516(0.504)	3969.0	0.4296
Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support				
TOTAL	68 13(12 93)	66 85(12 86)	3793 5	0 2423
Significant Other Subsects	22.90(4.19)	22.45(4.20)	2700.0	0.2423
	23.09(4.10)	25.45(4.29)	3790.0	0.2342
Family Subscale	21.83(5.58)	21.58(5.78)	3891.5	0.4125
Friend Subscale	22.41(4.75)	21.82(5.28)	3801.5	0.2811
			3691.5	
Social Influences on smoking cessation				
Description Oriting Norm	0.40(0.52)	0.52(0.72)	40.49.0	0 2000
Descriptive Quitting Norm	0.40(0.55)	0.53(0.72)	4048.0	0.2088
Injunctive Norm	8.14(2.41)	9.92(1.84)	4833.0	<.0001****
Neighborhood/Community Variables				
Neighborhood Cohesion	19.98(4.02)	1952(422)	3594.0	0 2618
reightothtotu concellon	19.90(1.02)	19.32(1.22)	5571.0	0.2010
Perception of Social Status				
In relation to your community	5.67(2.24)	4.71(1.66)	3594.0	0.0026**
In relation to others in United States	4.88(1.56)	3.84(1.44)	3117.5	<.0001****
Societal Variables				
Discrimination		0.07(5.51)	1011.0	0.0015
Daily Mistreatment	7.56(7.03)	8.97(5.71)	4211.0	0.0345*
Lifetime History of Discrimination	0.81 (1.01)	1.45(1.24)	4542.5	0.0010*

TABLE 10. SOCIO-CONTEXTUAL DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CURRENT AND PAST SMOKERS WITH GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE **EXPOSURE HISTORIES**

continued

Table #10 continued			
	%(n)	%(n)	$x^2(df)^a$ <i>p</i> -value
Intrapersonal Variables			
Alcohol use			0.4050(1) 0.5245
CAGE <2	92.1(58)	88.7(55)	
CAGE >=2	7.9(5)	11.3(7)	
Depression (n=394)			2.3486(1) 0.1254
CES D <16	75.0(48)	62.3(38)	
$CES_D >= 16$	25.0(16)	37.7(23)	
Adult Socioeconomic Position			4.3107(1) 0.0379*
High	24.2(15)	10.0 (6)	
Low	75.8(47)	90.0(54)	
Interpersonal Variables			-
Smoking policy at home			33.73(1) <.0001****
No smoking anywhere in home	85.9(55)	35.5(22)	
Smoking allowed anywhere or at some times and in some places within home	14.1(9)	64.5(40)	

^aWilcoxon-Mann-Whitney test performed for ordinal and continuous variables. Chi-square test performed for categorical variables.

Discussion

Because of the power differences at play in most intimate partner and sexual violence abuse situations,⁹⁸ and the unique safety concerns for those currently in abusive relationships in rural settings,²⁰⁸ the social context of a gender-based violence survivor's smoking behaviors and cessation attempts must be considered in the adaptation of cessation programs to this population.^{105,202} Although this is especially true for those currently in abusive relationships, this investigation has demonstrated that current context may play a role in the smoking behaviors of those with past, cumulative abuse exposures, as well, given this exposures associations with contextual variables, including smoking specific variables.

Social context and smoking among women exposed to gender-based violence. Novel findings from this study suggest that graded gender-based violence exposure to increasing types of abuse(i.e. GBV Index Score) is significantly associated with smoking related variables in a survivor's environment including higher likelihood of being told directly to stop smoking (Explicit Verbal Norm), increasing perception that more people in their environment smoke (Descriptive Smoking Norm), and less restrictive home smoking bans. Many non-smoking specific social contextual variables at the interpersonal, neighborhood/community, and societal levels, as well, were significantly associated to GBV Exposure Index level, and may be compromising a gender-based violence survivor's ability to access or successfully complete a cessation program. Social support, in general, and by significant other and family, each decreased with increasing gender-based violence exposure; in addition perception of neighborhood cohesion, including willingness of neighbors to offer support, along with perceived social status within the community and within the United States decreased with increasing genderbased violence exposure. Conversely, mistreatment on a daily basis, as well as lifetime exposure to discrimination, increased with increasing level of gender-based violence exposure.

Whereas social support wasn't different by group, several key interpersonal factors were different between current and former smokers with gender-based violence exposure histories. Current smokers were significantly more likely to have a higher perception of the acceptability of smoking, in general. Concerning abuse specific

variables, fear invoking control exposure was high among both groups, but even more so among current smokers. In addition, there was a stark difference in prohibitions of smoking within the home—whereas only 7 out of 20 current smokers with genderbased violence exposure histories reported a home policy of no smoking anywhere in the home, 17 out of 20 former smokers with gender-based violence exposure reported such a ban.

The social environment of survivors must be considered when developing smoking cessation interventions. No known study has evaluated the impact of social context on smoking cessation for women survivors of gender-based violence, or those in currently abusive relationships. Although it appears that interventions to modify home smoking policies, for instance, may promote cessation among survivors of violence, it is critical to understand safety concerns that may arise for any survivor of intimate partner violence or sexual assault seeking to change contextual factors in the course of tobacco cessation treatment. Control is central to the abuse process,^{98,209} so the development of a cessation intervention should take into account the client's perspective on the modifiability of these contextual factors, and any compromises to safety that may come as a result of trying to enact such change.

In addition, those seeking to promote cessation among survivors of genderbased violence would benefit from lessons learned regarding the social environment of women exposed to intimate partner violence as it relates to mental health. Prior

101

findings suggest that: 1) empathetic, non-judgmental support promotes mental health in women who have violent partners and talking about the abuse in a caring environment fosters mental health promotion; 2) criticism by peers was higher among battered women who had more social contact with other battered women, therefore advocates trained in non-critical support and communication might be the best deliverers of effective interventions; 3) practical aid, rather than emotional support, provided greatest benefit to mental health—so assisting with the hassles of daily living and complexities that come with abuse, and removing barriers for accessing services, should be considered priority for agencies serving survivors; and 4) the greatest benefit to mental health came through positive relationships with women who weren't in abusive relationships, as well--so assisting survivors in locating new sources of support in order to diversity their network of support to include more women who have not been battered is recommended practice when working with women who have violent partners.²¹⁰

Although the afore mentioned study focused exclusively on mental health promotion among women with violent partners, the lessons learned may serve as potential moderators impacting a gender-based violence exposed women's ability to fully engage with a smoking cessation intervention. Focusing on non-judgmental, empathetic, and trauma-informed methods of intervention with this population may be critical, as well, since women with gender-based violence exposure who are current smokers, in comparison to former smokers, reported lower perception of social status in 102 relation to the community and in relation to the United States, lower adults socioeconomic position, and also reported higher daily mistreatment and higher lifetime history of discrimination. Further research is needed to understand how addressing directly the unique smoking specific contextual factors that are heightened in the environment of women who are exposed to gender-based violence, while attending to safety concerns,²¹¹ might aid in tobacco cessation efforts among women exposed to gender-based violence.

Intrapersonal factors and smoking among women exposed to gender-based violence. Given this social context, it is understandable that this study demonstrated increased stress, loneliness, depressive symptomology and alcohol abuse all significantly intensify with increasing gender-based violence cumulative exposure. Although it should be noted that only perceived stress differed significantly when comparing current and former smokers with gender-based violence exposure. Offering new insight, current smokers reporting gender-based violence exposure histories had less perceived stress than former smokers—which supports the notion that smoking helps survivors cope with stress and that quitting removes a helpful stress reducing coping mechanism. Despite this potential explanation, this finding is difficult to interpret in light of current literature, and warrants qualitative probing among current and former smokers with gender-based violence exposure in regards to the source of the perceived stress. A finding of higher stress among former smokers in comparison to current smokers appears to be in direct opposition to the one study published on perceived stress and

cessation.²¹² Hajek et. al found that smoking cessation lowered perceived stress one year post cessation among highly dependent smokers who reported smoking helped them cope with stress at baseline; however, the cohort Hajek studied were smokers admitted to hospital following a myocardial infarction or for coronary artery bypass surgery.²¹² It is unknown if the population Hajek studied was under the type of chronic stress which can consume the lives of gender-based violence survivors.

The finding of heightened perceived stress among former versus current smokers with gender-based violence exposure more likely adds to a growing support for the stress-vulnerability model of addiction^{187,188} which posits that cumulative stress over time leads to a persistent homeostatic dysregulation and cumulative physiological response altering brain motivational and self-control pathways; this process ultimately leads to higher impulsivity among those experiencing cumulative stress, and makes one less likely to resist smoking in the face of future stress.^{187,188,213} Those experiencing cumulative stress also perceive greater satisfaction and find greater reward in smoking.²¹³ While impulsivity, a product of the physiologic response to stress, has been found to partially mediate the relationship between cumulative adversity and smoking status.²¹⁴ A recent case control study noted that in comparison to controls, alexithymia (the ability to regulate emotion) and depressive symptoms were negatively correlated with the ability to cope with stress for women exposed to intimate partner violence.¹⁸⁶ Although it should be noted that there were no significant differences in this study between current and former smokers on depression, the percentage of women with

increased depressive symptomology was higher among current smokers in comparison to former smokers. Extant literature demonstrates that regardless of depression status, smokers show decreases in negative affect while smoking; however, the relative reinforcing effects of smoking and the impact of smoking on reward and positive affect regulation when smoking after abstinence are only experienced by depression prone smokers.²¹⁵ If smoking is one way in which survivors of intimate partner and sexual violence are coping with stress, and given the high concentration of perceived stress and depression among women with moderate and high gender-based violence exposure histories, then smoking cessation programs that address positive affect regulation and self-control may be beneficial in helping gender-based survivors quit smoking. In addition, it should be noted that cumulative intimate partner violence exposure increases posttraumatic stress (note: not the type of stress specifically measured in the study),²¹⁶ and that posttraumatic stress partially mediates drug use.²¹⁷ The same mediation process may be at work with cumulative gender-based violence exposure, post-traumatic stress, and smoking.

Given the current state of the literature, it is plausible to hypothesize that the cumulative stress that women exposed to increasing types of intimate partner and sexual violence experience is leading to a coping response in which alexithymia is blunted, impulsivity increases, and depression takes hold; where the perceived rewards and satisfaction from smoking are increased along with the regulation of affect, in particular positive affect, especially among those with depression; and where the

105

proclivity to relapse is heightened in the face of changed self-control pathways and continued stress. Further investigation into the relationship between stress regulation, impulsivity, alexithymia, perception of stress, depression, positive affect regulation, learning to manage fear invoking control as part of the abuse process, and smoking among women exposed to a range of sexual and/or intimate partner violence is warranted to more fully understand this relationship and its potential impact on the smoking cessation process for women with gender-based violence exposure histories.

Limitations. There are limitations impacting study findings and interpretation. First, cross-sectional data cannot be used to determine temporality—and this complicates interpretations regarding socio-contextual factors impacting the process of cessation. Although this study highlighted potential factors that might be operating through the process of smoking cessation for women exposed to sexual and intimate partner violence, further modeling and longitudinal investigations are warranted to determine the cluster of factors which might be best to target in a smoking cessation intervention for this vulnerable population. Second, it is probable that both smokers and survivors of sexual and intimate partner violence were under-represented in this study sample (while the population estimate for women smokers in the Appalachian region is 32%, only 20% of this study sample were current smokers). ^{53,54,97} Current and former smokers and those women reporting gender-based violence exposure histories represented in the sample may be different than ever smokers and women exposed to gender-based violence on critical elements that should also be taken into 106

account when working with this population through the process of cessation. These results should be considered a first attempt at understanding the context of smoking behaviors for women who have ever smoked who also report gender-based violence exposure. Finally, a limitation of this study and critical element missing from the interpretation of the data, in particular, is the perspective of women smokers who have also experienced gender-based violence. Survivors of gender-based violence, both those within currently abusive relationships, or with contact with their perpetrators, along with those with past abuse, need to be asked directly about their primary concerns, and what they see as the primary barriers to quitting smoking. It is possible that factors not identified through survey research might surface as critical elements for this vulnerable population. It's possible that "feeling less pain," or "dealing with social misperceptions of what happened," or "just getting through the day" would rise to the top as critical concerns for survivors—smoking cessation, indeed, may be very low on the list of immediate concerns. This is understandable given the extensive ramifications which come with gender-based violence victimization. Further qualitative investigation is necessary to tease out other mediating mechanisms, not identified here, that might need to be directly addressed concurrently with tobacco cessation in order for this population to fully engage with behavioral interventions and succeed at cessation. Despite these limitations, this is the first known study that quantifies social and contextual factors that may impact the high rate of smoking among women exposed to

107

gender-based violence, and may moderate a woman's ability to move successfully through a smoking cessation process.

Conclusions

Health disparate outcomes among women exposed to gender-based violence are not inevitable and can be greatly reduced if health professionals seek to understand how to meet the needs of survivors within the course of behavioral treatments. A key aspect of this tailoring process must include widening the focus of intervention to not just the individual, but to the survivor's environment, where more may be out of their control than within it. In the book Counseling to End Violence Against Women, Whalen proposes that the process of helping survivors of gender-based violence heal must include not only individual counseling, but counseling that connects survivors to the larger social justice work of ending violence against women, including addressing social context which condones and even promotes such violence.²¹⁸ Findings from this study suggest, in fact, that it may be factors within a survivor's environment causing stress—a culture tolerant of gender-based violence, discrimination, social economic standing, and smoking bans within the home—which must be addressed in concert with intrapersonal factors, like self-control and affect regulation, to help this vulnerable population succeed in smoking cessation.

Smoking, the leading cause of preventable mortality and morbidity, is particularly high among survivors of intimate partner and sexual violence. And current

women smokers, in Ohio Appalachia in particular, are also overwhelmingly survivors of intimate partner and/or sexual violence. The inquiry in to how best help women smokers exposed to gender-based violence move through successful cessation is nothing short of health justice work, and will take the collective attention and commitment of both those within the health professions with knowledge of nicotine addiction and cessation alongside community-based advocacy organizations that have been working with survivors of gender-based violence for decades.

Chapter 5: Aim 3 Manuscript Measuring sexual and intimate partner gender-based violence in health settings: transcending the three construct model predominant in public health research and practice

ABSTRACT

Objective: To determine a set of mechanistic gender-based violence constructs for use in abuse assessment among an underserved population in the Appalachian region where gender-based violence exposure is pervasive and health care access is limited.

Methods: Adult women selected through household random sampling in rural Appalachia completed an in-person interview containing 22 gender-based violence exposure questions (n=398). Confirmatory factor analysis was used to determine if gender-based violence data's variance and covariance was best explained in modeling psychological abuse as 1 or 3 constructs; physical abuse as 1 or 2 constructs; and sexual abuse as 1 or 3 constructs.

Results: Model fit significantly improved in all cases when moving from a one construct to a multi-factorial modeling of the gender-based violence exposure data when using scaled normal-theory weighted least-squares difference testing (psychological abuse: $\chi^2_{(3)} = 8.42$, p = 0.038; physical abuse: $\chi^2_{(1)} = 4.62$, p = 0.032; sexual abuse: $\chi^2_{(3)} = 10.23$, p = 0.017.) **Conclusions:** Results support the use of an 8 construct assessment of sexual and intimate partner gender-based violence including demeaning emotional abuse, fear invoking control, isolation, physical assault, medical restriction, and reproductive coercion by an intimate partner in addition to coerced and forced sexual abuse by an intimate partner or other.

Introduction

Gender-based sexual and intimate partner violence is a significant public health issue leading to increased morbidity and mortality.^{1,2} Twenty percent of U.S. women will be the target of sexual victimization by forced sexual assault, alcohol or drug facilitated assault or attempted rape and 36-44% will be targeted for sexual, physical or psychological abuse by an intimate partner.^{2,3,219} Women with sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence exposure histories experience diminished health outcomes,^{74-78,81-83,220,221} despite higher healthcare utilization and higher healthcare costs.⁸⁴⁻⁹⁴ Proximal intimate partner abuse can result in 42% higher health care costs, annually,⁸⁵ whereas distal exposure can elevate annual costs 16-19% depending on abuse type.^{84,85}

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act now includes intimate partner violence screening and counseling as a covered preventive services.²²² In addition, in 2013, reversing its 2004 decision, the U.S. Preventative Services Task Force (USPSTF) now recommends that all women of child bearing age be screened for intimate partner violence in healthcare settings and referred to intervention services, such as counseling, home visits, and community support services provided by health care clinicians, social workers and community workers.¹⁹⁶ Despite this, there are limitations in the recommendation in reference to the screening of other vulnerable populations, including those living with mental, physical, or developmental disability, or elders. In

addition, there are no national standards regarding healthcare setting screening for past sexual violence exposure outside of an intimate relationship.¹⁹⁶

Despite the fact that women who experience gender-based violence are at increased likelihood to use healthcare services, evidence suggests that the underlying abuse predisposing them to deleterious health related impact is not detected and/or addressed in ways most helpful to victims in healthcare settings.¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹¹ In addition, women staying in shelter resulting from intimate partner violence cited partners' restriction of access to needed health care services.¹¹² This suggests that even though women who experience sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence access health care at elevated rates in comparison to non-abused women, needed health services may be at even more elevated rates than that which is currently documented in research due to medical restriction by abusive partners. Medical restriction is a type of abuse not normally asked about in traditional screening tools.

In 2006, the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention published a compendium of tools that can be used to assess various forms of intimate partner violence in a wide variety of settings.^{223,224} In support of the 2013 USPSTF recommendation, Nelson et al. published a systematic review of the literature on intimate partner violence screening tools for health based settings.²²⁵ The assessment tools referred to in both situations focus primarily on two or three of the predominant forms of intimate partner violence referenced in public health literature: physical, sexual, and psychological abuse. This three construct paradigm is prominent in current

screening tools and measurement of sexual and intimate partner gender-based violence for health based purposes.

Despite its widespread use, few have investigated whether the three construct conceptualization is the most effective in representing the types of gender-based violence that people experience, and the mechanistic way that abuse is limiting or altering health care access. This is of critical importance among populations where abuse exposure is high, and where access to health services is scarce, limiting health providers' opportunities for assessment and appropriate referral. In particular, this conceptualization does little to help medical and public health professionals decide how to intervene with gender-based violence survivors in health based settings. For instance, abusers may prohibit survivors from accessing needed health services, or following through with directives given by healthcare professionals. This particular type of abuse, if present, could exacerbate health disparities for this vulnerable and isolated population. Of note, in the past decade, sexual coercion, an often undetected form of intimate partner violence, has risen to the forefront in women's health literature.¹²¹⁻¹²³ This has allowed for the development of specific healthcare interventions to address this type of abusive behavior, and its subsequent impact on women's health.¹²² Despite its emergence in some assessment tools and on the prominent national survey, validation studies of reproductive coercion as a distinct construct and type of abuse, separate from other forms of sexual and intimate abuse, are lacking. The predominant public health three construct conceptualization of intimate partner violence may limit

114

our understanding of the mechanistic way in which abusers control victims and obscure our focus on potential intervention points where health care and community based workers could target effective interventions.

The first step in addressing these concerns begins with understanding if there are indeed more than three abuse type constructs underlying data associated with detecting sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence. This methodological study aimed to test the traditional three constructs of psychological, physical and sexual gender-based abuse exposure against eight constructs with support in gender-based violence literature including demeaning emotional abuse,²²⁶ fear invoking control,²²⁷ isolation,²⁰⁹ physical assault,²⁰⁹ medical restriction, and reproductive coercion by an intimate partner¹²¹ in addition to coerced sexual abuse²²⁸ and forced sexual abuse by an intimate partner²⁰⁹ or other.

Methods

Study design and recruitment. A random sample of women, aged 18 years or older, were recruited from three Ohio Appalachian counties using a two-phase address-based sampling approach similar to the design used by Brick and others to recruit a sub-population for cross-sectional, observational survey.²⁷ Initially, households were randomly sampled from a U.S. Postal Service list, stratified by county, and sent a recruitment letter, household enumeration questionnaire, self-addressed stamped

envelope, and \$2 bill. A household member was asked to enumerate the household for women ages 18 and older, and to return the questionnaire by mail. Upon receipt of an enumeration questionnaire, one eligible woman (i.e. ,18 or older and residing in one of the three counties) was randomly selected by research staff for participation in the study. A local interviewer contacted the selected participant to explain the research study, invite participation, and set a time for an in person interview, if interested. The study was approved by the University's Institutional Review Board.

Interview Procedure. Interviews were conducted in a private location chosen by the participant, and interviewers were trained in a distress protocol¹³⁷ developed for specific use in this study and approved by the Institutional Review Board. After consenting the participant, interviewers administered a computer assisted in-person interview using REDCap electronic data capture tools.^{161,162} Each participant received a \$50 gift card for participation and a list of local women's health resources, if not refused.

Measures. Sexual and intimate partner gender-based violence exposure was measured by 22 questions using modified National Intimate and Sexual Violence Survey (NISVS) measures;² to accommodate length consideration, many of the original NISVS questions were combined. In addition, response options were altered to elicit number of partners or people inflicting the type of abuse, rather than just ascertaining exposure or non-exposure. New questions pertaining to health care usage restrictions by intimate partners were developed. The new and altered questions were taken through cognitive interviews and reviewed by experts in the field of intimate partner violence measurement to assure combined questions made theoretical sense. Participants were asked to identify how many partners had ever inflicted each form of intimate violence, and how many persons have ever inflicted each form of sexual violence, by intimates or others. Response options of 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, or 5 or more partners were offered for each question. Respondents indicating 5 or more partners or persons inflicting abuse were assigned a value of 5 for analysis purposes.

Psychological Abuse. Questions pertaining to psychological abuse, and the assigned variable name, included how many romantic or sexual partners have ever:

1) told you that you were a loser, a failure, or not good enough (loser);

2) told you that no one else would want you (nonewant);

3) acted very angry towards you in a way that seemed dangerous (danger);

4) said things like "If I can't have you, then no one can" (must have);

5) threatened to commit suicide when he or she was upset with you (*suicide*);

6) tried to keep you from seeing or talking to family or friends (*keptfrom*);

- 7) made decisions for you that should have been yours to make, such as what clothes you wear, things you eat, or the friends you have (*nodecide*);
- kept track of you by demanding to know where you were and what you were doing (*keptrack*);
- 9) kept you from leaving the house when you wanted to go (kepthome); and
- 10) kept you from having money for your own use (keptmony).

In the **One Factor Psychological Abuse Model**, all ten observed measures were loaded onto one Psychological Gender-based Intimate Partner Violence construct (*PSYCHOLG*). In the **Three Factor Psychological Abuse Model**, variables *loser* and *nonewant* were loaded onto a Demeaning Emotional Abuse construct (*DEMEAN*), variables *danger*, *musthave* and *suicide* were loaded onto a Fear Invoking Control construct (FEAR), and variables *keptfrom*, *nodecide*, *keptrack*, *kepthome*, and *keptmony* were loaded onto an Isolation construct (*ISOLATE*).

<u>*Physical Abuse.*</u> Questions pertaining to physical abuse, and the assigned variable name, included how many romantic or sexual partners have ever:

- 1) beaten you (*beat*);
- 2) tried to choke or suffocate you (choke);
- 3) burned you or used a knife or gun on you (weapon);
- 4) kept you from going to see a doctor or seeking medical care (*noDx*);
- 5) told you not to follow doctor's orders, like denying you medication, or suggesting that you don't follow through with recommended medical care (*noDxorde*).

In the **One Factor Physical Abuse Model**, all five observed measures were loaded onto one Physical Gender-based Intimate Partner Violence construct (*PHYSICAL*). In the **Two Factor Physical Abuse Model**, variables *beat*, *choke*, and *weapon* were loaded onto a Physical Assault construct (*ASSAULT*), and variables *noDx* and *noDxorde* were loaded onto a Medical Restriction construct (*MXRSTRCT*). <u>Sexual Abuse</u>. Questions pertaining to sexual abuse, and the assigned variable name, included how many romantic or sexual partners have ever:

- tried to get you pregnant when you did not want to become pregnant or tried to stop you from using birth control (*getpreg*);
- 2) refused to use a condom when you wanted one to be used (nocondom); and
- physically harmed you while you were pregnant, including hitting or pushing you, throwing you down stairs, choking or suffocating you (*harmpreg*).

It also included the following questions, and the assigned variable name:

- 4) When you were drunk, high, drugged, or passed out and unable to consent, how many people ever had vaginal sexual with you, made you have anal sex, made you perform oral sex, made you receive oral sex, or put their fingers or an object in your vagina (*noconsex*);
- 5) How many people have ever used physical force or threats to make you have vaginal sex, have anal sex, make you perform oral sex, make you receive oral sex or put their fingers or an object in your vagina (*forcesex*);
- 6) How many people have you had vaginal, oral, or anal sex with after they pressured you by doing things like telling you lies, making promises, or repeatedly asking for sex (*presssex*); and
- 7) How many people have ever used physical force or threats to try to have vaginal, oral, or anal sex with you, but sex did not happen (*triedsex*).

In the **One Factor Sexual Abuse Model**, all seven observed measures were loaded onto one Sexual Gender-based Violence by Intimate or Other construct (*SEXUAL*). In the

Three Factor Sexual Abuse Model, variables *getpreg*, *nocondom*, and *harmpreg* were loaded onto a Reproductive Coercion construct (*REPCOERC*), variables *noconsex* and *presssex* were loaded onto a Coerced Sexual Abuse construct (COERCSEX), and *forcesex* and *triedsex* were loaded onto a Forced Sexual Abuse construct (*FORCESEX*).

Analysis. Data cleaning and descriptive statistics were calculated using SAS, Version 9.3.¹⁶⁴ As can be expected with count data in health settings where there is a high frequency of 0 responses (indicating non-exposure), significant skewness (range 0.75-5.09) and kurtosis (range -1.00-27.24) were noted, so appropriate analysis methods were employed. The use of polychoric correlations and diagonally weighted least squares estimation is recommended when analyzing ordinal, nonnormal data.²²⁹ Raw data was entered into PRELIS to obtain a polychoric correlation matrix and asymptotic covariance matrix, which were subsequently uploaded into LISREL 9.10.¹⁶³ Confirmatory factor analysis using Diagonally Weighted Least Squares method of estimation in LISREL 9.10 was used to determine if the variance and covariance in the data was best explained in the psychological abuse data by a 1 or 3 construct model (psychological abuse vs. demeaning emotion abuse, fear invoking control, and isolation); in the physical abuse data by a 1 or 2 construct model (physical abuse vs. physical assault and medical restriction); and in the sexual abuse data by a 1 or 3 construct model (sexual abuse vs. reproductive coercion, coerced sexual abuse, and forced sexual abuse).¹⁶⁶ In each comparison, the same set of observed data was loaded onto either a one construct model, or a multiple construct model.

The primary goodness-of-fit index used to assess model fit was the Satorra-Bentler scaled chi-square—a goodness-of-fit chi square adjusted for bias of multivariate nonnormality found in this data.²³⁰ The Satorra-Bentler scaled chi-square value reported in LISREL is a rescaling of the normal-theory weighted least-squares (NTWLS) chi-square. Non-significant chi-square values indicate a good fit.¹⁶⁶

Scaled normal weighted least-squares chi-square (NTWLS) difference test chisquare values were used to determine if the multi-construct model significantly increased model fit over the more naïve one construct model for psychological, physical, and sexual abuse.²³⁰ A significant chi-square value indicates an improved model fit when moving from the less restrictive to the more restrictive confirmatory factor model.²³⁰ The NTWLS test is conducted by subtracting the NTWLS chi-square value from the less restrictive model from the NTWLS chi-square value from the more restrictive model, and then dividing this difference by a scaling factor computed to correct for multivariate kurtosis found in the data.²³⁰

Results

Response rate and sample characteristics. Response rates were ascertained using AAPOR response rate 1 calculations.¹⁶⁸ Of the 1950 households mailed screening packets, 776 returned questionnaires, resulting in a 44.4% response rate for household enumeration. Of those responding, 599 women were eligible and selected into the

	Total	Never exposed	Ever exposed to	p-value ^a
	(N=398)	to gender-based	gender-based	
		violence	violence	
		(N=173)	(N=225)	
Age, n(%)				<.01
18-30 years old	54 (13.6%)	22 (5.5)	32 (8.0%)	
30<50 years old	125 (31.4%)	40 (10.1%)	85 (21.4%)	
≥50 years old	219 (55.0%)	111 (27.9%)	108 (27.1%)	
Race, White, n (%)	384 (96.5%)	167 (42.0%)	217 (54.5%)	.96
Education, n (%)				0.67
Less than high school (HS)	25 (6.3%)	8 (2.0%)	17 (4.3%)	
HS diploma	102 (25.6%)	46 (11.6%)	56 (14.1%)	
GED	10 (2.5%)	4 (1.0%)	6 (1.5%)	
>HS diploma	261 (65.6%)	115 (28.9%)	146 (36.7%)	
Marital Status, n(%)				<.0001
Married	263 (66.1%)	135 (33.9%)	128 (32.2%)	
Divorced or Separated	48 (12.1%)	5 (1.3%)	43 (12.1%)	
Widowed	34 (8.6%)	19 (4.8%)	15 (3.8%)	
Never been married	30 (7.5%)	11 (2.8%)	19 (4.8%%)	
Living with partner	23 (5.8%)	3 (0.8%)	20 (5.0%)	
Household Income, n (%)				.03
(N=350, 48 missing)				
<\$20,000	60 (17.1%)	16 (4.6%)	44 (12.6%)	
\$20,000-\$50,000	120 (34.3%)	50 (14.3%)	70 (20.0%)	
>\$50,000	170 (48.6%)	79 (22.6%)	91 (26.0%)	
Currently Insured, n (%)	353 (88.7%)	159 (40.0%)	194 (48.7%)	.08

TABLE 11. PARTICIPANT DEMOGRAPHICS AND BY GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE EXPOSURE STATUS

^aChi-square test performed on categorical variables

sample, and 408 women subsequently consented and completed interviews, resulting in a 71.0% participation rate.²³¹ The analytic sample for this analysis comprised 398

participants who provided complete gender-based violence exposure histories. Sample characteristics are presented in **Table 11** by gender-based violence exposure status. Nearly 6 in 10 women reported some sort of sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence at some point in their lifetime. Lifetime psychological gender-based abuse by an intimate partner was reported by 52% of participants (31% demeaning emotional abuse, 40% fear invoking control, and 44% isolation). Lifetime physical gender-based abuse by an intimate partner was reported by 21% of participants (21% physical assault and 6% medical restriction). Thirty-four percent of women in the region reported lifetime exposure to gender-based sexual abuse by an intimate partner or other (10% reproductive coercion, 23% coerced sexual abuse, and 23% forced sexual abuse).

Model fit: Psychological Gender-based Intimate Partner Violence. Figure 5 presents path diagrams displaying standardized factor loadings for a one factor versus three factor model of psychological intimate partner gender-based violence exposure. For the One Construct Psychological Abuse Model, in which all of the observed psychological abuse measures were loaded onto one construct, factor loadings ranged in value from 0.66 to 0.91. All factor loadings were significantly different from 0. The Satorra-Bentler Scaled chi-square indicated a *poor fit* (Satorra-Bentler Scaled $\chi^2_{(35)}$ =55.07, p=0.02). Whereas, for the Three Construct Psychological Abuse Model, in which all observed psychological abuse measures were loaded onto one of three constructs (Demeaning Emotional Abuse, Fear Invoking Control, or Isolation), it indicated a *good fit* (SatorraBentler Scaled $\chi^2_{(32)}$ = 35.86, p=0.29). In the Three Construct Psychological Abuse model factor loadings ranged in value from 0.68 to 0.95. All factor loadings were significantly different from 0. Although acceptable, *keptmony* was a relatively weaker measure in both models. The scaled difference chi-square test (NTWLS) demonstrated that model fit significantly improved when modeling the psychological abuse data as three constructs (Scaled NTWLS difference test $\chi^2_{(3)}$ = 8.42, p=0.038).



FIGURE 5. MODELING PSYCHOLOGICAL GENDER-BASED INTIMATE PARTNER VIOLENCE (STANDARDIZED FACTOR LOADINGS)

Model fit: Physical Gender-based Intimate Partner Violence. Path diagrams

displaying standardized factor loadings for a one factor versus two factor model of

physical intimate partner gender-based violence exposure are presented in Figure 6.

The Satorra-Bentler Scaled chi-square indicated a *good fit* for both the One Construct Physical Abuse Model, in which all of the observed physical abuse measures were loaded onto one construct (Satorra-Bentler Scaled $\chi^2_{(5)}$ =6.98, p=0.22), and for the Two Construct Physical Abuse Model, in which all observed physical abuse measures were loaded onto one of two constructs (Physical Assault or Medical Restriction) (Satorra-Bentler Scaled $\chi^2_{(4)}$ =0.95, p=0.92). Factor loadings from the one construct model ranged in value from 0.86 to 0.94, whereas in the two construct model factor loadings ranged from 0.87 to 0.95. All factor loadings, in both models, were significantly different than 0. Factor loadings indicated that all measures were strong, including the two newly developed measures to ascertain medical restriction by intimate partners. When comparing the models to each other, the scaled difference chi-square test demonstrated model fit significantly improved when modeling the physical abuse data as two constructs (Scaled NTWLS difference test $\chi^2_{(1)}$ = 4.62, p=0.032).



FIGURE 6. MODELING PHYSICAL GENDER-BASED INTIMATE PARTNER VIOLENCE (STANDARDIZED FACTOR LOADINGS)

Model fit: Sexual Gender-based Violence by an Intimate Partner or Other. Figure 7 presents path diagrams displaying standardized factor loadings for a one factor versus three factor model of exposure to sexual gender-based violence by an intimate partner or other. For the One Construct Sexual Abuse Model, in which all of the observed sexual abuse measures were loaded onto one construct, the factor loadings ranged in value from 0.82 to 0.93; all factor loadings were significantly different than 0. The Satorra-Bentler Scaled chi-square indicated a *poor fit* for the one construct model (Satorra-Bentler Scaled $\chi^2_{(14)}$ =25.08, p=0.03). For the Three Construct Sexual Abuse Model, however, in which all observed sexual abuse measures were loaded onto one of three constructs (Reproductive Coercion , Coerced Sexual Abuse , or Forced Sexual Abuse), the Satorra-Bentler Scaled chi-square indicated a *good fit* (Satorra-Bentler Scaled $\chi^2_{(11)}$ =8.74, p=0.65). In the three construct model, the factor loadings ranged in value from 0.84 to 0.95, and all factor loadings were significantly different than 0. All measures appear to be strong and necessary to ascertain information about the constructs. The scaled normal weighted least-squares chi-square difference test demonstrated that model fit significantly improved when modeling the sexual abuse data as three constructs (Scaled NTWLS difference test $\chi^2_{(3)} = 10.23$, p = 0.017).



FIGURE 7. MODELING SEXUAL GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE (STANDARDIZED FACTOR LOADINGS) Discussion

Despite its widespread use, few have investigated whether the three construct conceptualization of intimate partner and sexual gender-based violence (i.e., psychological, physical and sexual abuse) is most effective in representing the types of gender-based violence that people experience, including capturing information about the mechanistic way that abuse is limiting or altering health care access. This is of critical importance among populations where abuse exposure is high, and where access to health services is scare, limiting health providers' opportunities for assessment and appropriate referral. Our study tested different models to assess and best represent gender-based violence occurrence in a traditionally underserved, high risk region in the United States: rural Appalachia.

Model fit significantly improved in all cases when moving from a one construct to a multi-factorial modeling of gender-based violence exposure data. Within the high risk population included in the study, results support the use of a three construct modeling of psychological gender-based intimate partner violence for use in research and practice, including measuring and modeling gender-based demeaning emotional abuse, fear invoking control, and isolation by an intimate partner. Similarly, results suggest the use of a two construct modeling of physical gender-based intimate partner violence, comprising gender-based physical assault and medical restriction by an intimate partner. Finally, results support the use of a three construct modeling of sexual gender-based violence by an intimate partner or other to include gender-based reproductive coercion by an intimate partner and gender-based coerced and forced sexual abuse by an intimate partner or other.

There are limitations to the current investigation. First, due to the way data were collected about coerced and forced sexual abuse, it is difficult to disentangle the effect of gender-based violence by intimates from coerced or forced sexual abuse by strangers. It should be noted that a majority of all gender-based sexual violence, including coerced and forced sexual abuse, was perpetrated by people the survivor knew, supporting prior research findings.² In the present study, of those women that reported either coerced or forced sexual abuse exposure, 60.0% reported this abuse by a current or intimate partner, 44.9% reported sexual abuse by an acquaintance, including a first date, 16.9% reported abuse by a family member other than an intimate partner, whereas only 6.2% reported sexual abuse by a stranger. In addition, all but one participant reporting sexual abuse by a stranger also reported some form of intimate partner violence. A replication study might be performed that would allow for such isolation.

Second, survey research is liable to coverage bias through underrepresentation of women exposed to sexual and intimate partner violence.⁹⁷ Despite this, populationbased surveying employing random sampling is the preferred method to obtain data for population inference.¹²⁸ Address-Based Sampling (ABS), as was used here, has been gaining favor as a recruitment method for survey research since telephone-based sampling frames have been prone to increased undercoverage, especially among socially marginalized populations.^{126-128,130} In order to capture a more representative sample of the general population, research firms have developed comprehensive address-based sampling frames that include wireless only households and researchers have started to validate the use of ABS methods to lessen the potential of coverage error in the sampling frame and of nonobservation in final survey statistics.^{125,128,130} Despite our use of a sampling frame that may be more representative of the general population, we only had a 44.4% response rate for household enumeration, and a 71.0% participation rate. The National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey, a national random digit dial (RDD) telephone survey, in 2010, had a response rate ranging from 27.5% to 33.6% of households called, and a cooperation rate of 81.3% who agreed to interview among those deemed eligible for survey.² Despite concerns, our household response rate was higher than the standard survey used to obtain population estimates of gender-based violence.²

These limitations notwithstanding, the study findings offer promising directions in assessment and intervention for researchers and practitioners interested in reducing health disparities among this vulnerable and stigmatized population. For instance, isolating mechanistic types of abuse represented in the multi-factorial modeling of gender-based sexual and intimate partner violence data (i.e., gender-based isolation, medical restriction, or sexual coercion by an intimate) offer promising opportunities for health disparity researchers. Future areas of investigation may include isolating mechanistic types of abuse that may require specialized, contextual interventions in health care settings for those exposed.²⁰² Tailored intervention, taking into account the mechanistic type of abuse experienced, might allow women with abuse exposure to more fully access and benefit from health care services offered and prescribed courses of treatment.^{109,202}

130
Chapter 6: Conclusions

This dissertation presented a course of investigation which examined the relationship between sexual and intimate partner violence gender-based violence exposures and smoking, among women in Ohio Appalachia, within a socio-contextual health disparities framework. This dissertation answered the overarching research question: Is gender-based violence exposure by sexual or intimate partners, and other conditions associated with this exposure, associated with the smoking behaviors exhibited by women in three Ohio Appalachian communities?

Primary findings from dissertation analysis reveal:

 Gender-based violence is prevalent in Ohio Appalachia. Intimate partner and sexual gender-based violence is not only a notable public health concern in Ohio Appalachia, but is a human rights issue—impacting nearly 6 out of 10 women in the region. Estimates for gender-based sexual and intimate partner violence in Ohio Appalachia rival estimates for exposure among populations most at-risk for exposure in the United States, including racial and ethnic minorities, and appear to be above estimates for rape and intimate partner violence across Ohio.² Those seeking to reduce disparate disease burden among women in Ohio Appalachia should consider the role gender-based violence exposure plays in exhibited health behavior, behavioral interventions, disease progression and treatment.^{171,197,198}

2. Intimate partner and sexual gender-based violence exposure is a risk factor for current smoking among Ohio Appalachia women. When controlling for other known risk factors for smoking among women in the region, cumulative exposure to multiple forms of gender-based violence is an independent risk factor for smoking among women in Ohio Appalachia. There was a significant difference in any intimate partner and/or sexual gender-based violence lifetime exposure, and for each abuse type (demeaning emotional abuse, fear invoking control, isolation, physical assault, medical restriction, and reproductive coercion by an intimate partner in addition to coerced and forced sexual abuse by an intimate partner or other), across smoking status, with prevalence increasing in each case when moving from never smokers, to former smokers, to current smokers. Among current smokers, 77.5% reported sexual and/or intimate partner violence lifetime exposure, compared to 69.6% among former smokers and 43.8% among never smokers. The categorical distribution of the GBV Exposure Index score, a composite score representing cumulative exposure to eight abuse types, was also significantly different across smoking status, with increasing prevalence of exposure to multiple

132

gender-based violence abuse types moving from never, to former, to current smokers. Based on these findings, anyone seeking to encourage or assist women in Appalachia with tobacco cessation must acknowledge that gender-based violence exposure, and its sequale, are likely impacting women's smoking behavior and ability to engage in successful cessation.^{104,105}

3. Due to safety concerns among gender-based violence survivors, and the correlation noted between violence exposure and contextual variables, the social context of a gender-based violence survivor's smoking behaviors and cessation attempts should **be considered.** Graded, cumulative gender-based violence was associated with intrapersonal and contextual factors which could be influencing both current smoking and gender-based survivors' attempts to guit. Significant differences existed between current and past smokers with gender-based violence exposure histories regarding: perceived stress, exposure to fear invoking control (a type of intimate partner violence), perception of social status, discrimination, adult socioeconomic position, perception of number of smokers in the social environment, and home smoking restrictions. Due to the unique safety concerns for this population, the social context of a gender-based violence survivor's smoking behaviors and cessation attempts must be considered when adapting cessation programs to this population. Findings from this study suggest that it may be factors within a survivor's environment causing stress—a culture tolerant of gender-based

violence, discrimination, social economic standing, and smoking bans within the home—which must be addressed in concert with intrapersonal factors, like selfcontrol and affect regulation, to help this vulnerable population succeed in smoking cessation.

4. In the Appalachian region, where abuse exposure is high and where access to health services are scare, assessment for eight types of gender-based violence may open opportunities for more targeted intervention and referral. Findings from this study determined the validity of using a more mechanistic modeling of intimate partner and gender-based violence for use in research and practice including the eight constructs: demeaning emotional abuse, fear invoking control, isolation, physical assault, medical restriction, and reproductive coercion by an intimate partner in addition to coerced and forced sexual abuse by an intimate partner or other. The assessment of eight forms of gender-based violence, as opposed to a three factor modeling predominate in public health, better represents the exposure to gender-based violence Exposure Index (GBV Exposure Index), proved to be a powerful explanatory variable representing the influence of cumulative exposure to these eight forms of abuse.

Limitations

There are limitations impacting analysis and study findings. First, cross-sectional data cannot be used to determine temporality—limiting interpretations regarding the relationship between cumulative exposures to multiple forms of gender-based violence, intrapersonal and contextual variables, and smoking status of women in Appalachia. Further modeling and longitudinal investigations are warranted to determine the cluster of factors which might be best to consider when tailoring a smoking cessation intervention to meet the needs of gender-based violence survivors. Second, survey research is liable to coverage bias through underrepresentation of smokers and of women exposed to sexual and intimate partner violence.⁹⁷ Indeed, only 20% of the sample reported current smoking, when the population estimate for women in the region is 32%.^{53,54} Given this, and the high correlation between current smoking and gender-based violence exposure in the sample, intimate partner and sexual violence gender-based violence estimates produced for this region, in this analysis, are probably conservative, and underrepresent the true population parameter. In addition, those women who did respond may be different than women sampled but not consented on key factors impacting smoking and cessation. These results should be considered a first attempt at understanding the context of smoking behaviors for women who have ever smoked who also report gender-based violence exposure. Finally, a limitation of this study and critical element missing from the interpretation of the data, in particular, is

135

the perspective of women smokers who have also experienced gender-based violence. Survivors of gender-based violence, both those within currently abusive relationships, along with those with past abuse, need to be asked directly about their primary concerns, and what they see as the primary barriers to quitting smoking or any other recommended behavioral change intervention. It is possible that factors not identified through survey research might surface as critical elements for this vulnerable population. Further qualitative investigation is necessary to tease out other mediating mechanisms, not identified here, that might need to be directly addressed concurrently with tobacco cessation in order for this population to fully engage with behavioral intervention and succeed at cessation.

Despite these limitations, this is the first known study: 1) to report intimate partner and sexual violence gender-based violence estimates for a full range of abuse types among women in Ohio Appalachia; 2) to find cumulative gender-based violence exposure a risk factor for smoking in the region; 3) to quantify social and contextual factors that may impact the high rate of smoking among women exposed to genderbased violence; and 4) test a mechanistic eight factorial model representing types of intimate partner and sexual violence exposure against the predominant three construct model typically used in public health research. These contributions are valuable to our collective understanding of the potential influence of gender-based violence on health disparities experienced by women in Ohio Appalachia.

136

Considerations for Future Research

Given study findings, and in consideration of study limitations, the following avenues might be considered, both by researchers interested in reducing health disparities among women in Ohio Appalachia, and by those interested in reducing health disparities among women exposed to intimate partner and sexual violence at some point during the life course:

1. In order to reduce smoking prevalence among populations disproportionally exposed to gender-based violence we need to more fully understand the mediating intrapersonal and social-contextual pathways between abuse exposure and smoking. In addition, for a population in which safety is of central concern, the moderating role of social context on a survivor's ability to engage in the cessation process should also be considered. Given study findings and the current state of the literature, it is plausible to hypothesize that the cumulative stress that women exposed to increasing types of intimate partner and sexual violence experience is leading to a coping response in which alexithymia is blunted, impulsivity increases, and depression takes hold; where the perceived rewards and satisfaction from smoking are increased along with the regulation of affect, in particular positive affect, especially among those with depression; and where the proclivity to relapse is heightened in the face of changed self-control pathways and continued stress. Further investigation into the relationship

between stress regulation, impulsivity, alexithymia, perception of stress, depression, positive affect regulation, learning to manage fear invoking control as part of the abuse process, and smoking among women exposed to a range of sexual and/or intimate partner violence is warranted to more fully understand this relationship and its potential impact on the smoking cessation process for women with gender-based violence exposure histories. Taking into account the strong association between social contextual factors and smoking among women exposed to gender based violence, it's also important to understand how intrapersonal regulation is influenced by the social context in which women exposed to gender-based violence live. In Appendix C, a conceptual model has been proposed for the way in which social contextual factors may be influencing smoking behaviors for women exposed to intimate partner and sexual gender-based violence; in addition hypothesized mediating and moderating mechanisms have been proposed as possible pathways to consider when tailoring a smoking cessation intervention to meet the needs of women exposed to gender-based violence. Further investigation is needed to understand if these mechanisms, indeed, could assist survivors of gender-based violence find success in smoking cessation intervention. (See Appendix C: The social context of smoking behaviors among women exposed to intimate partner and sexual gender-based violence and hypothesized mediating mechanisms and modifying factors to address in a tailored smoking cessation intervention).

2. *Given the pervasive prevalence of intimate partner and sexual gender-based violence in Ohio Appalachia, it is plausible that gender-based violence may be associated with other detrimental health behaviors, or preventative health promotion behaviors, among women in the region*. Researchers interested in reducing health disparities among women in the Appalachian region might consider the way in which specific types of gender-based violence, and cumulative exposure to multiple forms of gender-based violence, may be influencing: 1) other addictive behaviors, including prescription drug misuse,²³² 2) family planning,^{121,233} 3) sexually transmitted infection and other infectious disease prevention even among partnered women,²³⁴ 4) maternal and child health, including prematurity and infant mortality,²³⁵ 5) preventative screening behaviors, including Pap screening,²³⁶ and 6) mental health.⁷¹

3. These study findings offer promising directions in assessment and intervention for researchers and practitioners interested in reducing health disparities among women exposed to gender-based violence. For instance, isolating mechanistic types of abuse represented in the multi-factorial modeling of gender-based sexual and intimate partner violence data (for instance, gender-based isolation, medical restriction, or sexual coercion by an intimate) offer promising opportunities for health disparity researchers. Future areas of investigation may include isolating types of abuse that may require specialized, contextual interventions in health care settings for those experiencing these types of abuses. In addition, survivors of gender-based violence in this study reported living within a stress invoking context—this environment, and possible intrapersonal

changes that may have taken place due to traumatic exposure, should be considered in health behavior interventions designed for this population. Tailored intervention, taking into account the contextual needs of survivors of gender-based violence, and those in currently abusive situations, might allow survivors greater access and benefit from health care services offered, including adhering more fully to prescribed courses of treatment or behavioral modification goals.¹⁰⁵

In conclusion

Health disparate outcomes among women exposed to gender-based violence are not inevitable and can be greatly reduced if health professionals seek to understand how to meet the needs of survivors within the course of behavioral treatments. A key aspect of this tailoring process must include widening the focus of intervention to not just the individual, but to the survivor's environment, where more may be out of their control than within it. In the book *Counseling to End Violence Against Women*, Whalen proposes that the process of helping survivors of gender-based violence heal must include not only individual counseling, but counseling that connects survivors to the larger social justice work of ending violence against women, including addressing social context which condones and even promotes such violence.²¹⁸ Findings from this study suggest, in fact, that it may be factors within a survivor's environment causing stress—a culture tolerant of gender-based violence, discrimination, social economic standing, and smoking bans within the home—which must be addressed in concert with intrapersonal

140

factors, like self-control and affect regulation, to help this vulnerable population succeed in smoking cessation and other health promotion activities.

Smoking, the leading cause of preventable mortality and morbidity, is particularly high among survivors of intimate partner and sexual violence. And current women smokers, in Ohio Appalachia in particular, are also overwhelmingly survivors of intimate partner and/or sexual violence. The inquiry in to how best help women smokers exposed to gender-based violence move through successful cessation is nothing short of health justice work,⁷² and will take the collective attention and commitment of both those within the health professions with knowledge of nicotine addiction and cessation alongside community-based advocacy organizations that have been working with survivors of gender-based violence for decades.

References

1. World Health Orgnization. World Report on Violence and Health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2002.

2. Black MC, Basile KC, Breiding MJ, et al. The National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey (NISVS): 2010 Summary Report. In. Atlanta, GA: National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2011.

3. Tjaden PG, Thoennes N, National Institute of Justice, Centers for Disease Control & Prevention. Full report of the prevalence, incidence, and consequences of violence against women : findings from the National Violence Against Women Survey. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Dept. of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, National Insitute of Justice; 2000.

4. Felitti VJ, Anda RF, Nordenberg D, et al. Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults. The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study. American journal of preventive medicine 1998;14:245-58.

5. Thompson RS, Bonomi AE, Anderson M, et al. Intimate partner violence: prevalence, types, and chronicity in adult women. American journal of preventive medicine 2006;30:447-57.

6. Warner KE, Mendez D. Tobacco control policy in developed countries: yesterday, today, and tomorrow. Nicotine & tobacco research : official journal of the Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco 2010;12:876-87.

7. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Current cigarette smoking among adults - United States, 2011. MMWR Morbidity and mortality weekly report 2012;61:889-94.

8. United States Surgeon General's Advisory Committee on Smoking and Health. Smoking and health : report of the Advisory Committee to the Surgeon General of the Public Health Service. Princeton, N.J.: Van Nostrand; 1964.

9. McGinnis JM, Foege WH. Actual causes of death in the United States. JAMA 1993;270:2207-12.

10. Mokdad AH, Marks JS, Stroup DF, Gerberding JL. Correction: Actual Causes of Death in the United States, 2000. JAMA: Journal of the American Medical Association 2005;293.

11. Public Health Service, Office of the Surgeon General. How tobacco smoke causes disease : the biology and behavioral basis for smoking-attributable disease : a report of the Surgeon General. Rockville, MD; Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2010.

12. Carter BD, Abnet CC, Feskanich D, et al. Smoking and mortality--beyond established causes. The New England journal of medicine 2015;372:631-40.

13. United States Department of Health and Human Services. Healthy people 2020. Washington, DC: U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services : Office of Health Behavior and Health Promotion; 2010.

14. Warner KE. Disparities in smoking are complicated and consequential. What to do about them? American journal of health promotion : AJHP 2011;25.

15. Anda RF, Croft JB, Felitti VJ, et al. Adverse childhood experiences and smoking during adolescence and adulthood. JAMA 1999;282:1652-8.

16. Cisler JM, Amstadter AB, Begle AM, et al. A prospective examination of the relationships between PTSD, exposure to assaultive violence, and cigarette smoking among a national sample of adolescents. Addict Behav 2011;36:994-1000.

17. De Von Figueroa-Moseley C, Landrine H, Klonoff EA. Sexual abuse and smoking among college student women. Addict Behav 2004;29:245-51.

18. Diaz A, Simantov E, Rickert VI. Effect of abuse on health: results of a national survey. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2002;156:811-7.

19. Ford ES, Anda RF, Edwards VJ, et al. Adverse childhood experiences and smoking status in five states. Prev Med 2011;53:188-93.

20. Roberts ME, Fuemmeler BF, McClernon FJ, Beckham JC. Association between trauma exposure and smoking in a population-based sample of young adults. J Adolesc Health 2008;42:266-74.

21. Swanston HY, Plunkett AM, O'Toole BI, Shrimpton S, Parkinson PN, Oates RK. Nine years after child sexual abuse. Child Abuse Negl 2003;27:967-84.

22. Vander Weg MW. Adverse childhood experiences and cigarette smoking: the 2009 Arkansas and Louisiana Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance Systems. Nicotine Tob Res 2011;13:616-22.

23. Al Mamun A, Alati R, O'Callaghan M, et al. Does childhood sexual abuse have an effect on young adults' nicotine disorder (dependence or withdrawal)? Evidence from a birth cohort study. Addiction 2007;102:647-54.

24. Sato-DiLorenzo A, Sharps PW. Dangerous intimate partner relationships and women's mental health and health behaviors. Issues Ment Health Nurs 2007;28:837-48.

25. Simpson TL. Women's treatment utilization and its relationship to childhood sexual abuse history and lifetime PTSD. Subst Abus 2002;23:17-30.

26. Choudhary E, Coben JH, Bossarte RM. Gender and time differences in the associations between sexual violence victimization, health outcomes, and risk behaviors. Am J Mens Health 2008;2:254-9.

27. Ackersom LK, Kawachi, I., Barbeau, E.M., & Subramanian, S.V. Exposure to domestic violence associated with aduit smoking in India: A population based study. Tobacco Control 2007:378-83.

28. Yoshihama M, Horrocks, J., & Bybee, D. Intimate partner violence and initiation of smoking and drinking: A population-based study of women in Yokohama, Japan. Social Science & Medicine 2010;71:1199-207.

29. Bailey BA, Daugherty RA. Intimate partner violence during pregnancy: incidence and associated health behaviors in a rural population. Matern Child Health J 2007;11:495-503.

30. Breiding MJ, Black MC, Ryan GW. Chronic disease and health risk behaviors associated with intimate partner violence-18 U.S. states/territories, 2005. Ann Epidemiol 2008;18:538-44.

31. Hathaway JE, Mucci LA, Silverman JG, Brooks DR, Mathews R, Pavlos CA. Health status and health care use of Massachusetts women reporting partner abuse. Am J Prev Med 2000;19:302-7.

32. Jun HJ, Rich-Edwards JW, Boynton-Jarrett R, Wright RJ. Intimate partner violence and cigarette smoking: association between smoking risk and psychological abuse with and without co-occurrence of physical and sexual abuse. Am J Public Health 2008;98:527-35.

33. Lemon SC, Verhoek-Oftedahl W, Donnelly EF. Preventive healthcare use, smoking, and alcohol use among Rhode Island women experiencing intimate partner violence. J Womens Health Gend Based Med 2002;11:555-62.

34. McNutt LA, Carlson BE, Persaud M, Postmus J. Cumulative abuse experiences, physical health and health behaviors. Ann Epidemiol 2002;12:123-30.

35. Vest JR, Catlin TK, Chen JJ, Brownson RC. Multistate analysis of factors associated with intimate partner violence. Am J Prev Med 2002;22:156-64.

36. Weinbaum Z, Stratton TL, Chavez G, Motylewski-Link C, Barrera N, Courtney JG. Female victims of intimate partner physical domestic violence (IPP-DV), California 1998. Am J Prev Med 2001;21:313-9.

37. Ackard DM, Neumark-Sztainer D, Hannan P. Dating violence among a nationally representative sample of adolescent girls and boys: associations with behavioral and mental health. J Gend Specif Med 2003;6:39-48.

38. Goedhart G, van der Wal MF, Cuijpers P, Bonsel GJ. Psychosocial problems and continued smoking during pregnancy. Addict Behav 2009;34:403-6.

39. Chartier MJ, Walker JR, Naimark B. Health risk behaviors and mental health problems as mediators of the relationship between childhood abuse and adult health. Am J Public Health 2009;99:847-54.

40. Smith PH, Homish GG, Saddleson ML, Kozlowski LT, Giovino GA. Nicotine withdrawal and dependence among smokers with a history of childhood abuse. Nicotine Tob Res 2013;15:2016-21.

41. Jun HJ, Rich-Edwards JW, Boynton-Jarrett R, Austin SB, Frazier AL, Wright RJ. Child abuse and smoking among young women: the importance of severity, accumulation, and timing. J Adolesc Health 2008;43:55-63.

42. Appalachian Regional Commission. Population Estimates, 2009: Appalachian Ohio; 2009.

43. Appalachian Regional Comission. County Economic Status in Appalachia, FY 2012; 2011.

44. Haaga J, Population Reference Bureau. Educational Attainment in Appalachia. Demographic and Sociodemographic Change in Appalachia 2004.

45. World Health Orgnization. World Cancer Report. London: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2003.

46. Cervical Cancer in Ohio 2000-2004. Ohio Cancer Incidence Surveillance System. (Accessed at

http://www.odh.ohio.gov/ASSETS/15415A7C864E4B09BA7495A00D39B1AB/Cervical04Final.pdf _)

47. Walboomers JM, Jacobs MV, Manos MM, et al. Human papillomavirus is a necessary cause of invasive cervical cancer worldwide. J Pathol 1999;189:12-9.

48. Munoz N, Bosch FX, Castellsague X, et al. Against which human papillomavirus types shall we vaccinate and screen? The international perspective. Int J Cancer 2004;111:278-85.

49. Kapeu AS, Luostarinen T, Jellum E, et al. Is smoking an independent risk factor for invasive cervical cancer? A nested case-control study within Nordic biobanks. Am J Epidemiol 2009;169:480-8.

50. Coker AL, Hopenhayn C, DeSimone CP, Bush HM, Crofford L. Violence against Women Raises Risk of Cervical Cancer. Journal of Women's Health 2009;18:1179-85.

51. 2012 OMAS Methodology Overview. The Ohio Medicaid Assessment Survey. (Accessed October 11, 2013, at <u>http://grc.osu.edu/omas/methods/.</u>)

52. 2010 Ohio Family Health Survey. Ohio Medicaid Assessment Survey. (Accessed October 11, 2013, at http://grc.osu.edu/omas/datadownloads/ofhsoehspublicdatasets/index.cfm.)

53. 2012 Ohio Medicaid Assessment Survey (OMAS) Descriptive Tables. (Accessed February 20, 2014, at http://grc.osu.edu/omas/datadownloads/2012omaspublicdata/index.cfm.)

54. Wang L. Smoking prevalence among females in Ohio, by county grouping, using 2012 Ohio Medicaid Assessment Survey (OMAS) data. In: Nemeth J, ed.

55. Wewers ME, Salsberry PJ, Ferketich AK, Ahijevych KL, Hood NE, Paskett ED. Risk factors for smoking in rural women. Journal of women's health 2012;21:548-56.

56. Greaves L, Hemsing N. Women and tobacco control policies: social-structural and psychosocial contributions to vulnerability to tobacco use and exposure. Drug Alcohol Depend 2009;104 Suppl 1:S121-30.

57. Bronfenbrenner U. Toward an experimental ecology of human development. American Psychologist American Psychologist 1977;32:513-31.

58. Bronfenbrenner U. The ecology of human development. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press; 1979.

59. Bronfenbrenner U. Ecology of the family as a context for human development: Research perspectives. Developmental Psychology Developmental Psychology 1986;22:723-42.

60. Bronfenbrenner U. Devlopmental ecology through space and time: a future perspective. In: Moen P, Elder GH, Lüscher K, Bronfenbrenner U, eds. Examining lives in context : perspectives on the ecology of human development. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association; 1995:619-47.

61. Santrock JW. A topical approach to life-span development. New York: McGraw-Hill; 2012.

62. McLaren L, Hawe P. Ecological perspectives in health research. Journal of epidemiology and community health 2005;59:6-14.

63. Black MC, Kresnow MJ, Simon TR, Arias I, Shelley G. Telephone survey respondents' reactions to questions regarding interpersonal violence. Violence and victims 2006;21:445-59.

64. Campbell R, Adams AE, Wasco SM, Ahrens CE, Sefl T. "What has it been like for you to talk with me today?": the impact of participating in interview research on rape survivors. Violence Against Women 2010;16:60-83.

65. Little SG, Akin-Little A, Somerville MP. Response to Trauma in Children: An Examination of Effective Intervention and Post-Traumatic Growth. School Psychology International 2011;32:448-63.

66. Davis R, Parks LF, Cohen L, Pennsylvania Coalition Against Rape, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Sexual violence and the spectrum of prevention : towards a community solution. Enola, PA: National Sexual Violence Resource Center; 2006.

67. Belsky J. Child maltreatment: an ecological integration. The American psychologist 1980;35:320-35.

68. Heise LL. Violence against women: an integrated, ecological framework. Violence Against Women 1998;4:262-90.

69. White J, Kowalski R. Male violence toward women: an integrated perspective. In: Geen RG, Donnerstein EI, eds. Human aggression : theories, research, and implications for social policy. San Diego, Calif.: Academic Press; 1998:203-28.

70. Grauerholz L. An ecological approach to understanding sexual revictimization: linking personal, interpersonal, and sociocultural factors and processes. Child maltreatment 2000;5:5-17.

71. Campbell R, Dworkin E, Cabral G. An ecological model of the impact of sexual assault on women's mental health. Trauma, Violence & Abuse: A Review Journal 2009;10:225-46.

72. United States Department of Health and Human Services. Healthy people 2010 : understanding and improving health. Washington, DC: U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services; 2000.

73. Braveman P, Egerter S, Williams DR. The social determinants of health: coming of age. Annual Review of Public Health 2011;32:381-98.

74. Farley M, Patsalides BM. Physical symptoms, posttraumatic stress disorder, and healthcare utilization of women with and without childhood physical and sexual abuse. Psychol Rep 2001;89:595-606.

75. Finestone HM, Stenn P, Davies F, Stalker C, Fry R, Koumanis J. Chronic pain and health care utilization in women with a history of childhood sexual abuse. Child Abuse Negl 2000;24:547-56.

76. Hulme PA. Symptomatology and health care utilization of women primary care patients who experienced childhood sexual abuse. Child Abuse Negl 2000;24:1471-84.

77. Bhargava R, Temkin TL, Fireman BH, et al. A predictive model to help identify intimate partner violence based on diagnoses and phone calls. Am J Prev Med 2011;41:129-35.

78. Bonomi A, Anderson M, Reid R, Rivara F, Carrell D, Thompson R. Medical and psychosocial diagnoses in women with a history of intimate partner violence. Arch Intern Med 2009;169:1692-7.

79. Campbell JC, Webster D, Koziol-McLain J, et al. Risk factors for femicide in abusive relationships: results from a multisite case control study. Am J Public Health 2003;93:1089-97.

80. Cokkinides VE, Coker AL, Sanderson M, Addy C, Bethea L. Physical violence during pregnancy: maternal complications and birth outcomes. Obstet Gynecol 1999;93:661-6.

81. McFarlane J, Parker B, Soeken K, Bullock L. Assessing for abuse during pregnancy. Severity and frequency of injuries and associated entry into prenatal care. JAMA 1992;267:3176-8.

82. McFarlane J, Wiist W. Preventing abuse to pregnant women: implementation of a "mentor mother" advocacy model. J Community Health Nurs 1997;14:237-49.

83. Amar AF, Gennaro S. Dating violence in college women: associated physical injury, healthcare usage, and mental health symptoms. Nurs Res 2005;54:235-42.

84. Bonomi AE, Anderson ML, Rivara FP, et al. Health care utilization and costs associated with childhood abuse. J Gen Intern Med 2008;23:294-9.

85. Bonomi AE, Anderson ML, Rivara FP, Thompson RS. Health care utilization and costs associated with physical and nonphysical-only intimate partner violence. Health Serv Res 2009;44:1052-67.

86. Tang B, Jamieson E, Boyle M, Libby A, Gafni A, MacMillan H. The influence of child abuse on the pattern of expenditures in women's adult health service utilization in Ontario, Canada. Soc Sci Med 2006;63:1711-9.

87. Walker EA, Unutzer J, Rutter C, et al. Costs of health care use by women HMO members with a history of childhood abuse and neglect. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1999;56:609-13.

88. Brown DS, Finkelstein EA, Mercy JA. Methods for estimating medical expenditures attributable to intimate partner violence. J Interpers Violence 2008;23:1747-66.

89. Coker AL, Reeder CE, Fadden MK, Smith PH. Physical partner violence and medicaid utilization and expenditures. Public Health Rep 2004;119:557-67.

90. Jones AS, Dienemann J, Schollenberger J, et al. Long-term costs of intimate partner violence in a sample of female HMO enrollees. Womens Health Issues 2006;16:252-61.

91. Max W, Rice DP, Finkelstein E, Bardwell RA, Leadbetter S. The economic toll of intimate partner violence against women in the United States. Violence Vict 2004;19:259-72.

92. Plichta SB. Interactions between victims of intimate partner violence against women and the health care system: policy and practice implications. Trauma Violence Abuse 2007;8:226-39.

93. Rivara FP, Anderson ML, Fishman P, et al. Healthcare utilization and costs for women with a history of intimate partner violence. American journal of preventive medicine 2007;32:89-96.

94. Ulrich YC, Cain KC, Sugg NK, Rivara FP, Rubanowice DM, Thompson RS. Medical care utilization patterns in women with diagnosed domestic violence. Am J Prev Med 2003;24:9-15.

95. Nemeth J, Klies C. Got Consent?: Understanding sexual violence in the framework of cultural oppression. In: Oral presentation, Ohio Prevention Education Conference. Columbus, OH; 2007.

96. Johnson MP. Patriarchal terrorism and common couple violence: Two forms of violence against women. Conference on the Family and the Status of Women 1993 Ho Chi Minh City Vietnam 1995;57:283-94.

97. Johnson MP. Conflict and control: Gender symmetry and asymmetry in domestic violence. Violence Against Women 2006;12.

98. Johnson MP. A typology of domestic violence : intimate terrorism, violent resistance, and situational couple violence. Boston; Hanover [N.H.]: Northeastern University Press ; Published by University Press of New England; 2008.

99. Snyder HN. Sexual assualt of young children as reported to law enforcement: Victim, incident, and offender characteristics: Center for Juvenile Justice, U.S. Department of Justice; 2000.

100. Sobsey R. Violence and abuse in the lives of people with disabilities : the end of silent acceptance? Baltimore: P.H. Brooks Pub. Co.; 1994.

101. Sobsey D, Wolfensberger W. "Violence and Abuse in the Lives of People With Disabilities: The End of Silent Acceptance?". American journal of mental retardation : AJMR 1995;100:217.

102. Stimpson L, Best MC, DisAbled Women's N-T. Courage above all : sexual assault against women with disabilities. Toronto: DisAbled Women's Network-Toronto; 1991.

103. Mahoney A, Poling A. Sexual abuse prevention for people with severe developmental disabilities. Journal of Developmental and Physical Disabilities 2011;23:369-76.

104. Sorensen G, Emmons K, Hunt MK, et al. Model for incorporating social context in health behavior interventions: applications for cancer prevention for working-class, multiethnic populations. Preventive medicine 2003;37:188-97.

105. Sorensen G, Barbeau E, Hunt MK, Emmons K. Reducing social disparities in tobacco use: a social-contextual model for reducing tobacco use among blue-collar workers. Am J Public Health 2004;94:230-9.

106. Glanz K, Rimer BK, Viswanath K, eds. Health behavior and health education theory, research, and practice. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons; 2008.

107. Wewers ME, Ferketich AK, Harness J, Paskett ED. Effectiveness of a nurse-managed, layled tobacco cessation intervention among ohio appalachian women. Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention 2009;18:3451-8.

108. Jack SM. Utility of qualitative research findings in evidence-based public health practice. Public Health Nurs 2006;23:277-83.

109. Postmus JL, Severson M, Berry M, Yoo JA. Women's experiences of violence and seeking help. Violence Against Women 2009;15:852-68.

110. Willson P, Cesario S, Fredland N, et al. Primary healthcare provider's lost opportunity to help abused women. J Am Acad Nurse Pract 2001;13:565-70.

111. Zinzow HM, Grubaugh AL, Frueh BC, Magruder KM. Sexual assault, mental health, and service use among male and female veterans seen in Veterans Affairs primary care clinics: a multi-site study. Psychiatry Res 2008;159:226-36.

112. Thiel de Bocanegra H, Rostovtseva DP, Khera S, Godhwani N. Birth control sabotage and forced sex: experiences reported by women in domestic violence shelters. Violence Against Women 2010;16:601-12.

113. U.S. Preventative Services Taskforce's Screening for Intimate Partner Violence and Abuse of Elderly and Vulnerable Adults. U.S. Preventative Services Taskforce. (Accessed March 15, 2015, at <u>http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Topic/recommendation-</u><u>summary/intimate-partner-violence-and-abuse-of-elderly-and-vulnerable-adults-screening.</u>)

114. Basile KC, Hertiz MF, Back SE. Intimate partner violence and sexual violence victimization assessment instruments for use in healthcare settings. Atlanta, Georigia: United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control; 2007.

115. Campbell JC. Health consequences of intimate partner violence. The Lancet 2002;359:1331-6.

116. Ellsberg M, Jansen HA, Heise L, et al. Intimate partner violence and women's physical and mental health in the WHO multi-country study on women's health and domestic violence: an observational study. Lancet 2008;371:1165-72.

117. Devries K, Watts C, Kiss L, et al. Violence against women is strongly associated with suicide attempts: Evidence from the WHO multi-country study on women's health and domestic violence against women. Social Science and Medicine 2011;73:79-86.

118. Thompson MP, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Division of Violence Prevention. Measuring intimate partner violence victimization and perpetration : a compendium of assessment tools. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Division of Violence Prevention; 2006.

119. Tjaden P. Defining and measuring violence against women: Background, issues, and recommendations. Statistical Journal of the UN Economic Commission for Europe 2005;22.

120. Rose G. Sick individuals and sick populations. International journal of epidemiology 2001;30:427-32.

121. Miller E, Decker MR, McCauley HL, et al. Pregnancy coercion, intimate partner violence and unintended pregnancy. Contraception 2010;81:316-22.

122. Miller E, Decker MR, McCauley HL, et al. A family planning clinic partner violence intervention to reduce risk associated with reproductive coercion. Contraception 2011;83:274-80.

123. Miller E, Jordan B, Levenson R, Silverman JG. Reproductive coercion: connecting the dots between partner violence and unintended pregnancy. Contraception 2010;81:457-9.

124. 2008 Ohio Family Health Survey (OFHS) Public Use Data Set. Ohio Medicaid Assessment Survey. (Accessed January 4, 2014, at http://grc.osu.edu/omas/datadownloads/ofhsoehspublicdatasets/index.cfm.)

125. Brick JM, Williams D, Montaquila JM. Address-Based Sampling for Subpopulation Surveys. Public Opinion Quarterly 2011;75:409-28.

126. Iannacchione VG. The Changing Role of Address-Based Sampling in Survey Research. Public Opinion Quarterly 2011;75:556-75.

127. Delnevo CD, Gundersen DA, Hagman BT. Declining Estimated Prevalence of Alcohol Drinking and Smoking among Young Adults Nationally: Artifacts of Sample Undercoverage? American Journal of Epidemiology 2008;167:15-9.

128. Groves RM, Fowler Jr. FJ, Couper MP, Lepkowski JM, Singer E, Tourangeau R. Survey methodology. Second ed. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons; 2009.

129. Biener L, Garrett CA, Gilpin EA, Roman AM, Currivan DB. Consequences of declining survey response rates for smoking prevalence estimates. American journal of preventive medicine 2004;27:254-7.

130. Blumberg SJ, Luke JV, National Center for Health Statistics. Wireless substitution : early release of estimates from the National Health Interview survey, July-December 2011. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2012.

131. GENESYS sampling. Marketing Systems Group. (Accessed December 5, 2013, at <u>http://www.m-s-g.com/Web/genesys/index.aspx.</u>)

132. Carlson EB, Newman E, Daniels JW, Armstrong J, Roth D, Loewenstein R. Distress in Response to and Perceived Usefulness of Trauma Research Interviews. Journal of Trauma & Dissociation 2003;4.

133. Griffin MG, Resick PA, Waldrop AE, Mechanic MB. Participation in trauma research: Is there evidence of harm? JTS Journal of Traumatic Stress 2003;16:221-7.

134. Widom CS, Czaja SJ. Reactions to research participation in vulnerable subgroups. Accountability in research 2005;12.

135. Johnson LE, Benight CC. Effects of trauma-focused research on recent domestic violence survivors. Journal of traumatic stress 2003;16:567-71.

136. Walker EA, Newman E, Koss M, Bernstein D. Does the study of victimization revictimize the victims? General hospital psychiatry 1997;19:403-10.

137. Draucker CB, Martsolf DS, Poole C. Developing distress protocols for research on sensitive topics. Arch Psychiatr Nurs 2009;23:343-50.

138. The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Division of Violence Prevention. (Accessed March 15, 2015, at http://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/acestudy/.)

139. National Health Interview Survey (NHIS). (Accessed at http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/quest_data_related_1997_forward.htm.)

140. National Cancer Institute-sponsored Tobacco Use Supplement to the Current Population Survey (2010-11): <u>http://appliedresearch.cancer.gov/studies/tus-cps/</u>. US Department of Commerce, Census Bureau, 2012. (Accessed at Technical documentation: <u>http://www.census.gov/cps/methodology/techdocs.html.</u>).

141. Fagerström KO. Measuring degree of physical dependence to tobacco smoking with reference to individualization of treatment. Addictive Behaviors 1978;3:3-4.

142. Heatherton TF, Kozlowski LT, Frecker RC, Fagerström KO. The Fagerström Test for Nicotine Dependence: a revision of the Fagerström Tolerance Questionnaire. Br J Addict 1991;86:1119-27.

143. Ewing JA. Detecting alcoholism. The CAGE questionnaire. JAMA 1984;252:1905-7.

144. Aertgeerts B, Buntinx F, Fevery J, Ansoms S. Is there a difference between CAGE interviews and written CAGE questionnaires? Alcoholism, clinical and experimental research 2000;24:733-6.

145. Husaini BA, Neff JA, Harrington JB, Hughes MD, Stone RH. Depression in rural communities: Validating the CES-D scale. JCOP Journal of Community Psychology 1980;8:20-7.

146. Orme JG, Reis J, Herz EJ. Factorial and discriminant validity of the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression (CES-D) scale. Journal of clinical psychology 1986;42:28-33.

147. Stansbury JP, Ried LD, Velozo CA. Unidimensionality and bandwidth in the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression (CES-D) Scale. Journal of Personality Assessment 2006;86:10-22.

148. Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. A global measure of perceived stress. Journal of Health and Social Behavior 1983;24:385-96.

149. Hughes ME, Waite LJ, Hawkley LC, Cacioppo JT. A short scale for measuring loneliness in large surveys: results from two population-based studies. Research on Aging 2004;26:655-72.

150. National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey Questionnaire. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (Accessed March 15, 2015, at <u>http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes/nhanes_questionnaires.htm.</u>)

151. van den Putte B, Yzer MC, Brunsting S. Social influences on smoking cessation: a comparison of the effect of six social influence variables. Preventive Medicine 2005;41:186-93.

152. Zimet GD, Dahlem NW, Zimet SG, Farley GK. The Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support. Journal of Personality Assessment 1988;52:30-41.

153. Zimet GD, Powell SS, Farley GK, Werkman S, Berkoff KA. Psychometric characteristics of the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support. Journal of Personality Assessment 1990;55:3-4.

154. Dahlem NW, Zimet GD, Walker RR. The Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support: a confirmation study. Journal of clinical psychology 1991;47:756-61.

155. Taylor TR, Kamarck TW, Shiffman S. Validation of the Detroit Area Study Discrimination Scale in a community sample of older African American adults: the Pittsburgh healthy heart project. International journal of behavioral medicine 2004;11:88-94.

156. Hanson BS, Ostergren PO, Elmståhl S, Isacsson SO, Ranstam J. Reliability and validity assessments of measures of social networks, social support and control--results from the Malmö Shoulder and Neck Study. Scandinavian journal of social medicine 1997;25:249-57.

157. Lindström M, Moghaddassi M, Bolin K, Lindgren B, Merlo J. Social participation, social capital and daily tobacco smoking: a population-based multilevel analysis in Malmö, Sweden. Scandinavian Journal of Public Health 2003;31:444-50.

158. Patterson JM, Eberly LE, Ding Y, Hargreaves M. Associations of smoking prevalence with individual and area level social cohesion. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health 2004;58.

159. Sampson RJ, Raudenbush SW, Earls F. Neighborhoods and violent crime: a multilevel study of collective efficacy. Science (New York, NY) 1997;277:918-24.

160. The MacArthur Scale of Subjective Social Status. University of California, San Fransisco, 2007. (Accessed December 8, 2013, at http://www.macses.ucsf.edu/research/psychosocial/subjective.php.).

161. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. Journal of biomedical informatics 2009;42:377-81.

162. Borlawsky TB, Lele O, Jensen D, Hood NE, Wewers ME. Enabling distributed electronic research data collection for a rural Appalachian tobacco cessation study. Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association : JAMIA 2011;18:140-3.

163. Jöreskog KG, Sörbom D. LISREL 9.10 for Windows [Computer software]. Skokie, IL: Scientific Software International, Inc.; 2013.

164. SAS 9.3 [Computer Software]. In. Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc.; 2011.

165. Hair JF. Multivariate data analysis. Upper Saddle River, N.J.: Pearson Prentice Hall; 2006.

166. Schumacker R, Lomax R. A beginner's guide to structural equation modeling: 3rd edition: Routledge; 2010.

167. Thomson T, Nemeth J, Ferketich A, et al. Recruitment of Underserved Women into a Social Network Smoking Cessation Study. Presentation at Rapid Response Poster Session 4, Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco, Seattle, WA, February 8, 2014.

168. Weinhardt LS, Carey MP, Maisto SA, Carey KB, Cohen MM, Wickramasinghe SM. Reliability of the timeline follow-back sexual behavior interview. Annals of behavioral medicine : a publication of the Society of Behavioral Medicine 1998;20:25-30.

169. How tobacco smoke causes disease the biology and behavioral basis for smokingattributable disease : a report of the Surgeon General. U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Office of the Surgeon General. U.S. G.P.O., 2010. (Accessed at http://purl.fdlp.gov/GPO/gpo4801.)

170. Sociodemographic, health and county economic status designation in the Appalachian region--Fiscal Year 2006. In: Commission AR, ed. Washington D.C.; 2006.

171. Wewers ME, Katz M, Fickle D, Paskett ED. Risky behaviors among Ohio Appalachian adults. Prev Chronic Dis 2006;3:A127.

172. Paskett ED, Fisher JL, Lengerich EJ, et al. Disparities in Underserved White Populations: The Case of Cancer-Related Disparities in Appalachia. The Oncologist The Oncologist 2011;16:1072-81.

173. Jun H-J, Rich-Edwards JW, Boynton-Jarrett R, Wright RJ. Intimate Partner Violence and Cigarette Smoking: Association Between Smoking Risk and Psychological Abuse With and Without Co-Occurrence of Physical and Sexual Abuse. American Journal of Public Health 2008;98:527.

174. Ohio Family Health Survey. 2010. (Accessed at http://grc.osu.edu/ofhs/datadownloads/index.cfm.)

175. Thomson T, Nemeth JM, Ferketich A, et al. Recruitment of Underserved Women into a Social Network Smoking Cessation Study. In: Under review for a presentation at the poster symposium, Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco. Seattle, WA; February 5-8, 2014.

176. Nemeth J, Bonomi A, Lu B, Lomax R, Wewers M. Measuring sexual and/or intimate partner gender-based violence in health settings: transcending the three construct model predominant in public health research and practice. American Journal of Public Health.

177. Centers for Disease C, Prevention. Cigarette smoking among adults--United States, 1992, and changes in the definition of current cigarette smoking. MMWR Morbidity and mortality weekly report 1994;43:342-6.

178. Radloff LS. The CES-D Scale: A Self-Report Depression Scale for Research in the General Population. Applied Psychological Measurement Applied Psychological Measurement 1977;1:385-401.

179. Behrman J, Kohler H, Watkins S. Social networks and changes in contraceptive use over time: evidence from a longitudinal study in rural Kenya. Demography 2002;39:713 - 38.

180. Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S, Sturdivant RX. Applied logistic regression; 2013.

181. American Association for Public Opinion Research Standard definitions : final dispositions of case codes and outcome rates for surveys. 7th ed. Deerfield, IL: American Association for Public Opinion Research; 2011.

182. Sorensen G. Model for incorporating social context in health behavior interventions: applications for cancer prevention for working-class, multiethnic populations. Preventive Medicine Preventive Medicine 2003;37:188-97.

183. Bonomi AE, Anderson ML, Rivara FP, Thompson RS. Health Outcomes in Women with Physical and Sexual Intimate Partner Violence Exposure. Journal of Women's Health 2007;16:987-97.

184. Bonomi AE, Thompson RS, Anderson M, et al. Intimate Partner Violence and Womens Physical, Mental, and Social Functioning. AMEPRE American Journal of Preventive Medicine 2006;30:458-66.

185. Bonomi AE, Cannon EA, Anderson ML, Rivara FP, Thompson RS. Association between self-reported health and physical and/or sexual abuse experienced before age 18. CHIABU Child Abuse & amp; Neglect 2008;32:693-701.

186. Craparo G, Gori A, Petruccelli I, Cannella V, Simonelli C. Intimate Partner Violence: Relationships Between Alexithymia, Depression, Attachment Styles, and Coping Strategies of Battered Women. JSM The Journal of Sexual Medicine 2014;11:1484-94.

187. Sinha R. Chronic Stress, Drug Use, and Vulnerability to Addiction. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 2008;1141:105-30.

188. Sinha R. How does stress increase risk of drug abuse and relapse? Psychopharmacology Psychopharmacology 2001;158:343-59.

189. Crane CA, Pilver CE, Weinberger AH. Cigarette smoking among intimate partner violence perpetrators and victims: Findings from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. AJAD The American Journal on Addictions 2014;23:493-501.

190. Smith PM, Spadoni MM, Proper VM. Abuse and smoking cessation in clinical practice. JOCN Journal of Clinical Nursing 2014;23:361-6.

191. Campbell R, Wasco SM, Ahrens CE, Sefl T, Barnes HE. Preventing the "Second Rape": Rape Survivors' Experiences With Community Service Providers. Journal of Interpersonal Violence 2001;16:1239-59.

192. Bonomi AE, Anderson ML, Reid RJ, Rivara FP, Carrell D, Thompson RS. Medical and psychosocial diagnoses in women with a history of intimate partner violence. Arch Intern Med 2009;169:1692-7.

193. Crane CA, Hawes SW, Weinberger AH. Intimate partner violence victimization and cigarette smoking: a meta-analytic review. Trauma, violence & abuse 2013;14:305-15.

194. Miller E, Decker MR, McCauley HL, et al. Pregnancy coercion, intimate partner violence and unintended pregnancy. Contraception 2010;81:316-22.

195. Miller E, McCauley HL, Tancredi DJ, Decker MR, Anderson H, Silverman JG. Recent reproductive coercion and unintended pregnancy among female family planning clients. CON Contraception 2014;89:122-8.

196. U.S. Preventative Services Taskforce's Screening for Intimate Partner Violence and Abuse of Elderly and Vulnerable Adults., 2013. (Accessed October 20, 2013, at http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce org/uspstf12/ipvelder/ipvelderfact.pdf.)

197. Murray CJ, Kulkarni S, Ezzati M. Eight Americas: new perspectives on U.S. health disparities. American journal of preventive medicine 2005;29:4-10.

198. Lengerich EJ, Wyatt SW, Rubio A, et al. The Appalachia Cancer Network: Cancer Control Research Among a Rural, Medically Underserved Population. JRH The Journal of Rural Health 2004;20:181-7.

199. Nemeth J, Thomson T, Lu B, Bonomi A, Peng J, Wewers M. Cumulative Gender-based Violence Exposure Index Score (GBV Score) and its association with current smoking. Presentation at Poster Session 3: Public Health/Epidemiology, Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco, Philadelphia, PA, February 26, 2015.

200. Kilpatrick DG, Ruggiero KJ, Acierno R, Saunders BE, Resnick HS, Best CL. Violence and risk of PTSD, major depression, substance abuse/dependence, and comorbidity: results from the National Survey of Adolescents. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology 2003;71:692-700.

201. Bonomi AE, Anderson ML, Rivara FP, Thompson RS. Health outcomes in women with physical and sexual intimate partner violence exposure. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2007;16:987-97.

202. Sorensen G, Emmons K, Hunt MK, et al. Model for incorporating social context in health behavior interventions: applications for cancer prevention for working-class, multiethnic populations. Prev Med 2003;37:188-97.

203. Nemeth J, Thomson T, Lu B, Bonomi A, Wewers M. Gender-based violence and its association with smoking among women in Ohio Appalachia. Presentation at Poster Session 1: Ohio State University Comprehensive Cancer Center 16th Annual Scientific Meeting, Columbus, OH, February 28, 2014.

204. Nemeth J, Lu B, Lomax R, Bonomi A, Thomson T, Wewers M. Measuring medically relevant sexual and intimate partner gender-based violence in studies of health disparities. Presentation at Poster Session, Annual Centers for Population Health and Health Disparities (CPHHD) Conference, Marina del Ray, CA, May 20-21, 2014.

205. Prochaska JO, DiClemente CC, Norcross JC. In Search of How People Change: Applications to Addictive Behaviors. jan Journal of Addictions Nursing 1993;5:2-16.

206. DiClemente CC, Prochaska JO. Self-change and therapy change of smoking behavior: A comparison of processes of change in cessation and maintenance. Addictive Behaviors Addictive Behaviors 1982;7:133-42.

207. van den Putte B, Yzer MC, Brunsting S. Social influences on smoking cessation: a comparison of the effect of six social influence variables. YPMED Preventive Medicine 2005;41:186-93.

208. Anderson KM, Renner LM, Bloom TS. Rural women's strategic responses to intimate partner violence. Health care for women international 2014;35:423-41.

209. Pence E, Paymar M. Education groups for men who batter: The Duluth model; 1993.
210. Levendosky AA, Bogat GA, Theran SA, Trotter JS, von Eye A, Davidson WS, 2nd. The social networks of women experiencing domestic violence. Am J Community Psychol 2004;34:95-109.

211. Judd SJ. Domestic violence sourcebook. Detroit, MI: Omnigraphics; 2013.

212. Hajek P, Taylor T, McRobbie H. The effect of stopping smoking on perceived stress levels. Addiction (Abingdon, England) 2010;105:1466-71.

213. McKee SA, Sinha R, Weinberger AH, et al. Stress decreases the ability to resist smoking and potentiates smoking intensity and reward. Journal of psychopharmacology (Oxford, England) 2011;25:490-502.

214. Ansell EB, Gu P, Tuit K, Sinha R. Effects of cumulative stress and impulsivity on smoking status. Human psychopharmacology 2012;27:200-8.

215. Audrain-McGovern J, Wileyto EP, Ashare R, Cuevas J, Strasser AA. Reward and affective regulation in depression-prone smokers. Biological psychiatry 2014;76:689-97.

216. Basile KC, Arias I, Desai S, Thompson MP. The Differential Association of Intimate Partner Physical, Sexual, Psychological, and Stalking Violence and Posttraumatic Stress Symptoms in a Nationally Representative Sample of Women. J Trauma Stress Journal of Traumatic Stress 2004;17:413-21.

217. Sullivan TP, Cavanaugh CE, Buckner JD, Edmondson D. Testing posttraumatic stress as a mediator of physical, sexual, and psychological intimate partner violence and substance problems among women. Journal of traumatic stress 2009;22:575-84.

218. Whalen M. Counseling to end violence against women : a subversive model. Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage Publications; 1996.

219. Thompson RS, Bonomi AE, Anderson M, et al. Intimate partner violence: prevalence, types, and chronicity in adult women. Am J Prev Med 2006;30:447-57.

220. Campbell JC, Webster D, Koziol-McLain J, et al. Risk Factors for Femicide in Abusive Relationships: Results From a Multisite Case Control Study. American Journal of Public Health 2003;93.

221. Cokkinides VE, Coker AL, Sanderson M, Addy C, Bethea L. Physical violence during pregnancy: maternal complications and birth outcomes. Obstetrics and gynecology 1999;93:661-6.

222. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, Public Law No. 111-148, δ 2713 2010.

223. Thompson MP, Basile KC, Hertz MF, Sitterle D, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (US), National Center for Injury Prevention and Control (US). Measuring intimate partner violence and victimization and perpetration : a compendium of assessment tools. Atlanta, GA: National Center for Disease Prevention and Control; 2006.

224. Bordens KS, Abbott BB. Research design and methods : a process approach. New York: McGraw-Hill; 2011.

225. Nelson HD, Bougatsos C, Blazina I. Screening women for intimate partner violence: a systematic review to update the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommendation.(Report). Annals of Internal Medicine 2012;156.

226. Lammers M, Ritchie J, Robertson N. Women's Experience of Emotional Abuse in Intimate Relationships: A Qualitative Study. Journal of Emotional Abuse 2005;5.

227. O'Leary KD, Foran H, Cohen S. Validation of Fear of Partner Scale. JMFT Journal of Marital and Family Therapy 2013;39:502-14.

228. Tamborra TL, Dutton LB, Terry KJ. Verbally coerced sex: does she have to say 'no'? International Review of Victimology 2014;20:227-41.

229. Wang WC, Cunningham EG. Comparison of alternative estimation methods in confirmatory factor analyses of the General Health Questionnaire. Psychological reports 2005;97:3-10.

230. Bryant FB, Satorra A. Principles and Practice of Scaled Difference Chi-Square Testing. Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal 2012;19:372-98.

231. American Association for Public Opinion R. Standard definitions : final dispositions of case codes and outcome rates for surveys. Ann Arbor, MI: American Association for Public Opinion Research; 2004.

Sturza ML, Campbell R. An Exploratory Study of Rape Survivors' Prescription Drug Use as a Means of Coping with Sexual Assault. Psychology of Women Quarterly 2005;29:353-63.
Williams C, Larsen U, McCloskey L. Intimate Partner Violence and Women's Contraceptive Use. Violence Against Women 2008;14:1382-96.

234. Kishor S. Married women's risk of STIs in developing countries: the role of intimate partner violence and partner's infection status. Violence Against Women 2012;18:829-53.

235. Van Parys AS, Verhamme A, Temmerman M, Verstraelen H. Intimate partner violence and pregnancy: a systematic review of interventions. PLoS One 2014;9.

236. Kurta M, Krok J, Hade E, Williams J, Nemeth J, Paskett E. The Association Between Sexual Abuse and Adherence to Risk-Appropriate Cervical Cancer Screening Guidelines: A Study of Women in Appalachian Ohio. Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention 2014;23:568-9.

Appendix A:

CARE II Project 2 Research Interview and Distress Protocol

Appendix A: CARE II Project 2

Research Interview and Distress Protocol

The following protocol outlines the action of the Interviewer if, during the course of the interview, a participant exhibits acute distress or safety.

Indications of Distress	Follow-Up Questions	Participant	Actual Emotional	Imminent
During Interview		Behaviors/	Distress/	Danger?
		Responses	Safety Concern?	(Y or N)
			(Y or N)	
I. If the study participant	Then the interviewer should:			
indicates she is	1. Stop the interview.			l
experiencing a high level	2. Offer support (ie. I can see this is very difficult for you) and allow the			l
of stress or emotional	participant time to regroup.			
distress OR exhibit	3. Assess person's current state:			l
behaviors suggestive that	a. Tell me what thoughts you are having.			l
the interview is too	b. Tell me what you are feeling right now.			l
stressful such as	 Do you feel safe? (If NO, ask questions pertaining to danger.) 			l
uncontrollable crying,	d. Do you feel that you are able to proceed with this interview? It's okay			l
incoherent speech,	if you can't. You'll still receive compensation for your time today.			l
indications of flashbacks,	4. Determine if the person is experiencing acute emotional distress beyond			l
etc.	what would be normally expected in an interview about a sensitive topic.			l
II. If study participant	1. Stop the interview.			
indicates she is in any	2. Assess danger from the participant:			l
danger if anyone else	How might you be in danger?			l
found out about her	 How might the other person find out you were participating? 			l
participation in the study	• What do you think the other person would do if they found out you were			l
	participating in the study?			ł
	3. Determine if the person is experiencing a safety concern.			

This protocol is modeled after the "Research Interview and Distress Protocol" suggested in $^{\rm 137}$.

Actions for Interviewer:

- 1. If a participant's distress reflects an emotional response reflective of what would be expected in an interview about a sensitive **topic**, offer support and extend the opportunity to: (a) stop the interview; (b) regroup; (c) continue with interview.
- 2. If a participant's distress reflects acute emotional distress or a safety concern beyond what would be expected in an interview about a sensitive topic, but NOT imminent danger, take the following actions:
 - a. Stop the Interview.
 - b. If she has one, encourage the participant to contact her mental health provider.
 - c. Provide the participant with the local county contact sheet (including hotline, mental health providers, and local domestic violence or sexual violence response services) and encourage the participant to call one of the resources if she experiences increased distress in the hours/days following the interview.
 - d. Ask:
- Would you like for one of our staff members, who has medical training, to contact you in the next few days to check in on you?
- Can she call you at the same phone number that I called when I set up this interview?
- e. If participant desires a follow-up phone call, notify Dr. Mary Ellen Wewers. Dr. Wewers will follow up with the participant.
- f. Notify Dr. Mary Ellen Wewers, Dr. Tiffany Thompson, and Julianna Nemeth of actions taken.
- 3. If a participant's distress reflects **imminent danger**, take the following actions:
 - a. Stop the Interview.
 - b. Contact local hotline number and/or police unless arrangements can be made for the participant to be transported to the emergency room by a family member.
 - c. While waiting for family member or police to arrive, provide the participant with the local county contact sheet (including hotline, police, mental health providers, and local domestic violence or sexual violence response services).
 - d. Ask:
- Would you like for one of our staff members, who has medical training, to contact you in the next few days to check in on you?
- Can she call you at the same phone number that I called when I set up this interview?
- e. If participant desires a follow-up phone call, notify Dr. Mary Ellen Wewers. Dr. Wewers will follow up with the participant.
- f. Immediately notify Dr. Mary Ellen Wewers, Dr. Tiffany Thompson, and Julianna Nemeth of actions taken.

The following training would be provided to all interviewers on this project:

- 1. Signs of and brief interventions with people who may be at risk for suicide/self-harm.
- 2. Signs of and brief interventions with people who may have experienced trauma.
- 3. Orientation to local mental health, alcohol and drug services, hospital, and sexual and domestic violence advocacy services.
- 4. Training on implementing "Project 2: Research Interview and Distress Protocol."

Reference: Draucker, C. B., Martsolf, D. S., & Poole, C. (2009). Developing distress protocols for research on sensitive topics. Arch Psychiatr Nurs, 23(5), 343-350. doi: 10.1016/j.apnu.2008.10.008

Appendix B:

Tobacco Control Variables

	Construct	Composite Score	Subscales, if any	Section in CARE II Project 2 Survey	Questions from Section	Citation to Measures Used
Intrapersonal Factors	Current smoking status & history of smoking	Categorical (never, former, current)		SMKSTAT	Q. 1-7.	NHIS $(Q.1,2 \& 4-7)^1 \&$ Care 1 (Q. 3)
	Nicotine dependence	A six item summary score (range 0- 10)		SMKSTAT	Q. Combination of 4-7 & 17-21. A six item summary score (range 0-10) comprise the Faerstrom Test of Nicotine Dependence (FTND). ² Questions with points assigned to each response option are as follows: 1. "How soon after you awake to you smoke your first cigarette?": Within 5 minutes (3 pts), 6-30 minutes (2 pts), 31-60 minutes (1 pt), after 30 minutes (0 pts). 2. "Do you find it difficult to refrain from smoking in places where it is forbidden?": Yes (1 pt)/No(0 pt). 3. Which cigarette would you hate to most give up?": The first one in the morning (1 pt)/All others (0 pts). 4. "How many cigarettes/day to you smoke?": 10 or less (0 pts), 11-20 (1 pt), 21-30 (2 pts), 31 or more (3 pts).	Fagerstrom Test for Nicotine Dependence (Heatherton et al.) ²
	Quit Attempt History (Stages of Change)			SMKSTAT	Q. 9-13, 15-16, 29-33	
ersonal Factors	Household composition & Household (HH) smoking status	Combinatio n of the three subscales: Household smoking status	Smoking status of household members less than 14 years old Smoking status of household members 14-18 yrs. old Smoking status of household members less than 18+ yrs. old	HCOMP	Q.2-5 Q.6-9 Q.10-13	CARE I & Wewers
Interp	Social influences on smoking cessation	No composite- only 6 subscales	Explicit Verbal Norm <verbal quit<br="" stimulation="" to="">smoking>³</verbal>	SMKSTAT	Q. 27 "During the last 3 months, have people in your environment said that you should quit smoking?" 5-point response option (Never, Rarely, Sometimes, Often, Very Often). ³	Social Influences Scale (van den Putte et al., 2005) ³

Appendix B: Tobacco Control Variables
<u>ь</u>	
<u>'</u>	
c)	
\sim	

actors	HH smoking rules (home smoking restrictions)	Descriptive Smoking Norm <perception how<br="" of="">many other people smoke>3 Descriptive Quitting Norm <perception how<br="" of="">many other people quit smoking>3 Injunctive Norm <perception acceptability<br="" of="">of smoking in society>3 Subjective Norm <perception of="" whether<br="">other people think that the respondent should quit smoking></perception></perception></perception></perception>	SMKSTAT	 Q. 38-42workplac Asked if "partner/spouse" and "best friend" smoke (Yes/no, to each). Asked how many children smoke (#). Asked how many friends and acquaintances, relatives, and direct colleagues smoke, with response options on a 4-point scale (None, some most all). Putte formed composite variable of these items as an indicator of the number of smokers in a respondent's social environment. If referent non-existent they were coded as if didn't smoke. Composite variable coded so larger values indicated that less people in the respondents social environment smoke.³ Q. 43 "How many of the smokers who you regularly see have tried to quit smoking in that last 3 months?" 4-point response option (None, Some, Most, All)³ Q. 59-62 Four of eight items used by van den Putte. "How acceptable is it if someone smokes in the following locations: 1) bar, 2) presence of children, 3) public spaces such as shopping malls, and 4) at work in the presence of non-smoking co-workers." Four questions added to form a scale. 5-point scale, very unacceptable to very acceptable. In analysis, coding is reversed. (alpha=0.81 for 8 item scale)³ Q. 14 "If you decided to quit smoking within the next three months, how would the people who are important to you fell?" 5-point scale, strongly disapprove to strongly approve.³ 	Current Population Survey (tobacco supplement)		
Organizational F	Work & Workplace smoking restrictions		DEMO	Q. 5-11	Current Population Survey (tobacco supplement) 4		
1. <u>http:/</u> 2.	1. National Health Interview Survey (NHIS). U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (Accessed at http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/quest_data_related_1997 forward.htm.) 2. Heatherton TF, Kozlowski LT, Frecker RC, Fagerstrom KO. The Fagerstrom Test for Nicotine Dependence: a revision of the Fagerstrom Tolerance Questionnaire. Br J Addict 1991;86:1119-27.						

Heatherton TF, Kozlowski LT, Frecker RC, Fagerstrom KO. The Fagerstrom Test for Nicotine Dependence: a revision of the Fagerstrom Tolerance Questionnaire. Br J Addict 1991;86:1119-27. van den Putte B, Yzer MC, Brunsting S. Social influences on smoking cessation: a comparison of the effect of six social influence variables. Preventive Medicine 2005;41:186-93. 3.

National Cancer Institute-sponsored Tobacco Use Supplement to the Current Population Survey (2010-11): <u>http://appliedresearch.cancer.gov/studies/tus-cps/</u>. US Department of Commerce, Census Bureau, 2012. (Accessed at Technical documentation: <u>http://www.census.gov/cps/methodology/techdocs.html</u>.)

Appendix C:

The social context of smoking behaviors among women exposed to intimate partner and sexual gender-based violence and hypothesized mediating mechanism and modifying factors to address in a tailored smoking cessation intervention

Appendix C. The social context of smoking behaviors among women exposed to intimate partner and sexual gender-based violence and hypothesized mediating mechanisms and modifying factors to address in a tailored smoking cessation intervention



169